
City Council Meeting 
November 2, 2020  

Executive Session 5:00pm 
Work Session 5:20pm 

Council Meeting 7:00pm 
 (All held in Council Chambers) 

This meeting is taking place with social distancing precautions in place: 
• Councilors are participating virtually, via Zoom videoconferencing.

To Provide Public Comment: 
• Written comments may be submitted to the City Recorder (Wilsonville City Hall,

29799 SW Town Center Loop East, Wilsonville, OR 97070). 
• Digital comments (email) may be submitted to cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us.
• Individuals may participate online through the Zoom videoconferencing platform.

• Contact City Recorder at (503) 570-1506 cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us to register.

You can watch the City Council Meeting here: 

You Tube: youtube.com/c/CityofWilsonvilleOR  
Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81536056468 

mailto:cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us?subject=Council%20Meeting
mailto:cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us
file://cityhall/cityhall/City%20Recorder/Council%20Packets/2020%20Council%20Packets/09.10.2020/youtube.com/c/CityofWilsonvilleOR
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81536056468


City of Wilsonville 
City Council Meeting 

November 2, 2020 



10/29/2020 3:42 PM Last Updated 

City Council Page 1 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\3. Agenda.docx  

AGENDA 

WILSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2020 

7:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST 

WILSONVILLE, OREGON 

Mayor Tim Knapp 
Council President Kristin Akervall Councilor Joann Linville 
Councilor Charlotte Lehan  Councilor Ben West 

CITY COUNCIL MISSION STATEMENT 
To protect and enhance Wilsonville’s livability by providing quality service to ensure a safe, attractive, 

economically vital community while preserving our natural environment and heritage. 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Executive Session, Work Session and City Council meetings 
will be held in the Council Chambers, City Hall, 1st Floor 

5:00 P.M. EXECUTIVE SESSION [20 min.] 
A. Pursuant to: ORS 192.660 (2)(e) Real Property Transactions

ORS 192.660(2)(h) Legal Counsel / Litigation 

5:20 P.M. REVIEW OF AGENDA AND ITEMS ON CONSENT [5 min.] 

5:25 P.M. COUNCILORS’ CONCERNS [5 min.] 

5:30 P.M. PRE-COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
A. Town Center Transportation System Plan Amendments (Le/Rybold) [20 min.] 
B. COVID-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas (Vance) [10 min.] 
C. Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area (Vance) [30 min.] 

6:30 P.M. ADJOURN 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
The following is a summary of the legislative and other matters to come before the Wilsonville City Council 
a regular session to be held, Monday, November 2, 2020 at City Hall. Legislative matters must have been 
filed in the office of the City Recorder by 10 a.m. on October 20, 2020. Remonstrances and other 
documents pertaining to any matters listed in said summary filed at or prior to the time of the meeting may 
be considered there with except where a time limit for filing has been fixed. 



10/29/2020 3:42 PM Last Updated  

City Council   Page 2 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\3. Agenda.docx  

 
7:00 P.M. CALL TO ORDER 

A. Roll Call 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
C. Motion to approve the following order of the agenda and to remove items from the consent agenda. 

 
7:05 P.M. MAYOR’S BUSINESS 

A. Veterans Day Proclamation  
B. Upcoming Meetings 

 
7:15 P.M. COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Marion County (Jacobson) 
B. Republic Services’ City of Wilsonville 2019 Annual Report (Ottenad) 

 
8:00 P.M. CITIZEN INPUT AND COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
This is an opportunity for visitors to address the City Council on items not on the agenda. It is also the time 
to address items that are on the agenda but not scheduled for a public hearing. Staff and the City Council 
will make every effort to respond to questions raised during citizens input before tonight's meeting ends or 
as quickly as possible thereafter. Please limit your comments to three minutes. 
 
8:05 P.M. COUNCILOR COMMENTS, LIAISON REPORTS AND MEETING 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
A. Council President Akervall 
B. Councilor Lehan  
C. Councilor West 
D. Councilor Linville 

 
8:15 P.M. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Minutes of the April 6, 2020; October 5, 2020 and October 19, 2020 City Council Meetings. (Veliz) 
 

8:20 P.M. NEW BUSINESS 
A. City Council Review of Development Review Board Resolution No. 382. (Luxhoj) 

 
9:20 P.M. CONTINUING BUSINESS 

A. None. 
 
9:20 P.M. PUBLIC HEARING  

A. Resolution No. 2859 (Legislative Hearing) 
A Resolution Of The Wilsonville City Council Authorizing The Discontinuation Of South Metro 
Area Regional Transit’s (SMART) Charbonneau Shuttle Route. (Brashear/Loomis) 
 

B. Ordinance No. 846 – 1st Reading (Legislative Hearing) 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Approving Transportation System Plan Amendments 
Related To The Town Center Plan. (Le/Rybold) 
 

9:50 P.M. CITY MANAGER’S BUSINESS 
 
9:55 P.M. LEGAL BUSINESS 



10/29/2020 3:42 PM Last Updated  

City Council   Page 3 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\3. Agenda.docx  

 
10:00 P.M. ADJOURN 
 
Time frames for agenda items are not time certain (i.e. Agenda items may be considered earlier than indicated.) 
Assistive Listening Devices (ALD) are available for persons with impaired hearing and can be scheduled for this 
meeting if required at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. The city will also endeavor to provide the following 
services, without cost, if requested at least 48 hours prior to the meeting: Qualified sign language interpreters for 
persons with speech or hearing impairments. Qualified bilingual interpreters. To obtain services, please contact 
the City Recorder, (503) 570-1506 or cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us. 

mailto:cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us


COUNCIL WORK SESSION

NOVEMBER 2, 2020

WILSONVILLE TRANSPORTATION 
SYSTEM PLAN (TSP) AMENDMENT

Page 6 of 169



TOWN CENTER PLAN – PROJECTS

2

Page 7 of 169



Revised Figure 5-2: Higher Priority Projects 

TSP AMENDMENTS

3

 15 Projects Added To The Higher Priority Project List

 City Received ODOT Support Of Wilsonville 

Road Projects 

 New Town Center Cross Section Standards 

 Updated Bicycle Route Figure

 Update Freight Route Figure

Page 8 of 169



SCOTT MANSUR, P.E., PTOE
TRANSPORTATION ENGINEER
smm@dksassociates.com
503.391.8773

QUESTIONS?

Page 9 of 169



Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas Staff Report Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: November 2, 2020 Subject: Covid-19 Economic Recovery 
Strategy Ideas 

Staff Member: Jordan Vance, Economic 
Development Manager 

Department: Community Development 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

☐ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☐ Resolution Comments: N/A 
☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☒ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: N/A 

Recommended Language for Motion: N/A 

Project / Issue Relates To: 
☒Council Goals/Priorities ☐Adopted Master Plan(s) ☒Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Update on Covid-19 economic recovery strategy ideas to support Wilsonville local small 
businesses.  

Page 10 of 169



Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas Staff Report   Page 2 of 4 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas 
 

1. Wilsonville Business Recovery Center (BRC) 
Projected budget: $10,000 
Potential funding sources: Clackamas County will fund the first month 
(November) up front so that the Wilsonville BRC may begin operations 
immediately. Funding to sustain the center in 2021 could be provided by future 
CARES Act dollars, as well as support from State, County and City resources.  
Duration: Nov-Dec 2020 

 
• Replicate Business Recovery Center (BRC) model from Washington County and 

establish a new BRC in Clackamas County to serve Wilsonville area businesses.  
• The Wilsonville Business Recovery Center will provide a “one-stop” access to 

resources for local businesses in Clackamas County seeking to re-establish and/or 
stabilize operations in response to COVID-19.  We will provide complimentary 
services to all Wilsonville area businesses in Clackamas County and partner with 
the other Business Recovery Center partners in the region: Canby, Oregon City, 
Sandy, Wilsonville, Mt. Hood, as well as any other BRC’s established in Clackamas 
County. As a collaborative, we will ensure a coordinated and professional approach 
and response.  Every business seeking support will be treated individually and will be 
provided with a tailored plan for their specific needs and assistance.  The Centers will 
act as triage intake operation assessing support and assistance requirements and 
utilizing the expertise of partner organizations or contracted industry professionals 
when needed.  

• Clackamas County BRC’s provide access to resources for all businesses 
in Clackamas County seeking assistance. Services are offered in multiple languages 
and, depending on the unique needs of each client, may include:   

o Initial intake/evaluation/viability assessment and provide solutions to 
challenging issues regarding re-opening, stabilizing, PPE requirements, etc.   

o The Center is designed to act as a “One-Stop Center” for business recovery.   
o Case management and regular follow-up procedures.   
o Individualized answers to business questions.   
o Assistance with connecting to available financial resources at the local, state 

and Federal levels.  This includes one-on-one assistance in completing 
business grant applications offered by local jurisdictions, new Federal 
business funding opportunities, not-for-profit and private grant opportunities.   

o Assistance with navigating technical resources offered through the BRC 
website, partner organizations, State of Oregon COVID-19 website, SBA, 
CDC as well as others.   

o Providing educational resources, where applicable, either virtual or in-person 
for specific industry sectors   

o Referrals to partners with relevant resources and expertise.   
o Access to interpreters and translation services – which the County will 

provide.   

Page 11 of 169



Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas Staff Report   Page 3 of 4 

o Make available required signage in a variety of languages.   
o Assistance in connecting to the County to procure required Personal 

Protective Equipment. 
 

2. Outdoor Dining Programs 
Projected budget:  $30-40K (provides up 8-12 grants ranging from $3-5K per 
restaurant) 
Potential funding sources: Washington County CARES Act Fund ($500K 
available for WA County projects), City general fund reimbursable by State 
CARES Act dollars 

 
• Extension of Wilsonville’s Dine Out program through rainy season designed to waive 

fees and expedite City staff review for expanded outdoor seating requests from 
restaurants.  

• Dine Out, Wilsonville Grants Program to fund efforts by local restaurants to expand 
the outdoor dining season into winter. See Attachment B for an example of a similar 
effort made by the City of Hillsboro. City could structure program like a store front 
grant improvement program and grant funds could help finance the following costs: 

o Design and construction of dining parklets 
o Outdoor covered pavilion and foot cart complex 
o Heat lamps, lighting, umbrellas, tents and planter boxes 

 
3. Shop Small and Small Business Saturday promotions through holiday season 
• City of Wilsonville participate in Small Business Saturday campaign to help recognize 

and promote the efforts of local Wilsonville businesses that help create jobs, boost the 
economy and keep our community thriving. City participation efforts may include:  

o City Council proclamation recognizing the contributions of small businesses to 
the local economy and the day of November, 28, 2020 as Small Business 
Saturday.  

o Registration as a Small Business Saturday Neighborhood Champion to receive 
event materials, tote bags and posters to promote safe shopping at local businesses 
this holiday season.  

• Coordination with Chamber of Commerce on local small business promotional 
campaigns, including the Chamber’s “Where’s Wilson C. Bear Contest” offering weekly 
$25 gift cards to local businesses.  

 
4. Ongoing Business Recovery Content and Webinar Series 
• The cities of Wilsonville, Tigard, Sherwood and Forest Grove have partnered to host a 6-

month business recovery webinar series focused on topics like small business financing, 
prepping restaurants for winter outdoor seating, and sales and marketing strategies during 
COVID-19. 

• City of Wilsonville bi-weekly “Business Recovery” newsletter to over 600 local 
subscribers that updates Wilsonville businesses on local, County, state and federal 
recovery programs related to training, financing and public health policy.  

  

Page 12 of 169



Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas Staff Report   Page 4 of 4 

 
EXPECTED RESULTS: 
Retention of local small businesses, including food and beverage businesses that are being 
negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
TIMELINE: 
3-6 month implementation. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
$40,000 for proposed Dine Out, Wilsonville Grant Program  
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 10/27/2020 
 
An approved supplemental budget adjustment will be required before the funds are available. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by:  Date:  
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:  
Ongoing collaboration with Chamber of Commerce on business recovery strategies.  
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
Retention of local small businesses that employ Wilsonville residents and provide important 
services to the community.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
City does not sponsor economic recovery initiatives including the Business Recovery Center and 
Dine Out, Wilsonville Grants Program.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Wilsonville Business Recovery Center Proposal 
B. Hillsboro Parklets and Carts on Main Description 
C. Washington County Notice of Funding Availability: Small Business Assistance Projects 

& Programs 
 

Page 13 of 169



Wilsonville Business Recovery Center 
8565 SW Salish Lane Suite 150  

Wilsonville, OR 97070  

PROGRAM OF WORK 

OVERVIEW:  
The Wilsonville Business Recovery Center will provide a “one-stop” access to resources for local 
businesses in Clackamas County seeking to re-establish and/or stabilize operations in response to 
COVID-19.  We will provide complimentary services to all Wilsonville area businesses 
in Clackamas County and partner with the other Business Recovery Center partners in the region: 
Canby, Oregon City, Sandy, Wilsonville, Mt. Hood, as well as any other BRC’s established in 
Clackamas County. As a collaborative, we will ensure a coordinated and professional approach and 
response.  Every business seeking support will be treated individually and will be provided with a 
tailored plan for their specific needs and assistance.  The Centers will act as triage intake operation 
assessing support and assistance requirements and utilizing the expertise of partner organizations or 
contracted industry professionals when needed.  

Wilsonville Service Area:  
The BRCs have been designed to serve all businesses in Clackamas County. They have the flexibility 
to allow the business owner to self-select the BRC location that is most convenient for 
them. The Wilsonville BRC is committed to providing intentional outreach to any business 
in Clackamas County. Our focus will be in the Wilsonville area but in collaboration with the other 
BRC’s we will ensure that no business is turned away.  

STAFFING:  
The Wilsonville BRC will utilize C.A.R.E.S. Act funding and resources to hire one individual to assist 
with recovery outreach.  This BRC Outreach Field Representative (full-time position) and  will work 
with the Wilsonville Chamber’s staff. Our goal will be to have bilingual resources in both Spanish and 
English and with the County’s assistance, access to culturally appropriate translation 
services. The Wilsonville BRC will work with a team of contracted industry professionals with specific 
areas of expertise to further assist small businesses. (i.e. Consultant Contract Services) Specific 
services will be employed based on client needs as well as the intake evaluation.   

PARTNERS:   
We will collaborate with other partner organizations within our community to provide additional 
support to small businesses.  A partial list includes:  
• Active Media
• Buel’s Impressions Printing
• Canby, Oregon City, Sandy, Mt. Hood & North Clackamas County Chambers of Commerce
• Other Chambers in Clackamas County as identified by the County.

• City of Wilsonville
• Community Action Organizations
• Lewis & Clark Small Business Legal Clinic (SBLC)
• MESO
• CCC and Lane County Small Business Development Center’s
• And other partners as they are identified for their expertise in delivering services

Attachment A

Page 14 of 169



MARKETING:  
The Wilsonville Area Chamber of Commerce (WACC) will leverage all our communication channels to 
educate and promote to businesses the valuable assistance available through the Clackamas County 
BRC.  For example, WACC has a highly engaged Facebook presence. WACC conducts 
weekly LiveStreams.  WACC is a partner in Wilsonville Living a monthly magazine delivered by USPS 
to very mailbox in the City of Wilsonville.  
   
OUTREACH:   
The BRC Field Representative will provide intentional outreach to each of the communities within its 
informal service area.  Any business in Clackamas County has access to any one of the above 
mentioned BRCs; however, it will be imperative that each BRC provides thoughtful connection to 
each designated community.  We intend to provide weekly “office hours” in each location 
(depending upon the state of COVID-19 restrictions) either in-person or virtually.  
  
The BRC Center Consultant (shared with Canby) will reach out to the Wilsonville’s economic 
development staff and/or city managers to create awareness and understanding of the services 
provided by the BRC.  The BRC Center Consultant, as well as the BRC Field Representative will 
attempt to meet with as many local business owners as possible to better understand specific local 
needs and opportunities to assist.  The outreach will be ongoing and will continually adjust to reflect 
changes in COVID-19 Phasing, ensuring businesses have the resources they need to rebuild their 
operations.  
  
SERVICES:   
The Clackamas County Business Recovery Centers (BRC) exist to connect business owners 
in Clackamas County, Oregon, to the resources needed to recover. Clackamas County fully funds the 
Centers providing community businesses with access to complimentary, individualized business 
consulting services.   
  
Clackamas County BRC’s provide access to resources for all businesses in Clackamas County seeking 
assistance. Services are offered in multiple languages and, depending on the unique needs of each 
client, may include:   
• Initial intake/evaluation/viability assessment and provide solutions to challenging issues 
regarding re-opening, stabilizing, PPE requirements, etc.   
• The Center is designed to act as a “One-Stop Center” for business recovery.   
• Case management and regular follow-up procedures.   
• Individualized answers to business questions.   
• Assistance with connecting to available financial resources at the local, state and Federal 
levels.  This includes one-on-one assistance in completing business grant applications offered by 
local jurisdictions, new Federal business funding opportunities, not-for-profit and private grant 
opportunities.   
• Assistance with navigating technical resources offered through the BRC website, partner 
organizations, State of Oregon COVID-19 website, SBA, CDC as well as others.   
• Providing educational resources, where applicable, either virtual or in-person for specific 
industry sectors   
• Referrals to partners with relevant resources and expertise.   
• Access to interpreters and translation services – which the County will provide.   
• Make available required signage in a variety of languages.   
• Assistance in connecting to the County to procure required Personal Protective Equipment.   

Page 15 of 169



  
EDUCATION:  
The BRC Consultant will determine, through outreach, what type of business education would be 
most appropriate and will create programs reflecting those needs.  Programs could include, but are 
not limited to, virtual webinars with local health experts, topical business expert workshops, in-
person round table discussions, specific industry support.  The BRC Consultant will leverage partner 
organizations' expertise and will procure any relevant programs or educational opportunities.  
  
BUDGET:  
Clackamas County will fund the first month (November) up front so that the Wilsonville BRC may 
begin operations immediately. Then, when appropriate reporting is completed as determined 
below, the County agrees to fund the Wilsonville BRC prior to December 1, 2020 for the second 
month (December) in order to meet its goals of outreach to its informal service area.   
  
REPORTING:   
The BRC Field Representative and Chamber staff will maintain up-to-date intake forms and case 
management files.  The BRC Field Representative and Chamber staff will provide Clackamas County’s 
Economic Development Manager a report of funds expended by November 15, 2020. The report will 
include expenses incurred up to the report date with documentation to support the expenses.  Once 
received it is agreed by the County to fund fully, the Wilsonville BRC for the month of December to 
ensure continued delivery of services. The second round of funding would be sent to 
the Wilsonville BRC no later than November 30, 2020.  
  
At program end, and when the C.A.R.E.S. Act funding reaches it’s deadline on December 30, 2020, 
the final project report will include expenses for the remainder of November and the full month of 
December, the number of businesses served, services provided, partners engaged, procedures used 
to comply with C.A.R.E.S. Act, and any other information reflecting the BRC’s and Chamber’s 
work.  A final project report will be submitted to Clackamas County’s Economic Development 
Manager no later than January 15, 2021.  
  
In addition to any final reporting, the Wilsonville BRC agrees to refund to the County any un-
used C.A.R.E.S. Act proceeds advanced by the County.  
  
  
  
 

Page 16 of 169



Hillsboro Proposal - Downtown Parklets 

Dining parklets are created by transforming a space typically used for vehicles and turning them into a 
space for outdoor dining. In most situations, these spots utilize one or two on-street parking spaces that 
are adjacent to the business that will be using the parklet. Parklets are a way that restaurants can 
increase their seating capacity outdoors where people feel much more comfortable dining during this 
pandemic. The Hillsboro Downtown Partnership, with funding from the City of Hillsboro’s Downtown 
Cultural Arts District and Economic Development, has built two parklets so far as a pilot program.  

In the chart below, we have included all the restaurants in the core of Downtown that have expressed 
interest and/or directly requested support.  

Materials provided will include a combination of the following, depending on the location and the 
businesses needs: tables and chairs, canopy/umbrellas, planters, fence/structure building materials, 
lighting, and radiant heaters. We have found a commercial contractor to build the parklets for 
$1,700/parklet. 

• We ended up needing to build a platform at Syun because of the existing road conditions. This
cost $5,000 and still requires a coat of non-slip paint ($600).

• The tables and chairs that Pizzario have are on loan and will need to be returned and replaced in
November.

• A few business owners own enough tables, chairs, and umbrellas to fill the spaces, while some
do not.

• We are having trouble sourcing some of the original building materials we had planned to use
because of national shortages, and are working to identify appropriate substitute materials that

PROJECT FUNDING 
Labor Materials Total 

Amelia’s Parklet Planters, fencing, tables, 
chairs, tent 

$1,700 $3,200 $4,900 

Chaat Café 
Parklet 

Planters, fencing, tables, 
chairs, tent 

$1,700 $3,200 $4,900 

Super Tacos 
Ochoas (off 
street) 

Planters, tables, chairs, 
canopies 

$1,700 $3,200 $4,900 

Thai House 
Parklet 

Planters, fencing, tables, 
chairs, tent 

$1,700 $3,200 $4,900 

Clark’s Bistro 
Parklet 

Planters, fencing, tables, 
chairs, tent 

$1,700 $3,200 $4,900 

Virundu Parklet Planters, fencing, tent $1,700 $2,100 $3,800 
Abu Rasheed 
Parklet 

Planters, fencing, tent $1,700 $2,100 $3,800 

Wilson’s Parklet Planters, fencing, tent $1,700 $2,100 $3,800 
Hillsboro Bar & 
Grill Parklet 

Planters, fencing, tent $1,700 $2,100 $3,800 

Totals $15,300  $24,400 $39,700 

Attachment B

Page 17 of 169



 

will meet the same intention of the original – safe, reusable, storable, and durable. This has 
given us the opportunity to consider the use of materials that directly reflect each restaurant’s 
regional cuisine and branding, while still being high quality and cohesive with the existing 
Downtown atmosphere. 

City and HDP staff continue to research what other cities are doing in regards to assisting restaurants 
during the pandemic and adopting permanent parklet programs. Here are a couple things we have 
found.  

• Reports and estimates for constructing and installing parklets range from $2,000 to $20,000, 
depending on design, quality, and regulations.  

• The “parklet season” in established programs are from May to September, from March to 
November, or year-round. Many municipalities are extending their temporary programs 
indefinitely. 

• Parklet programs encompass a variety of uses include dining, retail space, fitness and leisure 
activities, and public commons.  

• Most programs require insurance coverage from the requesting business as well as a realistic 
level of tidiness and maintenance, as we are.   

• Permitting fees and funding support vary, but many pandemic-related programs are working to 
source funding for restaurants.  

We have been actively soliciting feedback from businesses and the community. Many comments 
received convey a sense of “It’s about time!” and “We love it!” and we have yet to receive any criticism 
– which is rare! One specific comment that we received was that they would like to see more, because it 
allows for more space on the sidewalk for pedestrians to pass while social distancing from diners that 
have removed their masks to eat.  

Page 18 of 169



DATE: September 25, 2020

CLIENTS:        Larry Rivera / Karla Antonini / City of Hillsboro

PROJECT:    Carts on Main

OBJECTIVE: Finalizing Layout and elevations

SEANETTE CORKILL of FRONTDOOR BACK 

CELL:     360.281.3853

EMAIL:   SEANETTE@FRONTDOORBACK.COM

WEB: FRONTDOORBACK.COM

Page 19 of 169



FOOD POD: Legend

2Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Happy Little Tables (30” wide x 54” long)

Stand-up dining barrels: no chairs provided but may affix 
slightly large dining surface to top  (min. 19” diameter up to 

24” dia dining surface)

Self supporting screens to obscure restrooms and dumpster areas

HS
G
R

C Hand Sanitizer or handwashing station, Garbage, Recycling, Compost

Sandwich board, menu, misc info. for how to order and pick-up 

Planter Boxes (15” deep x 48” wide x 30” tall)

Port-a-Potties (1 Mens, 1 Womens, 1 ADA)

Ground graphics for self guided staging and social distancing

Page 20 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Proposed site plan

3Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

1
9
'-9
"

2
0
'-2
"

O
P
U

O
P
U

O
P
U

Trash
Recycle
F.O.G.

hitch

P
IC

K
 U

P
 ZO

N
E

handwashing

GR
C

A
D

AM

H
S

H
SH
S

GR
C

GR
C

H
S

W

15'-8"84'-5 1/8"

15'-6"

EAST M
AIN

 ST.

HILLSBORO BAR & GRILL

AMELIA’S

Page 21 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Proposed site plan

4Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

1
9
'-9
"

2
0
'-2
"

O
P
U

O
P
U

O
P
U

Trash
Recycle
F.O.G.

hitch

P
IC

K
 U

P
 ZO

N
E

handwashing

GR
C

A
D

AM

H
S

H
SH
S

GR
C

GR
C

H
S

W

15'-8"84'-5 1/8"

15'-6"

Chain link @ 6’ highDecorative wrought iron @ 
6’ high

• “O” = Place orders no closer 
than sandwich board or stand

• “PU” =  Pick-up order placed 
at food cart window 

• Contactless payment 
systems are assumed

EAST M
AIN

 ST.

HILLSBORO BAR & GRILL

Page 22 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Proposed site plan with 10 x 20 tents

5Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

O
P
U

O
P
U

O
P
U

Trash
R

ecycl
ing

F.O
.G

.

h
itch

P
IC

K
 U

P
 ZO

N
E

handwashing

GR
C

A
D

AM

H
S

H
SH
S

GR
C

GR
C

H
S

W

Page 23 of 169



O
P
U

O
P
U

O
P
U

Trash
Recycle
F.O.G.

h
itch

P
IC

K
 U

P
 ZO

N
E

handwashing

GR
C

A
D

AM

H
S

H
SH
S

GR
C

GR
C

H
S

W

CARTS ON MAIN: Proposed site plan + tents + string lights

6Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Page 24 of 169



1
2

'-
0

"

Carts on Main

3'
-0

"

14'-0"

1
5

'-
0

"

A
D

A

M W

Screen

1
7

'-
6

"

6
'-

0
" 1
1

'-
5

"

7
'-

0
"

CARTS ON MAIN: Elevations

7Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Bar & Grill Amelia’s

West side* 

Front
(looking north)

Front
(looking north)
Gates are open

*Planters in foreground partially covering tables in the background

Carts on Main

1
1

'-
6

"

1
1

'-
3

"

Bar & Grill

Page 25 of 169



A
D

A

M W

Screen

1
7

'-
6

"

6
'-

0
" 1
1

'-
5

"

7
'-

0
"

CARTS ON MAIN:

8Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Plan view

Bar & Grill

O
P
U

O
P
U

O
P
U

Trash
Recycle
F.O.G.

h
itch

P
IC

K
 U

P
 ZO

N
E

handwashing

GR
C

A
D

AM

H
S

H
SH
S

GR
C

GR
C

H
S

W

West side* 

Page 26 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Renderings

9Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

• Elevation layered over site photo
• Arch signage style TBD but leaving this generic one as place holder 

(size shown about 3’ x 14’-4”)

Carts on Main

Page 27 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Tents

10Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Page 28 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: PicNic Tables

11Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Page 29 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Approaches to stand-up dining

12Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Page 30 of 169



http://janineslittlehollywood.blogspot.com/2018/05/publi
c-art-installed-on-wsecu-parking.html

I’ve seen this one in person… it’s just pucks snapped 

onto the fence - very impressive from a distance

CARTS ON MAIN: Chain link fence (in back) embellishments

13Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Page 31 of 169

http://janineslittlehollywood.blogspot.com/2018/05/public-art-installed-on-wsecu-parking.html
http://janineslittlehollywood.blogspot.com/2018/05/public-art-installed-on-wsecu-parking.html


CARTS ON MAIN: Recycling Garbage (work in progress)

14Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Page 32 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN: Hand Sanitizing stations 

15Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Images taken at Vancouver Farmer’s Market

Page 33 of 169



CARTS ON MAIN:

17Concepts and designs by Frontdoor Back LLC all rights reserved

Interior 4ft next to 6ft fencing

Approach to 6ft tall fencing around outdoor dining

AT 6ft tall fencing around outdoor dining

Page 34 of 169



Notice of Funding Availability: Small Business Assistance Projects & Programs 

October, 2020 

Businesses in Washington County have been hard hit by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Since March 2020, 
many businesses had to either close or significantly curtail operations.  Restaurants, caterers, event 
centers, sports venues, and entertainment facilities have been particularly impacted by the ongoing 
regulations to curb COVID-19.  Similarly, COVID-19 disproportionately impacts businesses owned and 
patronized by traditionally underrepresented communities in Washington County. 

In response to this crisis, the County allocated $15M of its federal “CARES Act” allocation for small 
business assistance.  The County has provided more than $11M in small business grants and loans, much 
of it through partnerships with cities throughout the County.  The County will soon be issuing another 
round of small business grant funding.  The County has partnered with several providers to provide 
nearly $1.5M in workforce programs.  The County cooperated with several Chambers of Commerce as 
well as Adelante Mujeres to fund Business Recovery Centers, which provide a suite of free services to 
small businesses including access to capital, PPE, technical assistance, legal advice, and individual 
business coaching. 

The County has approximately $500,000 remaining in its small business CARES Act fund.  The County is 
obligated to spend these funds by December 30, 2020.  Consequently, the County seeks proposals for 
use of a portion of these funds.  Because of the CARES Act deadline, the County will prioritize funding for 
projects and programs which can be quickly set up (or are already established), which will be targeted to 
business sectors that have been particularly hard hit by the pandemic, which will primarily benefit less 
privileged communities, and which will comply with requirements of the CARES Act (e.g., funds must be 
completely expended by December 30, 2020, businesses that benefit from these programs must certify 
that they suffered at least a 10% loss in revenue due to the pandemic, and beneficiaries of the funds 
may not use them to offset costs that have already been paid for by other public dollars). 

The County will accept proposals for use of this funding from cities, community-based organizations that 
focus on small business, and Chambers of Commerce.  Funding requests may be made at any time as 
long as funds remain available, but the County will perform an initial assessment of proposals received 
by Oct. 30, 2020.   Funding proposals should be brief (maximum of two pages, plus an attached budget 
spread sheet as appropriate).  Proposals should address the following information: 

• Sponsoring Entity
• Contact Person: name, title, email address, phone number
• Description of proposal

o Project/program name
o Project/program description
o funding amount requested
o Is the funding for a new or existing project/program?
o how soon the funds can be deployed to carry out the project/program?

Attachment C

Page 35 of 169



o confirmation that the CARES-Act funded portion of the project/program will be spent 
down by 12-30-20 

o how the project/program benefits businesses that have been significantly impacted by 
the COVID-19 pandemic (NOTE:   Funds cannot be used to assist a single business; they 
must be made more broadly available) 

o Equity/Inclusion: How the program significantly benefits businesses owned by those 
who are from traditionally under-represented communities 

The County favors projects that leverage matching funds from other sources.  Awardees agree that in 
early December the County will want to ascertain the trajectory of spending – if in the judgment of the 
County it appears unlikely that the CARES Act dollars will be spent by 12-30, the County reserves the 
right to require return of un-spent funds (after any close-out costs) at the earliest possible date, to allow 
the funds to be redeployed before the end of the year. 

The County anticipates making $200,000 available for qualified responses to the NOFA.  However, the 
County has other potential uses for available funds, and reserves the right to ultimately deploy less – or 
more – than $200,000 for proposals. 

Proposals should be submitted to John Southgate, john@johnsouthgateconsulting.com, (503) 956-5853. 

 

 

Page 36 of 169

mailto:john@johnsouthgateconsulting.com
mailto:john@johnsouthgateconsulting.com


Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Staff Report Page 1 of 5 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: November 2, 2020 Subject: Employment Site Readiness Report 
for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area  

Staff Member: Jordan Vance, Economic 
Development Manager 

Department: Community Development 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

☐ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☐ Resolution Comments: N/A 
☒ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends Council accept the findings of the report by 
resolution at next City Council meeting.  

Recommended Language for Motion: N/A 

Project / Issue Relates To: 
☒Council Goals/Priorities ☐Adopted Master Plan(s) ☐Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Update on Employment Site Readiness Report for Coffee Creek Industrial Area Site. 

Page 37 of 169



Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Staff Report Page 2 of 5 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Several site readiness challenges have long hindered the development of key employment lands in 
the Portland metro region. Meanwhile, employment space and site needs have increased over the 
last decade as the region’s economy has expanded and the population has increased. Solving these 
difficult issues is a key priority of leadership at the local, regional, and state level. 
 
The Employment Land Site Readiness Toolkit project was designed to help find tools to move 
challenged industrial and commercial employment sites within the Metro urban growth boundary 
to development-readiness to accommodate projected population growth. The project is a follow-
up from the Regional Industrial Site Readiness Lands inventories completed in 2011, 2014 and 
2017 that tiered industrial sites based on time to market and highlighted seven key site readiness 
challenges limiting market development of these sites. 
 
A Metro 2040 Planning and Development Grant funded the project with matching funds from 19 
regional partners (2 counties, 13 cities, including Wilsonville, and 4 regional entities). The Port of 
Portland, Greater Portland Inc., and Metro managed the project, working with a consultant team 
lead by Cascadia Partners. 
 
This Employment Land Site Readiness Toolkit contains four separate executive summary reports 
in Attachment A that provide new ideas and important refinements to existing tools that, if 
implemented and funded, can give local leaders greater ability to ready employment lands for the 
development and job growth needed to support the economy of the Portland region. This set of 
reports also provides some preliminary considerations for how to incorporate issues of equity into 
both the approach and tools deployed to address employment land readiness. Equity has not 
traditionally been considered within the context of employment land policy and this report is 
intended to serve as an initial guide for how to meaningfully consider equity in such projects. 
 
All contained within Attachment A which is linked here, the Task 1 Report identifies national best 
practices and innovative tools for addressing key employment land readiness challenges and 
equitable development. The Task 2 Report details two new real estate and finance tools that could 
make a significant impact on site readiness. The Task 3 Report summarizes recommended 
modifications to existing economic development tools in Oregon. The Task 4 Report outlines site 
readiness roadmaps for three sites in the region and tests several of these tools to help demonstrate 
the impact of individual tools and the layering of tools needed to achieve financial feasibility for 
each of these sites. This set of Reports should serve as a resource for local practitioners as well as 
a source of potential legislative ideas for local and state leaders focused on improving employment 
site readiness. 
 
Wilsonville’s Coffee Creek Industrial Area was selected for development of a detailed site 
readiness study with a set of customized development strategies.  Opening up the 225-acre Coffee 
Creek Industrial Area for development is a critical part of the City’s economic development 
strategy. The district is currently encumbered by numerous challenges, including infrastructure 
and site aggregation, which this grant seeks to address by finding tangible tools to move challenged 
sites to market-readiness. The detailed site readiness roadmap recommends the following 
strategies for Wilsonville: 
 

Page 38 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area


Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Staff Report Page 3 of 5 

  
Specific Recommendations:  

• Expand the responsible use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) to employment land 
readiness in the Coffee Creek Industrial Area in the following ways. Refer to page 13 of 
Attachment E linked here for more in-depth information. 

• URA Option 1: Site Readiness Cost Reimbursement 
• A fairly conservative use of URA is to simply refund a private developer a 

portion of their tax increment as repayment for on- and/or off-site 
investments made by that private developer. This is a form of private 
financing and TIF is a vehicle to recycle new tax dollars on-site in the form 
of a tax abatement. This method is fairly modest in scale and impact. 

• URA Option 2: Vertical Improvement Property Tax Abatement 
• A more robust and impactful incentive is to structure a 10-year property tax 

abatement on all vertical improvements. Vertical improvement costs on 
these sites are significantly larger than site readiness costs, so the level of 
tax abatement is larger than Option 1. For this analysis, no cap on tax 
abatement amounts was assumed. 

• Explore tools like Major Streets Transportation Improvement Program (MSTIP) to offset 
large off-site transportation costs compared to other sites. MSTIP is a public financing tool 
for transportation infrastructure and requires voter approval to fund specific transportation 
projects. Only Washington County currently has such a program.  The tool carries political 
risk and there is no guarantee that the specific transportation improvements needed by any 
of these three sites would be on the list. Refer to page 53 of Attachment C linked here for 
more in-depth information.  

• Land banks and land waivers have larger financial impact due to large site size. Land Bank 
Authorities (LBA) are effective land assembly entities since they are tax exempt and can 
buy and hold land with low carrying costs over a long period of time. For this analysis, it 
was assumed that a LBA was able to assemble the land in question and either lease or write 
down the entire cost of the land. Refer to page 5 of Attachment E linked here for more in-
depth information. 

  
 General Recommendations:  

• Consider near term implementation of available tools identified by this project.  
• Consider using Horizontal Development Agreement (HDA) which is a way to negotiate a 

multi-party coordinated development process, and define specific tools or incentives that 
parties to the agreement can utilize under specific conditions, such as in exchange for 
community benefits or specific uses or end users. Refer to page 3 of Attachment D linked 
here for more in-depth information. 

• Implement market-feasible System Development Charge (SDC) financing program in 
partnership with the state’s economic development agency Business Oregon, financed by 
an existing State special works fund. SDC financing is a widely available tool but it is 
seldom used because most if not all of the local terms of the financing make it impossible 
to be used by conventional developers. SDC financing is nearly universally required to be 
a first position loan, which would make securing conventional debt impossible. In addition, 
the payback periods (amortization period) are too short and interest rates are too high to 
make the tool appealing. For this analysis, a second position loan with favorable lending 

Page 39 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area


Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Staff Report Page 4 of 5 

term (1% over 10 years) has been modeled. Refer to page 25 of Attachment E linked here 
for more in-depth information. 

• Assist landowners in forming and administering Local Improvement Districts (LIDs). LIDs 
are a means of financing local capital improvements through the formation of special 
assessment districts that include the benefiting properties. The governing body of local 
governments (cities and counties) in Oregon have the statutory authority under ORS 
223.309 to establish LIDs. LID assessments are a lien on properties, which may be paid in 
one lump sum (upfront) or payable in annual installments for a minimum of 10 and a 
maximum 30 years. Refer to page 19 of Attachment E linked here for more in-depth 
information. 

• Advocate for state and regional action on new tools and funding that would improve the 
city’s ability to help overcome site readiness challenges. Refer to Attachment E linked here 
for more in-depth information. 

 
For in-depth supplemental reading on site readiness tools, case studies and best practices research 
examined in this study. Please refer to Attachments C-F linked here. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS: 
Consider local action steps recommended in the report that will move Coffee Creek Industrial Area 
to market-readiness.  
 
TIMELINE: 
This is the last phase of the project, review, and acceptance.  
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
In-Kind Contribution: 19 hours of staff time effort = $1,710 
City Contribution of Matching Funds: $1,000 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENTS:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 10/22/2020  
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by:   Date:  
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:  
N/A 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
Development of Coffee Creek Industrial Area, which would host up to 1,500 family-wage 
industrial jobs with an annual payroll of over $98 million.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
Do not accept the report or any of the roadmap recommendations.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 

Page 40 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area


Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Staff Report Page 5 of 5 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachments can be found at the following links:  

A.  Site Readiness Executive Summary Reports 
B. Wilsonville Customized Study 
C. National Best Practices for Site Development 
D. New Site Development Real Estate and Finance Tools 
E. Modifications to Existing Development Tools  
F. Development Roadmaps 
G. Wilsonville Metro Agreement 
H. Presentation 

Page 41 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/renewal/page/coffee-creek-industrial-area


Employment Lands
Site Readiness Toolkit
Roadmap 

Wilsonville City Council Presentation
November 2, 2020

1

Page 42 of 169



Project Purpose

The Employment Land Readiness Toolkit project is designed to help find tools to move challenged 
industrial and commercial employment sites within the Metro urban growth boundary to development-
readiness to accommodate projected population growth.

The project is funded by a Metro Community Development and Planning Grant with matching funds from 
18 regional partners.

2

Page 43 of 169



Project Advisory Team

Regional Partners
Michael Williams, City of Beaverton
Jon Legarza, Clackamas County
Ryan Wells, City of Cornelius
Sarah Selden, City of Fairview
Jeff King, City of Forest Grove
Erika Fitzgerald, City of Gresham
Joseph Briglio, City of Happy Valley
Dan Dias, City of Hillsboro
Kelly Ross, NAIOP Oregon chapter of National Association of 
Industrial and Office Parks)
Erin Maxey, City of Milwaukie
Alma Flores and Lori Bell, City of Oregon City
Isaac Barrow and Melissa Rogers, Portland General Electric
Joana Filgueiras, Prosper Portland
Julia Hadjuk, City of Sherwood
Jonathan Taylor, City of Tualatin
Christina Deffebach, Washington County
Jordan Vance, City of Wilsonville

Project Managers
Lise Glancy and Ken Anderton, Port of Portland
Jeffrey Raker, Metro
Brittany Bagent and Matt Miller, Greater Portland Inc.

3

Page 44 of 169



Consultant Team

Consultant Team
Alex Joyce, Cascadia Partners

4

Caudaloso

In partnership with:

Page 45 of 169



Best Practices Research New Tools Modifications to Existing Tools
Site Readiness and 

Development  Roadmaps
and Tool Testing

Image 
Placeholder

EF
FO

R
T

H
ig

h
Lo

w

Toolkit Project

National research of the 
best practice tools, 
strategies, and policies that 
expedite development-ready 
employment lands

New tools that could help 
jurisdictions overcome land 
assembly and infrastructure 
development challenges

Modifications to tools that 
already exist to make them 
more adept and powerful at 
creating development-ready 
employment lands

Site readiness and 
development roadmaps with 
an equity lens for three sites 
and modeling of the impact of 
tools on market feasibility

5

Task 2Task 1 Task 3 Task 4

Page 46 of 169



Page 47 of 169



Page 48 of 169



Page 49 of 169



Page 50 of 169



Page 51 of 169



Page 52 of 169



Page 53 of 169



Page 54 of 169



• Consider structuring the existing URA to allow for the reimbursement of site readiness costs and property tax abatements for 
vertical improvements

• Large off-site transportation costs compared to other sites – explore tools to offset costs (e.g., MSTIP)

• Land banks and land waivers have larger financial impact due to large site size

Consultant Recommendations to City

14

• Consider near term implementation of available tools identified by this project

• Consider using Horizontal Development Agreement (HDA) 

• Implement market-feasible System Development Charge (SDC) financing program, possibly as a Business Oregon pilot

• Expand the responsible use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) to employment land readiness

• Assist landowners in forming and administering Local Improvement Districts (LIDs)

• Advocate for state and regional action on new tools and funding that would improve your city’s ability to help overcome site 
readiness challenges

General Recommendations

Specific Recommendations

Page 55 of 169



City Staff Action 

15

• Cross-department team to identify next steps 

Page 56 of 169



Council Action 

16

• City Council acceptance of roadmap at November 16 
City Council meeting

Page 57 of 169



Questions?

17

Page 58 of 169



PROCLAMATION
Yeterans Day

November 11, 2020

WHEREAS, this year's Veterans Day, November I l,2O2O commemorates the l02nd

anniversary of the end of World War [; and

WHEREAS, the date is recognized as a federal legal holiday to honor those men and

women who - for several generations - have fought to sustain our democracy; and

WHEREAS, the courage, honor, sacrifice, and dedication that our veterans have shown
in the name of freedom and democracy are worthy of recognition; and

WHEREAS, Americans owe a great debt to the people who have bravely served in
defense of this nation; and

WHEREAS, military service ended in permanent injury or death for many veterans,

whose spirit remains in the continued preservation of our freedoms; and

WHEREAS, we affirm our sacred duty as citizens to express our gratitude, both in words

and in actions, for the service ofour veterans; and

WHEREAS, our solemn public observance to honor of all Americans who have served

their country in times of war and conflict cannot take place because of public health

concerns;

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Tim Knapp, Mayor of the City of Wilsonville, do hereby

encourage residents to take a moment this Veterans Day, November ll, 2020 to honor

the valor and sacrifice of our veterans with your thoughts, prayers, solemn contemplation,

the display of the United States flag or another appropriate expression.

Dated this 2nd day of November, 2020

Tim Knapp, Mayor

Page 59 of 169



All dates and times are tentative; check the City’s online calendar for schedule changes at www.ci.wilsonville.or.us. 

CITY COUNCIL ROLLING SCHEDULE PAGE 1 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\9. Rolling Schedule.docx 

CITY COUNCIL ROLLING SCHEDULE  
Board and Commission Meetings 2020 

Items known as of 10/29/20 

November 
DATE DAY TIME EVENT LOCATION 

11/9 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel A - Cancelled Council Chambers 

11/12 Wednesday 6:00 p.m. Planning Commission Council Chambers 

11/16 Monday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 
11/23 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel B Council Chambers 

11/25 Wednesday 6:30 p.m. Library Board Library 

December 
DATE DAY TIME EVENT LOCATION 

12/2 Wednesday 6:30 p.m. Library Board Library 

12/7 Monday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 

12/9 Wednesday 6:00 p.m. Planning Commission Council Chambers 

12/14 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel A Council Chambers 

12/21 Monday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 
12/28 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel B Council Chambers 

Community Events: 

11/2 – 12/11 Fill a Stocking for a Wilsonville Senior! Filled stockings can be donated to the Parks and 
Recreation. Administrative Building from 8:00 a.m. to 5 p.m., Monday thru Friday. 

11/7 Learn to Build a Pollinator Garden; 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. at Stein-Boozier Barn, located in Murase 
Plaza, at Memorial Park. Registration is required to attend the event  

11/11 City Offices Closed in Observance of Veteran’s Day. 

11/14 Leaf Drop Off Day; 9 a.m. to 2 p.m. at City Hall. 

11/18 Community Enhancement Information Session; 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. 
online at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88014890847 

11/26 – 11/27 City Offices Closed in Observance of Thanksgiving Holiday. 

12/8 Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Community Listening Session; 6:00pm to 8:00 p.m. via Zoom. 

12/24 Library Closes at 2 p.m. Offices in for of Christmas Eve. 

12/25 City Offices Closed in Observance of Christmas Day. 

Page 60 of 169

file://cityhall/cityhall/City%20Recorder/Rolling/www.ci.wilsonville.or.us
file://cityhall/cityhall/City%20Recorder/Rolling/www.ci.wilsonville.or.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88014890847
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88014890847


Republic Services of Clackamas and Washington Counties

City of Wilsonville
Annual Report
January-December 2019

Page 61 of 169



Table of Contents 2019 Annual Report

Table of Contents 2

FINANCIALS

Historical Statement of Income 4

Schedule of Expenses 5

Monthly Payment Breakdown 6

SERVICE

Summary of Services 8

Wilsonville’s Service Facts 9

Customer Counts 10

Summary of Waste Collected 11

Where the Material Goes 14

Customer Service Report 15

Community Education and Outreach 16

Moving Forward 

2020 and Committed to Serve 17

Glossary 18

2Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 62 of 169



Financials

Page 63 of 169



Historical Statement of Income 2019 Annual Report

* 2020 does not include the estimated impacts of COVID-19 related costs. We are still in the process of estimating these impacts.

Overview
The light blue shaded area above represents the lost opportunity cost of not earning a 10% margin (10% is widely considered the 
mid-point of acceptable margins of 8% to 12%). The chart specifically shows profit for the three years prior and for the next two 
years projected assuming a price increase is not implemented. 

6Y Financial (3Y Actuals / 3Y Forecasted) 2018 2019 % ∆ 2020 * % ∆ 2021 % ∆ 2022 % ∆

Revenue 7,049,692     7,270,002     3.1% 7,270,002     0.0% 7,270,002     0.0% 7,270,002     0.0%

Cost of Operations 5,321,344     5,426,674     2.0% 5,719,009     5.4% 5,844,741     2.2% 5,973,740     2.2%

Gross  Profi t 1,728,348     1,843,328     6.7% 1,550,993     -15.9% 1,425,261     -8.1% 1,296,262     -9.1%

Sales , General  and Adminis trative 661,650        670,541        1.3% 688,485        2.7% 702,286        2.0% 716,382        2.0%

Operating Income 1,066,698     1,172,787     9.9% 862,508        -26.5% 722,975        -16.2% 579,880        -19.8%

OP Income as a % of Revenue 15.1% 16.1% 11.9% 9.9% 8.0%

Income Taxes 305,076        335,417        9.9% 251,593        -25.0% 218,122        -13.3% 175,124        -19.7%

Net Income 761,622        837,370        9.9% 610,914        -27.0% 504,853        -17.4% 404,756        -19.8%

Net Income as a % of Revenue 10.8% 11.5% 8.4% 6.9% 5.6%

Statement of Income 

For Years Ended December 31,  2017 - 2022

4Printed on Recycled Paper

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Profit Compared to Acceptable Profitability Range (8% - 12%)

Target Actual

Page 64 of 169



Schedule of Expenses 2019 Annual Report

6 Year Financial (3Y Actuals / 3Y Forecasted) 2018 2019 % ∆ 2020 % ∆ 2021 % ∆ 2022 % ∆

Cost of Operations

SW and Yard Debris  Disposal 2,763,746     2,587,437     -6.4% 2,716,809     5.0% 2,784,729     2.5% 2,854,347     2.5%

Recycl ing Process ing 355,826        378,504        6.4% 393,644        4.0% 405,453        3.0% 417,617        3.0%

Labor, Health Ins , & Taxes 1,014,559     1,186,301     16.9% 1,221,890     3.0% 1,258,547     3.0% 1,296,303     3.0%

Truck, Fuel , and Repairs 712,789        694,355        -2.6% 701,299        1.0% 708,312        1.0% 715,395        1.0%

Equipment and Containers 99,597          116,437        16.9% 119,930        3.0% 122,329        2.0% 124,775        2.0%

Franchise Fees 203,643        254,494        25.0% 356,292        40.0% 356,292        0.0% 356,292        0.0%

Other Expense / Food Waste 183,532        211,362        15.2% 211,362        0.0% 211,362        0.0% 211,362        0.0%

Less : Unal lowable Costs (12,348)         (2,216)           -82.1% (2,216)           0.0% (2,282)           3.0% (2,351)           3.0%

Cost of Operations 5,321,344     5,426,674     2.0% 5,719,009     5.4% 5,844,741     2.2% 5,973,740     2.2%

Sales , General , and Adminis trative 661,650        670,541        1.3% 688,485        2.7% 702,286        2.0% 716,382        2.0%

Schedule of Expenses
For Years Ended December 31,  2018-2022

NOTE: This expense schedule is based on NO rate adjustment taking effect for 2020 - 2022. The only two line items that we would expect to see changed 

with a rate adjustment are Franchise Fees and Bad Debt.

* 2020 does not include the estimated impacts of COVID-19 related costs. We are still in the process of estimating these impacts.

5Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 65 of 169



Schedule of Expenses 2019 Annual Report

What does my monthly payment go towards? 
(Based on 2019 figures for a 35 gallon customer)

6Printed on Recycled Paper

Category Amounts

SW and Yard Debris Disposal 10.69$                 

Labor, Health Ins, & Taxes 4.90$                   

Net Income 3.46$                   

Truck, Fuel, and Repairs 2.87$                   

Management & Adminsitration 2.77$                   

Recycling Processing 1.56$                   

Income Taxes 1.39$                   

Franchise Fees 1.05$                   

Other Expense / Food Waste 0.87$                   

Equipment and Containers 0.48$                   

Less: Unallowable Costs (0.01)$                  

30.05$                 

Page 66 of 169



Service

Page 67 of 169



Summary of Services 2019 Annual Report

Services Available in Wilsonville
Residential Collection Service
· Weekly and On-Call curbside garbage cart service
· Curbside recycling cart services
· Multi-family trash and recycling service 
· Organics and yard debris cart collection service
· Oregon E-Cycles electronics waste collection center
· Pilot Project: Number 6 polystyrene collection at our Wilsonville depot

Commercial/Industrial Collection Services: 
· Regular or as-needed waste collection 
· Drop boxes for demolition and other extra-large projects 
· Recycling services tailored to specific business needs 
· Food Scraps/Organic waste composting service 
· Yard Debris collections service

Other Services available for all customers: 
· Temporary container and drop box service 
· Holiday collection, all holidays, except Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year’s Day 
· Seasonal service stops for customers gone more than four weeks 
· Convenient payment via My Republic
· Customers can start and request extra services through the app.
· Christmas tree collection 
· Recycling center 
· Annual Fall and Spring Bulky waste days and other community events 

8Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 68 of 169



Summary of Services 2019 Annual Report

2019 Wilsonville Service Facts 

• We have 14 drivers servicing the City of Wilsonville 
• Drivers are at the curbs of 5,210 Wilsonville homes 5 days/week 
• There are roughly 812,760 residential containers picked up every year 
• We have 14 collection vehicles serving customers 7 days/week 
• 14 CNG trucks service the City of Wilsonville 

9Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 69 of 169



Summary of Services 2019 Annual Report

Single Family Customers 5,210             

Multi Family Customers 39                   

Commercial Customers 479                 

Industrial Customers 177

   *only 75 of Wilsonville's industrial customers are permanent customers

Customer Counts

Single Family Customers
88%

Commercial Customers
9%

Industrial Customers
3%

10Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 70 of 169



Material Residential Commercial Industrial

Appliances -                                6.30                              12.83                           

Asbestos -                                -                                336.00                         

Cardboard -                                1,773.89                      713.29                         

Commingle 1,384.01                      659.07                         55.84                           

Dirt and Stone 15.86                           -                                2,028.75                      

Dry Waste 61.57                           22.70                           6,967.33                      

Glass 213.50                         99.32                           1,855.58                      

Manure -                                -                                177.96                         

Metal -                                2.42                              27.22                           

Sheetrock -                                -                                115.43                         

Sod -                                -                                24.00                           

Special Waste -                                -                                628.87                         

Stumps 141.59                         -                                -                                

Tires 0.47                              9.24                              22.48                           

Garbage/Wet Waste/ MSW 4,156.22                      7,085.55                      4,043.72                      

Wood -                                -                                661.69                         

Yard Debris 1,427.67                      -                                152.96                         

Summary of Waste Collected 2019 Annual Report

Tons Collected in 2019

Chart Note: Residential and Commercial weight allocations are based upon customer percentage for Division 455

11Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 71 of 169



Summary of Waste Collected 2019 Annual Report

Chart Note: Residential and Commercial weight allocations are based upon customer percentage for Division 455

Chart Note: Residential and Commercial weight allocations are based upon customer percentage for Division 455

12Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 72 of 169



Summary of Waste Collected 2019 Annual Report

13Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 73 of 169



Summary of Waste Collected 2019 Annual Report

Where Wilsonville’s Material Went 

14Printed on Recycled Paper

  Location  Address Tonnage

  American Gypsum Recycling  12451 Duckflat Road SE, Turner, Oregon 97392 55.53               

  Coffin Butte  28972 Coffin Butte Road, Corvallis, Oregon 97330 407.19            

  Hillsboro (Rose City)  3205 SE Minter Bridge Rd, Hillsboro, OR 97123 239.21            

Greenway 4135 NW St Helens Rd, Portland, OR 97210 30.48               

Grimm's Fuel Company 18850 SW Cipole Rd, Tualatin, OR 97062 1,260.04         

  Marion County Burner, Covanta  4850 Brooklake Road NE, Salem, Oregon 97305 18.76               

  Metro Metal Northwest Inc.  5611 NE Columbia Blvd, Portland, Oregon 97218 10.36               

  Metro Metro South 2001 Washington St, Oregon City, OR 97045 3,472.66         

  Potter's Industries  350 N Baker Dr, Canby, OR 97013 740.20            

  Pioneer Recycling Services  16810 SE 120th Avenue, Clackamas, Oregon 97015 1,080.07         

  Pride Disposal  13980 SW Tualatin-Sherwood Road #9726, Sherwood, Oregon 97140 2,853.41         

  S&H Recycling  20200 Southwest Stafford Road, Tualatin, Oregon 97062 3,561.66         

  Willamette Resources Inc.  (WRI)  10295 Southwest Ridder Road #2, Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 16,492.94      

* WRI compactor had to be replaced in 2019 and this caused a larger than average tonnage to Pride.

Page 74 of 169



Customer Service Report 2019 Annual Report

Synopsis

2020 has been an unprecedented year for our country and our local communities. Republic Services
has moved swiftly in the first quarter of 2020 to transition all of our non-essential staff working
from home. As you can see in our first Bi-Annual report on 2020, we have been able to make this
transition without any disruption to our quality of service. We strive to deliver the best customer 
service experience and are thankful that taking action early has allowed us to maintain this drive. 

A large part of this effort has been to develop an educated, local, customer service team. In 2019, 
Republic had five agents at the Woodburn Call Center and three at the Corvallis Center, but as of 
July 2020 we have added six new customer service representatives. 

The majority of 2019 complaints were resolved on the same day. Republic staff tackle each 
complaint as soon as it comes in and are proud to report the low level of complaints for all of our 
customer groups (listed above). Our whole team works to resolve each complaint to the best of 
their ability and to the satisfaction of our customers.  

16Number of 
Customer

Number of 
Reported Complaints

%

Residential 5,902 47 .8%

Commercial 518 12 2.32%

Industrial 177* 2 1.13%

Customer Service Complaints

*only 75 of Wilsonville’s Industrial customers are permanent customers

15Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 75 of 169



Community Education and Outreach 2019 Annual Report

Communication, Marketing, & Educational Outreach

Republic Services enjoys interacting with the community by tabling at and sponsoring 
events. We educate and communicate with customers through local events, newsletters, 
local newspapers, bi-lingual recycling brochures, service calendars, and our website. 

Added Services: Republic Services and Agilyx began talks of marketing and 
educational outreach efforts for the 2020 roll-out of the polystyrene drop off 
location at WRI.  Both companies will be promoting the program through their 
social media outreach, local business contacts, and other local print options. 

Annual Community Engagement, Education and Giving Back Events 
within the City of Wilsonville

Leaf Drop-Off Day November 9th, 2019
Bulky Waste Days   October 26th, 2019
Fun in the Park   August 3rd, 2019
Wilsonville Rotary Summer Concerts July 18th, July 25th, August 1st, and August 8th, 2019
Wilsonville Brewfest August 10th, 2019
Wilsonville Relay for Life August 16th, 2019

16Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 76 of 169



In 2020, Republic Services of Clackamas and Washington Counties will strive to maintain the 
level of service delivery that Wilsonville has relied on. We do not know the full impacts of 
COVID-19 related costs or for how long this situation will last. In facing this challenge, Republic 
Services has taken many steps to maintain the health and productivity of its workforce, and to 
continue to provide steady, reliable service to the City of Wilsonville. This is an unprecedented 
time and we will all get through this together.

During the COVID19 pandemic, we have:

• Sent any employees that are not essential to the frontline home with the equipment they 
need to do their jobs effectively. This includes our customer service representatives. 

• Staggered starts for our frontline employees and siting tailgates outside to maintain social 
distancing. 

• Created a systematic disinfecting of all office areas and vehicles.

• Instituted a policy to provide an extra ten days paid time off for any employee who is 
diagnosed with COVID19, or has to care for a family member who has fallen ill. 

• Implemented eight weeks paid family leave for new parents – two weeks for secondary 
providers. 

• Provided reimbursement for co-pays for any COVID19-related healthcare costs. 

• Temporarily suspended bulky waste pickup and asked customers to bag any extra waste to 
improve route efficiency.

To support our communities and customers, we have: 

• Communicated with customers through electronic media. 

• Purchased meals for our frontline workers from locally-owned restaurants twice a week – one 
breakfast/lunch, one meal for the family which workers take home. 

• Committed to Serve: frontline employees will receive $100/every other week for the next two 
months in gift cards to spend at a locally-owned business in communities we serve. 

Moving Forward 2020

Page 77 of 169



Allocated  Weights Allocated weights refers to the proportional amount of material based upon a city's 

percentage of the total division's hauls.

Bin Bin means container provided by Franchisee, used by customers for the containment and 

disposal of recyclable material.

Can Can means container owned by a customer, used for the containment and          disposal of 

solid waste. The customer's use of a can requires manual collection.

Cart Cart means container provided by Franchisee, used by a customer for the           

containment and disposal of solid waste or recyclable material. The customer's   use of a 

cart requires automated collection service.

Contract Group Contract group is a reference to a specific franchise. 

Commingle &      Mixed 

Recycling

Commingle and Mixed Recycling means the process where two or more types      of 

recyclable materials are collected together (i.e., not separated) in a                combination 

allowed by the City Administrator, and as approved by the Oregon Department of 

Environmental Quality.

Compact  &           

Compaction

Compact and Compaction means the process of, or to engage in the shredding     of 

material, or the manual or mechanical compression of material.

Container Container means can, cart, bin, drop box, receptacle, or other vessel used for      the 

disposal of solid waste, recyclable material or yard waste that has been         approved by 

the City Administrator and into which solid waste, recyclable           material or yard debris 

may be placed for collection.

Dispose or Disposal Dispose or Disposal means the accumulation, storage, discarding, collection,      removal, 

transportation, recycling or resource recovery of solid waste.

Division Division refers to Republic Services of Marion County as a whole hauling           company. 

Drop Box Drop Box means a single container designed for storage and collection of large  volumes 

of solid waste or wastes or recyclable materials, which is usually ten      cubic yards or 

larger in size, and provides for transportation of large volumes         of solid waste or 

recyclable materials and is transported to a disposal or              processing site for transfer, 

landfilling, recycling, materials recovery or utilization and then emptied and returned to 

either its original location or to some other    location.

Glossary 2019 Annual Report

19Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 78 of 169



Hazardous Waste Hazardous Waste means, but is not limited to, any amount of waste listed or 

characterized as hazardous by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or any 

state agency pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and including 

future amendments thereto, and any other Applicable Law including, but not limited to, 

any hazardous wastes as defined by ORS 466.005

Household               

Hazardous Waste

Household Hazardous Waste means any discarded or unwanted chemical, material, 

substance or product that is or may be hazardous or toxic to the public or the 

environment, is commonly used around households and is generated by the household.

Infectious Waste Infectious Waste means biological waste, cultures and stocks, pathological waste, and 

sharps, or as infectious waste is defined in ORS 459.386.

Pilot Program Pilot Program means a program which allows Franchisee to offer services on a trial basis 

for six months or less and to determine rates for such services outside the approved rate 

structure. City Council approval is required prior to implementation of a pilot program.

Putrescible Material Putrescible Material means organic materials that can decompose, which may create 

foul-smelling, offensive odors or products.

Recyclable Material Recyclable Material means any material or group of materials that can be collected and 

sold for recycling at a net cost equal to or less than the cost of collection and disposal of 

the same material and excludes excluded waste.

Recycling Recycling means any process by which solid waste is transformed into new or different 

products in such a manner that the original products may lose their original identity. As 

used in this Ordinance, recycling includes the collection, transportation and storage of 

solid waste, done in order to place the solid waste in the stream of commerce for 

recycling; or for resource recovery.

Resource Recovery Resource Recovery means the process of obtaining useful material or energy resources 

from solid waste, including reuse, recycling, and other material recovery or energy 

recovery of or from solid wastes.

Glossary 2019 Annual Report

20Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 79 of 169



Solid Waste Solid waste means all useless or discarded putrescible and non-putrescible   

materials, including but not limited to garbage, rubbish, refuse, ashes, paper, 

cardboard, sewage sludge, septic tank and cesspool pumpings, or other     

sludge, useless or discarded commercial, industrial, demolition, and               

construction materials, discarded or abandoned vehicles or parts thereof,      

discarded home and industrial appliances, manure, vegetable or animal solid 

and semi-solid wastes, and dead animals as defined in ORS 459.386. Solid   

waste does not include excluded waste.

Source Separation Source Separation means the separation of waste materials by the generator   

in preparation for recovery by recycling or reuse.

Special Service Special Service means collection of bulky waste, including furniture,                

appliances and large quantities of waste.

Total Source Separation Total Source Separation means the complete separation by the source          

generator or producer of the waste by type or kind of waste from all other 

types or kinds of waste.

Waste Waste means any material that is no longer wanted by or is no longer usable   

by the generator, producer or source of the material, which material is to be 

disposed of or to be resource-recovered by another person. Even though       

materials which would otherwise come within the definition of "waste"         

may from time to time have value and thus be resource-recovered does not   

remove them from this definition. Source-separated wastes are "wastes"     

within this definition.

Yard Debris Yard Debris means grass clippings, leaves, tree and shrub prunings of no    

greater than four inches in diameter, or similar yard and garden vegetation. 

Yard Debris does not include dirt, sod, stumps, logs or tree/shrub prunings   

larger than four inches in diameter.

Glossary 2019 Annual Report

21Printed on Recycled Paper

Page 80 of 169



Republic Services of Clackamas and 
Washington Counties

10295 SW Ridder Road
Wilsonville, OR 97070

503.981.1278  •  republicservices.com

Developed by Travis Comfort, Municipal Contract Administrator 

Page 81 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES PAGE 1 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

A regular meeting of the Wilsonville City Council was held at the Wilsonville City Hall 
beginning at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, April 6, 2020. Mayor Knapp called the meeting to order at 
7:13 p.m., followed by roll call and the Pledge of Allegiance.  

The following City Council members were present virtually: 
Mayor Knapp  
Council President Akervall  
Councilor Lehan 
Councilor West 
Councilor Linville 

Staff present included: 
Bryan Cosgrove, City Manager 
Jeanna Troha, Assistant City Manager 
Barbara Jacobson, City Attorney 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
Mark Ottenad, Public/Government Affairs Director 
Beth Wolf, Senior Systems Analyst 
Andy Stone, IT Director 
Jordan Vance, Economic Development Manager 
Dominique Huffman, Civil Engineer 
Ben Toops, Police Officer 
Martin Montalvo, Public Works Operations Manager 

Motion to approve the order of the agenda. 

Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to amend the order of the agenda to add a City Manager 
Update following the Call to Order. Councilor Linville seconded the motion.  

Vote: Motion carried 5-0. 

SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp  Yes 
Council President Akervall Yes 
Councilor Lehan Yes 
Councilor West Yes 
Councilor Linville  Yes 

CITY MANAGER UPDATE 

This item was added to the agenda. 

Bryan Cosgrove, City Manager, provided an overview on the measures taken by City Staff in 
response to the COVID-19 crisis over the last four weeks, noting City Council had been 
receiving daily email updates. The objectives early on were to make decisions to protect the 

Page 82 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 2 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

health and safety of residents and employees, especially those most vulnerable to COVID. The 
City’s Emergency Operations Center (EOC) was activated the first week of March with meetings 
held daily to discuss facilities, operations, programs, and services. Wilsonville was one of the 
first cities in Washington County to close its senior center, followed closely by the closure of the 
library. City employees were considered essential workers by both the state and federal 
government; so much of the early response time was spent keeping employees safe in order to 
continue providing essential services to residents and businesses. Every City department had 
modified its operations in order to keep customers and citizens safe while continuing to provide 
many varied services. On the business side, Jordan Vance was tasked early on to work with the 
Chamber of Commerce and to look for ideas from other cities that might be applicable for 
Wilsonville. He appreciated Council’s trust in Staff and for allowing him the space and 
flexibility to deal with the most pressing issues first.  
 
Councilor Linville asked if the issues with meals from the senior center had been resolved and if 
a contract for meal service had been acquired.  
 
Mr. Cosgrove responded that there had been an issue with drivers needing background checks, 
which was, resolved when the County Commission adjusted the policy to allow SMART drivers 
to deliver meals to seniors.  
• He confirmed there had been some concerns about capacity and whether the facilities were 

big enough to accommodate the demand. If more than 90 meals per day were requested, 
additional space or different methods might need to be considered. Currently, about 85 meals 
were delivered each day, which was up from about 32 meals before the start of the pandemic. 

 
Mayor Knapp asked if an increased demand had carried over to Community Sharing.  
 
Mr. Cosgrove replied that a staff member was assigned to reach out to Wilsonville Community 
Sharing several times a week to check on what the needs were and the status of the food bank. 
Resolution No. 2805 on tonight’s agenda pertained to increasing the amount of money the City 
gave Community Sharing to help people with paying City utilities. He encouraged donating to 
Community Sharing, which needed funding to help with rent assistance and PGE and NW 
Natural Gas bills.  

 
Councilor Lehan noted Community Sharing did not help with phone or Wi-Fi bills, which was an 
equity issue in the community if some kids could not access Wi-Fi for distance learning. She 
asked if people could ask for assistance with Wi-Fi or phone, adding places where people 
normally went to access Wi-Fi and do school work, like the library and even Starbucks, were 
closed. 
 
Mr. Cosgrove said he was not sure Community Sharing did not help with those services, noting 
the City had been told non-city utilities, which could include phone service. SMART would be 
putting Wi-Fi in its buses, and the City had reached out to the school district to help provide 
mobile hot spots. He believed the district was required by law to ensure every child had the same 
access.  

 

Page 83 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 3 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

Councilor West noted that Community Sharing also helped with medical and prescription costs 
for the city’s most vulnerable. Councilor Lehan’s idea about making sure people had the ability 
to call and stay connected was important as being isolated affected mental health as well. He 
encouraged viewers to visit http://wilsonvillecommunitysharing.org and donate to support 
Community Sharing.  

 
COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Update on the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act 
  
• Ree Armitage, Field Representative, Office of U.S. Senator Ron Wyden 

 
Ree Armitage shared Senator Wyden’s website page and reviewed the COVID-19 resources and 
programs found in the link provided on the front page of the Senator’s website. 
https://www.wyden.senate.gov/covid-19-economic-resources Governments with populations of 
500,000 or more would be receiving federal relief funding directly, while the rest would be 
distributed through the governor’s office. Clackamas County’s population was just below the 
limit, but the State was watching to see how that funding might be distributed to the County. The 
employment department was hiring people as fast as possible to get unemployment claims 
processed faster.  
• He noted some money was included for K-12 that would be released. Senators Wyden and 

Merkley were hard at work to include internet expansion in the next package to help those 
without access. The USDA ReConnect Program had provided some assistance in getting 
more internet access; though some urban districts might have trouble accessing funds through 
that program.  

 
• Dan Mahr, Field Representative, Office of U.S. Senator Jeff Merkley 

 
Dan Mahr clarified agricultural businesses were often ineligible for the Paycheck Protection 
Program (PPP) program due to funding available through the USDA, but they could get 
assistance through the Emergency Injury Disaster Grants and Loans. He shared Senator 
Merkley’s website page (https://www.merkley.senate.gov/coronavirus) and highlighted the 
materials available related to COVID-19 relief programs. 
 
Mr. Armitage and Mr. Mahr addressed questions from City Council with these comments: 
• Individual stimulus check payments would begin within three weeks of the bill’s passage for 

people with a tax ID and direct deposit capabilities or who receive direct Social Security 
payments, though there was a concern about those who did not have access to direct deposit. 
Those with less direct e-file mechanisms would experience a bit of a delay. Those without 
direct deposit were being connected with the office of Social Security directly if they had 
concerns about getting the check. 

• As far as expediting the process for receiving PPP loans, the Treasury was working directly 
with individual banks that work through the Small Business Administration (SBA). 
However, big banks and banks that had not yet worked with the SBA were having more 
issues with the application process, as were customers who had not engaged with the SBA.    

Page 84 of 169

http://wilsonvillecommunitysharing.org/
http://wilsonvillecommunitysharing.org/
https://www.wyden.senate.gov/covid-19-economic-resources
https://www.wyden.senate.gov/covid-19-economic-resources
https://www.merkley.senate.gov/coronavirus
https://www.merkley.senate.gov/coronavirus


CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 4 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

• The delay of funds was unacceptable. The entire Oregon Congressional Delegation had been 
working to pressure the Administration to get the money out sooner, but this was the vehicle 
chosen for distribution.  

• Lessons learned from the third COVID-19 relief package, which became the CARES Act, 
would be applied to the next relief package about how to disperse the funds more effectively 
and to address some of the glitches and concerns about many small businesses not receiving 
help, particularly if the roll out of the funds continued to be problematic with the style and 
structure of the program for SBA. 

• The SBA’s goal was to get the funding dispersed, recognizing that some requests would be 
fraudulent and the SBA would have to find those people later. Wells Fargo had backed out of 
the whole SBA program and Bank of America had limited help only to its existing 
customers. The Senators’ offices would work to address concerns about getting funds to 
smaller business and press the SBA to deal with larger banks, which had the work force, but 
chose to be narrow and not help due to concerns about fraud and being held accountable. 

• Concerns were expressed about, which had a much smaller allocation that PPP.  
•  The need was so great that funding could be exhausted within a short time frame and many 

of the big programs might need to be recapitalized to increase allocations in other programs, 
like the Economic Injury Program. 

• Business associations and chambers of commerce were offering technical assistance and 
making their staffs available to help people with the SBA loan application process. Small 
Business Development Centers (SBDC) were also offering assistance. Accounting or CPA 
associations would be contacted to see if they were offering assistance. As small businesses 
owners, they might have valuable experience regarding the process.  

 
B. Update on State of Oregon COVID-19 Emergency Response 

• Representative Courtney Neron, HD-26/Wilsonville 
 
Representative Neron updated on the State’s coronavirus response via PowerPoint, reviewing 
recent COVID-19 statistics, current needs, and the Governor’s executive orders and providing 
contact information for helpful resources, including websites and hotlines for individuals, 
families, and businesses. She congratulated the City on its efforts, especially the early declaration 
of the state of the emergency, and acknowledged efforts within the community to help people 
and businesses feel more connected, including SMART delivering groceries, meals, and the 
Lowrie schoolteachers’ parade for their elementary students. She announced she would be 
hosting a telephone town hall on April 11, 2020, 10:30 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. with a Business 
Oregon Ombudsman and Labor Commissioner Val Hoyle to answer questions.  
 
Councilor West recognized Representative Neron’s efforts and engagement with Council, 
various stakeholders and community members and how she was handling this crisis.  
 
Councilor Linville asked about the flow of relief money from the State to the County, and what 
guidelines were available regarding how the City would be able to affect getting those resources 
locally in Wilsonville. 
  

Page 85 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 5 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Representative Neron responded she was uncertain about the flow of the funding. Currently, the 
counties were at the forefront of delivering many of the critically needed services and organizing 
resources, from hospital beds to services for domestic violence. She thanked Council and City 
Staff for their team efforts through the pandemic.  

 
C. Update on Clackamas County COVID-19 Emergency 

 
• Commissioner Ken Humberston 

 
Commissioner Humberston reviewed the actions taken by Clackamas County during the 
COVID-19 pandemic thus far; noting Clackamas County was the first county in Oregon to 
declare a state of emergency, which had paid off by keeping the number of COVID cases low. 
He explained that urban renewal funds could not be used to help businesses, as the County no 
longer had the ability to establish urban renewal districts. The County was waiting on the 
distribution of funds from the federal government to expand and improve on its services. He 
encouraged those who were able to reach out to food banks and other social services and offer 
help or donations. 
• None of the deputies in the Clackamas County Sheriff’s Office had contracted COVID-19. 

Some strict protocols in the jail had been implemented for intake and for entering; the jail to 
protect both the correctional and civilian staff working there, and this was the model for most 
sheriffs’ departments in Oregon.  

• The bulk of the social services would be provided at that County level and the relief funding 
was expected to be cycled through the state and then down to the county level. He deferred 
any further questions about the funding process to Emergency Operations Center Commander 
Nancy Bush, Director of Health, Housing, and Human Services, Richard Swift, and General 
Manager Gary Schmidt.   
 
D. City of Wilsonville Economic Development Update 

 
• Jordan Vance, Economic Development Manager 

 
Jordan Vance presented via PowerPoint the Proposed Business Relief and Recovery Programs 
for the City related to COVID-19, noting Oregon economists projected up to a 25 percent to 30 
percent unemployment rate in the state, which had been approximately 11 percent in the 2008 
recession. The City continued to work with the Chamber, state, federal, and regional partners to 
identify and communicate solutions to local businesses affected by loss of revenue, layoffs, 
supply chain disruptions, etc. 
• He highlighted the programs and assistance currently available, noting his role had changed 

to become a "one-stop-shop" resource center to facilitate communication and deployment of 
federal, state, and regional resources, to be a subject matter expert on the Small Business 
Administration (SBA) Disaster Loan Program and federal stimulus programs, and to provide 
weekly webinars, etc. Providing application assistance was being explored, potentially with 
local mentors and bankers volunteering their aid. He also described potential programs for 
City Council to consider deploying, including Speed Coaching, a Small Business Alliance 

Page 86 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 6 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

Program, a Shop Wilsonville Campaign, and curating flexible multi-tenant commercial 
space, potentially paired with a business incubator, similar to Prosper Portland’s Alberta 
Commons Project, to offer affordable and flexible lease terms to small businesses.  

• While the current strategy focused on facilitating immediate business stability needs, Council 
would have to address policy questions regarding how to prioritize the City’s limited dollars 
for a grant for the potential programs proposed, as well as a holistic, long-term budget 
strategy to address short- and long term needs as the pandemic crisis continued. The 
economic recovery needs would be better understood in 3 to 6 months, so earmarking some 
City funding now would enable the City to prioritize its resources at that time and maximize 
both the short- and long-term impacts. 

• In response to Councilor Linville’s request, he also presented a breakdown of the small 
businesses in Wilsonville, including the number of their employees. As a small business city, 
Wilsonville had a critical need for the assistance programs presented. 

 
Councilor West expressed concerns that the proposed ideas would not help businesses with the 
fixed costs needed to stay open and viable. The restaurant gift card idea could hurt small 
businesses whose financial reserves had been exhausted in the shutdown. The gift card money 
from the City would be absorbed to get through the initial part of the crisis and if the gift cards 
were redeemed later down the road, the business might not be able to cover them because the 
money went to rent, for example. If the gift cards were given to vulnerable populations and used 
right away, the problem might be averted.  
 
Mr. Vance agreed the gift card campaign details needed to be worked out, but because food 
scarcity was a serious concern, people would be encouraged to use the gift cards in the short-
term during the COVID-19 quarantine for businesses still doing takeout.  
 
Councilor West suggested using funds and resources to lower rents up to 25 or 50 percent for 
small businesses or restaurants would be more impactful than gift cards. Asking commercial 
landowners to stop all increases on leases for at least the next 12 months might be another 
solution, as well as working with property owners who were willing to reduce rents up to 25 
percent. He also proposed a "Stop Cooking from Home for a Week" promotion to encourage 
more takeout and delivery while offering an optional COVID 19 percent discount to those in 
need. Such promotions would help people right away without putting businesses in a bind and 
help cover immediate fixed business costs.  
 
Mr. Vance said he liked those ideas, adding he had worked with some commercial property 
owners in town, including one that had contemplated rent deferral altogether for April and May. 
Retaining and supporting existing small business tenants was of paramount importance to both 
the City and property owners. Once past the pandemic, these types of supportive measures could 
be an impetus to launch a Town Center/Main Street small business alliance to get people back 
into small, local businesses. He asked if the suggested 19 percent discount would be subsidized 
by the City. 
  

Page 87 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 7 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Councilor West responded the subsidy would be more community-based or in partnership with 
the community. He noted not everyone would need to take the discount, but it would be available 
for those who did. Fun promotions could be created to highlight participating businesses and 
encourage citizens to partake in supporting them while offering the discount to those in need and 
helping cover basic fixed costs for businesses. 
 
Mr. Cosgrove explained the idea was to get the gift cards to people who needed help 
immediately and would use them right away, such as the homeless, who would not benefit from 
a discount, people utilizing food banks, and families in the free and reduced school lunch 
programs. After a week or two, Staff would check in with the businesses to find out how many of 
the City’s gift cards were being redeemed and at which businesses so adjustments could be made 
as needed. The gift card campaign was a quick way to achieve multiple policy objectives to help 
those who were food deprived, as well as local businesses. The pilot program would not require a 
large investment initially and Staff would report to Council on its progress. 
 
Councilor West inquired if funds coming in for the Willamette Water Supply pipeline project 
could be reprioritized and redirected initially to support small businesses.  
 
Mr. Cosgrove agreed using revenue from the pipeline project as possible funding source was a 
great idea. The annual amount received was approximately $176,000 with a larger balloon 
payment pending for 2026, but some revenue was already stockpiled and available for 
deployment. Staff could return with exact figures so Council could discuss how the funds might 
be used. 
 
Councilor Linville noted two critical phases were involved. First, the city’s business community 
was in crisis now, which necessitated short-term assistance, rather than expending a lot of time 
and energy on future, long-term business development in the midst of a crisis. Second, while 
nobody could know what recovery would look like, the City should start planning now for 
strategies the City could put in place to help businesses gear up and be ready for recovery, which 
would be good to consider when working with the Chamber. 
 
Councilor Lehan believed the gift card concept was a good pilot project, noting that even if the 
cards were not redeemed immediately, the businesses would still receive money. It was a fast 
way for the City to get money to businesses that were in trouble, but the impacts would be 
uneven because not all businesses did takeout. She was particularly concerned about bars, the 
brewery, and restaurants that depend on alcohol sales, which could account for as much as 50 
percent of the bill at some restaurants. Those sales had shifted to liquor and grocery stores since 
patrons no longer went where they used to, and since takeout was not an option for alcohol, the 
gift card campaign would not help them. Video poker and video lottery games also provided a 
significant income stream that could not be replaced by takeout. Some restaurants could not stay 
open with takeout alone, while others, like pizza places, were doing better than ever because they 
had always done takeout. Using the pipeline project money was a good idea, but perhaps the 
funds could be used to forgive businesses’ water bills for a month or two.  
 

Page 88 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 8 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

Councilor Akervall stated the need for solutions was multilayered, requiring different ideas for 
multiple situations. Solutions that might work for one business, individual, or family might not 
work for others. She believed people would want to use the gift cards immediately but asked if it 
was possible to put a "redeem by" date on the gift cards. She liked Councilor West's ideas for 
rallying the community and suggested promoting the gift cards for Easter. While she liked a 
campaign to encourage getting takeout more frequently, getting takeout was unrealistic for some 
families in the community, even with bill reduction. The gift card campaign could help foster a 
sense of community for those families. She agreed with Mr. Cosgrove on reevaluating the impact 
of the gift card campaign in a week or two.  
 
Councilor Lehan added restaurants that did not stay open for takeout would require a big 
infusion of fresh stock to reopen and they could not just gradually reopen. In addition to 
restaurants, personal services, such as hair and nail salons, as well as services without 
storefronts, like housecleaning, were all devastated. Employees of those establishments were 
paid per client or by production, and those workers and shops were vulnerable and needed 
money now. The gift card campaign could be used for those businesses as well, but they would 
not be redeemable until those personal services resumed, and that timeline was unknown. The 
impacts of the crisis were vast and far-reaching. The lodging or hospitality industries had larger 
financial reserves than smaller businesses, but they were also impacted, so fair solutions were 
needed for a variety of situations, from housekeepers to Holiday Inns.  
 
Mayor Knapp noted Wilsonville had 1,066 licensed businesses. If $200,000 were allocated to 
help businesses with five or fewer employees, each business would receive only $299.75. If only 
businesses with two or fewer employees were given funding, they would only receive $408. That 
$200,000 could be distributed to 200 businesses, providing one out of five Wilsonville 
businesses with $1,000, but would that even make a difference? He questioned how to make 
decisions about who received monetary support and how much in any meaningful way when no 
major programs existed to perform significant evaluations on businesses, and whether it was 
appropriate for government to decide who did or did not get help to succeed. Wilsonville was 
three weeks into emergencies on an event that was likely to last at least three months. People and 
businesses had needs right now, but what would those needs look like in one or two months? If 
the bulk of assistance and assets available now were disseminated within the first three or four 
weeks, what would happen in the weeks after, and what were the consequences? A month or two 
down the road, how critical were the needs of the individual citizens and families, not just 
businesses, who possibly needed financial assistance to put food on the table? Other locations in 
the country where the progression of the virus was worse than Wilsonville had food banks that 
had seen 200 percent to 500 percent increases in demand for food. The Council needed to 
consider a course of action for subsequent needs within the framework of all these factors.  
 
Councilor West agreed $200,000 was a drop in the bucket and would necessitate a first-come, 
first-served basis for businesses proactively seeking available funds. Other municipalities had 
dipped into Transient Lodging Tax (TLT) dollars, and the Tourism Committee recently voted 
unanimously to use those dollars to support hospitality businesses, as well as restaurants and 
entertainment facilities, potentially. A significant amount of funds was available with TLT 
dollars for the promotion of tourism. While there were statutory, legal requirements for accessing 

Page 89 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 9 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

those dollars, utilizing the funds to save small businesses and tourism would help promote small 
businesses and tourism. He discussed the need to get creative with finding and getting money 
wherever possible, as well as exploring austerity measures. Small businesses were generous to 
the City. For example, South Metro Area Regional Transport (SMART) was free because small 
businesses paid payroll tax to enable the hallmark transit system for Wilsonville. Small 
businesses now needed the City to help them. Funds needed to be reprioritized to go back to the 
citizens, and every rock needed to be unturned to make that happen. He clarified he was not 
suggesting shutting SMART down or using SMART funds, nor did he want to target one specific 
area as a solution. Losing a significant amount of businesses affected SMART, and therefore, 
creatively redirecting funds from many sources back to small businesses was paramount. Those 
sources could include the TLT, the water pipeline, and the sequestered $225,000 Mr. Cosgrove 
had presented, for example.  
 
Councilor Linville said she was disappointed the payroll money from the federal government 
was delayed. On Friday, April 3, 2020, she had asked Mr. Vance to e-mail all small businesses 
about Congressman Schrader's webinar scheduled for Monday, April 6, 2020 at 9:00 a.m., so 
they could register and get information as quickly as possible. She also requested he follow up 
with a link later containing more information from the webinar, since there were limited 
registrations and not everybody got in or could participate at 9:00 a.m. She thanked Mr. Vance 
and Mark Ottenad, Public/Government Affairs Director, for communicating the webinar 
information to small businesses within hours of her request. It was important to do anything to 
help businesses access resources that were available outside of what the City could provide, 
particularly when distribution issues led to delays in accessing those resources 
 
Mr. Vance said another webinar was scheduled for Thursday, April 9, 2020 with Senator Wyden 
and that he would promote the webinar among the business community. He received a positive 
response from some of the participating businesses who wanted to stay updated on future 
webinars. He noted the City was recruiting people with technical expertise interested in being 
mentors to assist businesses with applications, if any Council member had such contacts. 
 
Mayor Knapp confirmed that parties interested in being mentors should contact Mr. Vance 
through City Hall.  
 

E. Update from Wilsonville Area Chamber of Commerce 
 

• Kevin Ferrasci O’Malley, CEO 
 
Mr. O’Malley said the Governor's stay-at-home executive order, while necessary to save lives, 
had effectively put hundreds of Wilsonville businesses out of business. A recently completed 
survey looking at the impact of COVID-19 on Wilsonville businesses showed 73.6 percent of 
businesses had now and within the next 90 days expected to have a loss of revenue of greater 
than 50 percent. In response to the economic disaster impacts of COVID-19, the Chamber 
requested City Council to immediately create a COVID-19 Small Business Support and 
Recovery Grant Program.  

Page 90 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 10 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

• The administration page of the City’s website, states that the mission of the City is to protect 
and enhance Wilsonville's livability by providing quality service to ensure a safe, attractive, 
and economically vital community while preserving our natural environment and heritage. 
Making grants to small business now was not only consistent with this mission, but was a 
smart, proactive strategy. Providing grants helped mitigate catastrophic economic losses 
today to keep businesses viable and to keep valuable jobs in Wilsonville.  

• The Chamber knew the City wanted to be thoughtful in how it responded to this crisis. The 
Chamber respectfully submitted that this urgent economic need required swift and 
appropriate action now. He recalled when near pedestrian misses occurred at Boeckman Dip 
and near Graham Oaks Nature Park, the City immediately acted and called for major 
sidewalks, guardrails, and crosswalks to be built, and finding money to deal with the 
emergency crisis because there was no planned budget expense line item. 

• No one knows how long the COVID-19 pandemic would last. Medical experts advised that 
the curve on the pandemic needed to be flatten now, so as not to overwhelm the medical 
system. He called for Mayor Knapp and the City Council to flatten the curve for small 
businesses in Wilsonville immediately to help them pay rent, utilities, or payroll by creating a 
COVID-19 Small Business Support and Recovery Grant Program for $500,000. The program 
would consist of two funds.  
• One fund would cover hospitality businesses and would be funded with $250,000 of 

previously received TLT funds that were not spent and were in the General Fund. The 
Tourism Promotion Committee Chair had e-mailed Council about this option.  

• The second fund, also for $250,000, would be used for grants to non-hospitality small 
businesses. City Staff had already potentially identified the funding for this grant portion.  

• Rules and guidelines would be established for the grant program, including who was eligible 
for these grants.  

• The Wilsonville Chamber of Commerce was a first responder for business needs and had 
been working overtime seven days a week to provide essential support to Wilsonville 
businesses. The Chamber was ready to work closely with City Staff and leaders to 
collaborate and create not only a recovery grant short-term program, but also an evolving 
Wilsonville business survival and continuity plan.  

• The Chamber created an  open cloud COVID-19 site bit.ly/waccCOVID19 that contained the 
most current information in one convenient place, including Senator Wyden's and Senator 
Merkley's summaries, SBA summaries, and information on business recovery. Grants and 
Economic Injury Disaster Loans (EIDL) required proper substantiation and documentation, 
and guides were available on the site for assistance with the application process. Clackamas 
Small Business Development Center (SBDC) was also great resource.   

• In working to determine, which businesses received help or not, there were two parts to 
consider. First, there had to be fair guidelines, such as whether the business had a city 
business license and the like. Second, he had compiled a list and created a grid of what other 
cities had done. While solving the entire Wilsonville business assistance problem was 
unlikely, $200,000 going to businesses who met the guideline criteria to immediately help 
them survive a crisis was a warranted public policy objective.  
• He suggested getting a broad-based group around the table to discuss how to make 

decisions, like whether to prioritize smaller versus larger businesses. Establishing the 
criteria would depend on the City’s goals and objectives, and he was confident Council 

Page 91 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 11 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

and City Staff could develop reasonable guidelines. Neighboring cities probably faced the 
same dilemma of having no perfect solution, but picked some guidelines to help at least 
some of the businesses in the interim. Then, a decision could be made down the road 
about what else needed to happen.  

 
Councilor West asked which municipalities and governments had already dipped into TLT funds 
and what pathway was available for Wilsonville to use that money specifically for restaurants 
and hotels.   
 
Mr. O’Malley said the Washington County Visitor Association had created a reasonable formula 
that was fair and had utilized that ruler to determine business eligibility and issued checks to 
those businesses. Travel Oregon had similar upcoming plans. Wilsonville was unique because 
TLT dollars had been collected for years and rightfully put aside for legitimate future projects. 
He believed requesting TLT dollars earned by TLT to go back into saving an industry was a 
reasonable request. While there were legal issues to consider, he did not believe there would be 
any pushback. TLT money was a valid way to explore getting immediate help for the lodging 
and restaurant industries.   
 
Councilor Linville said she had also made a grid of what other cities had done. She agreed it 
would be good to sit down and come up with priorities. Some of the other cities the size of 
Wilsonville had already closed their applications for business assistance, yet Gresham and 
Hillsboro were on a second round of applications. She had seen a variety of business 
requirements across the board, and it was hard to determine where the most good could happen 
in the community. While not everybody could be helped, she agreed something should be done. 
Some cities were looking into dealing with mortgage or rent only, while others focused on 
business continuity issues, such as payroll or insurance. Some employers were trying to keep 
employees by not paying salaries but trying to keep health insurance. She expressed concern for 
businesses that had never had an SBA loan. She asked what the best strategy was to provide 
them with resources so they could access funds in an immediate way to bridge that gap, and how 
long such resources should be provided.  
  
Mr. O’Malley noted that independent contractors or sole proprietors could not apply for the 
Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) until April 10, 2020, so they were weeks behind everybody 
else and that could be an important factor for the City to consider. The faster a dialogue about 
such issues could begin, the faster a decision could be made to meet the needs of the business 
community. He agreed those decisions needed to happen quickly. 
 
Councilor Linville noted she had talked with some businesses who were not interested in the 
loans because they were afraid they would not be able to pay them back.  
 
Mr. O’Malley stated the goal of providing the resources was educating businesses so they could 
make informed decisions. A one percent loan was still a loan, and business owners needed to 
understand all of their options. Human resource workshops were also available on the cloud site 
about what do to with employees and how to lay them off properly. He would continue to keep 
the site updated with the latest available information to assist the business community’s needs.  

Page 92 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 12 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

• He clarified that attractions, like World of Speed were a part of the hospitality industry. 
Travel Oregon had documentation about the economic impact of hospitality broken into 
segments. If the Tourism Promotion Committee formally wanted to make a request, they 
would sift through that documentation to determine which businesses should be part of the 
hospitality industry. The Chamber considered the hospitality industry to include not just hotel 
and lodging properties, but also restaurants and attractions affiliated with hospitality.  

 
Councilor Lehan said they were paying more to the County than the City in Transient Room Tax 
(TRT) and asked if the Chamber had any conversations with the County about the TRT and 
whether any of that was earmarked for the hospitality industry.  
 
Mr. O’Malley said an official conversation had not taken place, but Wilsonville was in a unique 
situation because of the four years money was collected. Destination Marketing Organizations 
(DMOs) elsewhere were going to ground zero and having to rebuild their entire organizations 
because they anticipated a shifted model. Although he was not speaking for them, he believed it 
was unlikely that DMOs would have the resources to provide help, but once past the initial crisis, 
they would focus on getting people from nearby regions to visit. 
 
Councilor Lehan noted the money was currently restricted to being spent on bringing in people 
who were more than 50 miles away. 
 
Mr. O’Malley believed there would be some flexibility. He had spoken with the marketing team 
to ask about shifting their approach right away. They said they would follow the direction of the 
Tourism Promotion Committee and do whatever was necessary to generate tourism dollars. 
Regarding gift cards, he said Hank Jarboe, owner of Boston's Pub and Grill, offered a 20 percent 
increase in purchasing credit with each gift card sale, like a "gift card bond." He also had seen 
other areas of the country using a similar strategy for those patrons who agreed to purchase and 
then hold onto their gift cards for 90 days.  
 
CITIZEN INPUT & COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
This is an opportunity for visitors to address the City Council on items not on the agenda. It is 
also the time to address items that are on the agenda but not scheduled for a public hearing. Staff 
and the City Council will make every effort to respond to questions raised during citizens input 
before tonight's meeting ends or as quickly as possible thereafter. Please limit your comments to 
three minutes. 
 
Garet Prior spoke on the Equitable Housing Strategic Plan, stating it was at a crucial point, as it 
was getting ready to go to the public hearing phase. He believed calling out and defining what 
equity is was crucial in making sure the target audiences were reached. He agreed tough choices 
needed to be made for public health in regards to business support. While not all of the needs of 
the community would be met, there was a symbolic point in providing immediate help and 
showing the relational piece that the City was there to provide a helping hand, even though it had 
tough rules against businesses. Even if $5,000 to $10,000 were given to 20 businesses, it was 
something the City should do as other county, state, and federal programs come in over the next 
two to four weeks.  

Page 93 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 13 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Eric Postma stated that some Wilsonville small businesses had already had to take severe action, 
so he was concerned about the timeliness of any action to be taken. Federal help might not be 
enough, and acting fast was critical to sustain small businesses and the character they provide the 
community. He supported the relief packages discussed, including the use of TLT funds. He 
agreed with Representative Neron that team effort was important and encouraged the City to lean 
on the Chamber of Commerce. He commended Mr. Vance for his fantastic efforts as well as Mr. 
O'Malley for his tireless hard work and role as a significant resource for Wilsonville’s 
businesses.  
 
Mayor Knapp called for a brief recess and reconvened the meeting at 9:55 p.m. 
 
Motion: Councilor Akervall made a motion to extend the meeting to 11:00 p.m. and 

moved to approve the order of the agenda. Councilor West seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes  
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes 
 
Mayor Knapp stated Council needed to provide some sort of guidance to Staff about some kind 
of relief program for Wilsonville, which should consider both individuals and businesses. The 
tourism money in reserve could be directed toward a certain segment, and some immediate 
projects should be implemented rather than some planned, long-term projects. Funds from the 
big pipe project could also be diverted to relief efforts, as well as the programmed income from 
urban renewal, not the actual urban renewal dollars, such as the interest earned on urban renewal 
assets, the most significant being the rental income received from the school district on the 
alternative high school. Staff would need to provide more specific guidance, but it was not 
inconceivable that the City could achieve the magnitude of funds that Mr. O’Malley was 
requesting. However, caution should be taken with this first round of relief efforts as issues in the 
future might require more assistance. He agreed having a group discuss and develop the criteria 
for distributing the funds would be a good place to start.   
 
Councilor Linville recommended forming a group to hash out the possibilities, which should be 
done quickly, and then Council could hold a special meeting to make the final decisions. If a 
Council representative was needed for the special group, she was happy to assist. She highlighted 
the grant ranges offered in other cities, noting Gresham’s grant was based on a per employee 
basis, and only two jurisdictions that did loans. There were a variety of eligibility and size of 
organization requirements. One jurisdiction had a two-tiered system where sole proprietors got 
one level and then organizations with more people got a different level of support. She did not 
believe a relief program would solve the problem, but she supported moving forward. She agreed 

Page 94 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 14 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

an application process would work better as opposed to stating everyone in a certain category 
would qualify, otherwise, the amount of money would be so small it would not be worthwhile to 
do anything.   
 
Councilor West believed a first-come; first-serve approach would affect the relief program, as 
business owners would be more proactive and know their needs. A simple application process 
with a multiple tiered approach, similar to what the Fire Relief Board used for the Fire Relief 
Fund would enable people to receive funds quickly in useful amounts and would allow the City 
discretion in the distribution. Around Christmas time, the Board reassessed the families’ situation 
and issued more checks using the funds that were leftover. The Fire Relief Fund worked well in 
getting people the amount of money they actually needed, not just how much they wanted. 
 
Councilor Linville suggested establishing the criteria, such as overhead, payroll, supply chain, 
etc. and then using a reimbursement approach. The businesses likely already spent that money 
and could be reimbursed after submitting the documentation of those paid expenses, which was 
done in other cities.  
 
Mr. Cosgrove noted the Metro Enhancement Committee had a similar grant reimbursement 
program.  
 
Mayor Knapp noted a reimbursement approach would be difficult for applicants struggling to 
find the money to do anything. 
 
Councilor Linville explained the timeframe for eligible, reimbursable expenses could be over a 
certain period, like to the middle of February. The criteria for those expenses varied in different 
jurisdictions. 
 
Councilor Akervall suggested providing funding to businesses that had not been able to apply for 
other funding programs or that had to delay their applications. Not being able to even apply for 
funding relief would further heighten anxiety. One purpose of the relief program was to give the 
business community some reassurance that the City cared and supported them.  
 
Councilor Linville suggested one simple question to quickly determine eligibility would be to 
ask if the business had ever been approved for an SBA loan. The City did not have the time or 
resources to dig into each the history of each business. 
 
Mr. Cosgrove stated the process needed to be simple and the resources deployed as quickly as 
possible, recognizing, and accepting that it would not be perfect. Jordan Vance and Kevin 
O’Malley could make some criteria recommendations quickly based on what other cities had 
done, such as having a City business license, and the criteria could be discussed at a special 
Council meeting. In the meantime, IT staff could work on creating a website where people could 
apply directly for the relief funds as soon as Council finalized the program’s parameters.  
 
Mayor Knapp confirmed Council wanted to the TLT funds allocated specifically towards 
hospitality businesses and separate from relief to other business sectors.  

Page 95 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 15 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Councilor Lehan said it was difficult to decide without knowing the total funds available. 
Perhaps, the funds could be split into thirds amongst the hospitality industry, non-hospitality 
businesses and to individuals. Tourism funds could be used for the hospitality industry’s portion, 
but maybe the entire $250,000 did not need to be used. She agreed with gift card program 
moving forward and the City buying $20,000 in gift cards from various businesses, not just 
restaurants. She reiterated her concerns about personal services businesses, noting the program 
should be revaluated in a week to see if they were all pushed out. People were not expected to 
use the gift cards right away, the goal was to buy them from businesses and give them to people 
in need. Places like Wilsonville Community Sharing and the Sheriff’s Department could use 
their judgment in liberally distributing them to those in need. Money from the big pipe project 
could go to Wilsonville Community Sharing to help people pay their utility bills. There should 
be some focus on individuals as many employees that were laid off worked in other cities but 
were Wilsonville citizens.  
 
Mayor Knapp noted that dividing the funds in thirds would result in smaller amounts than what 
some had requested.   
 
Mr. Cosgrove suggested the City’s utility assistance program with Wilsonville Community 
Sharing could be expanded to include rental assistance and non-city utilities, such as phone and 
internet. Currently, the program was limited to only city utilities. 
 
Councilor Linville noted other criteria to consider. For example, other cities required a business 
license and that the business has a physical storefront within the city limits; it could not be a part 
of a franchise or a rental store. 
 
Mr. Cosgrove suggested having Mr. Vance and Mr. O’Malley make the first attempt on the 
City’s criteria based on other programs in other jurisdictions and he would work on amending 
the City’s agreement with Wilsonville Community Sharing. Council would then hold a special 
meeting in the next couple of days to discuss the details further. This would allow Council to 
continue with tonight’s agenda in a timely manner. 
 
MAYOR’S BUSINESS 
 

A. City Manager Memos: City Business Friendly Practices and Policies; Proposed City 
Business Grant Programs 

 
Mayor Knapp waived this agenda item given the late hour. 
 

B. Volunteer Appreciation Month Proclamation  
 

C. 22nd Consecutive Tree City USA Designation and Arbor Day Proclamation  
 

Mayor Knapp stated he would sign, but not read aloud, the Volunteer Appreciation Month and 
Arbor Day proclamations submitted by Staff. There were no objections by Council.  

Page 96 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 16 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
D. Upcoming Meetings 

 
No announcements made. 

CITIZEN INPUT AND COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS  

There were none.  

COUNCILOR COMMENTS  
 

A. Council President Akervall  
 

Encouraged people to look into resources available regarding mental health. People could sign 
up at ci.wilsonville.or.us/subscribe to receive news releases via email and receive information 
quickly, and on the Oregon Health Authority’s website to sign up for automatic emails or text 
messages about current conditions in the state.  

 
Mr. Cosgrove added that counseling services were also offered in the Heart of the City building 
where Wilsonville Community Sharing was located. He noted Bill Evans would push out on 
social media about how to sign up for the news releases. Additional information would be posted 
on the COVID response page on the City’s website. 
 

B. Councilor Lehan  
 
Noted the slideshow on the home page of the City’s website slideshow changed too fast.  

 
Mr. Cosgrove noted the City’s IT Staff in the audience indicated they understood and would 
address the problem.  

 
C. Councilor West  

 
No comments. 
 

D. Councilor Linville 
 
No comments. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of the Consent Agenda item into the record. 
 

A. Resolution No. 2805 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing A First Amendment To Grant 
Agreement With Wilsonville Community Sharing.  

Page 97 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 17 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Mr. Cosgrove highlighted the Staff report, noting that up to $10,000 would be added for 
residents to use for City utility bills.  
 
Motion: Councilor West moved to approve the consent agenda as read. Councilor Lehan 

seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes  
Council President Akervall Yes  
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 

A. Resolution No. 2807 
A Resolution And Order Amending Resolution No. 2803 To Extend The Local State Of 
Emergency And Emergency Measures, As Authorized by Resolution No. 2803.  

 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of Resolution No. 2807 into the record.  
 
Ms. Jacobson explained the current emergency resolution would be extended to the end of May 
rather than ending on May 6, 2020, adding Council could always cancel the State of Emergency 
should conditions improve sooner than expected.  
 
Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to approve Resolution No. 2807. Councilor Akervall 

seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes  
Council President Akervall Yes  
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 

B. Resolution No. 2808 
A Resolution And Order Regarding Sign Code Enforcement During Emergency 
Declaration Period.  

 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of Resolution No. 2808 into the record. 

Page 98 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 18 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Ms. Jacobson overviewed the Staff report, explaining that this resolution would relax Sign Code 
enforcement for properly placed temporary signs during the emergency period due to conditions 
related to the upcoming election, the governor’s stay in place order, and the changing signing 
needs of businesses. This would keep the Code enforcement officer from having to go out, 
remove temporary signs, and disobey the stay in place order.  
 
She noted a third resolution regarded a second sign ordinance was suggested by the Mayor to 
allow signs to be placed in the median provided they did not create a health or safety issue or 
damage landscaping. That resolution was not in the packet. 
 
Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to approve Resolution No. 2808. Councilor West 

seconded the motion. 
 
Mayor Knapp believed Council would regret passing the resolution long before the state of 
emergency ended because it would result in a big jumble of every conceivable sign imaginable. 
He clarified he was proposing an alternative to Resolution No. 2808, not a third resolution, that 
would allow A-boards to be placed in the right-of-way where they were not normally allowed to 
provide restaurants room for more advertising. He did not intend to allow for the A-board signs 
while also stopping enforcement of the Code for temporary signs. He expected many Sign Code 
violations, which would require the Code enforcement officer to be out anyway. 
  
Councilor West said the City did not have the resources to police signs and people were trying to 
shelter and stay home. He had good faith that the citizens would not abuse a temporarily relaxed 
Sign Code. He confirmed the Mayor’s alternative would not place signs in the median, but in 
right-of-way areas, such as in front of restaurants. He did not believe the Sign Code was a huge 
priority right now and agreed the ordinance was a good idea and would help promote sheltering 
in place. 
 
Mayor Knapp noted one group had already violated the Sign Code today by not picking up their 
signs and pushing the envelope, so he was a bit skeptical about people being good citizens. 
 
Councilor Lehan agreed sheltering in place was more important than running around picking up 
signs. She doubted it would result in a big mess because signs were very expensive. The state of 
emergency and the election would end, and the City did not need Staff fiddling with Sign Code 
enforcement unless there was a public safety issue, and people should not be more exposed than 
they needed to be. 
 
Mayor Knapp confirmed with Staff that the wording “legally placed signs would not be picked 
up” implied that illegal signs would still be picked up.  
 
Ms. Jacobson clarified signs that were not picked up would technically be illegal, but that was 
what the City was going to forego. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 4-1. 

Page 99 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 19 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   No  
Council President Akervall Yes  
Councilor Lehan  Yes 
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
CONTINUING BUSINESS 
 

A. None. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. Resolution No. 2804 (Legislative Hearing) 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville To Amend The Adopted 2012 Stormwater 
Master Plan Project List (Table 9-2 – Prioritized CIP Projects) To Add Projects SD- 
2163-2167 & 2437-2446: Pipeline Upsizing On Ridder Road And Peters Road And St-7: 
Boeckman Creek At Boeckman Road Stormwater Study. (Huffman) 

 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of Resolution No. 2804 into the record. 
 
Mayor Knapp read the conduct of public hearing format and opened the public hearing at 10:43 
p.m.  
 
No Councilor declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from information gained outside 
the hearing. No member of the audience challenged any of the Councilor’s participation. 
 
Dominique Huffman, Civil Engineer, presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, noting the 
resolution would add two, short-term projects to the project list to make them eligible for system 
development charge (SDC) funding. The first project would upsize pipeline segments to serve 
the Coffee Creek Industrial Area build out. The Stormwater Study project was needed for the 
Boeckman Dip project to help Staff better understand the impacts of the project’s alternatives as 
well as any proposed modifications on the entire corridor. 
 
Mayor Knapp confirmed there were no questions of Staff and that no one was present in Council 
Chambers or via Zoom to provide public testimony. Seeing none, he closed the public hearing at 
10:47 p.m. 
 
Motion: Councilor West moved to approve Resolution No. 2804. Councilor Linville 

seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
  

Page 100 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 20 OF 20 
APRIL 6, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\11. 4.6.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes  
Council President Akervall Yes  
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
CITY MANAGER’S BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Cosgrove recapped the feedback received earlier in the meeting regarding the City’s relief 
program. He noted Kimberly Veliz would check with the Councilors on their availability for a 
special meeting, likely on either Wednesday or Thursday of this week. He suggested that Council 
e-mail any specific criteria, ideas, or concerns to him so it share them with Mr. Jordan to discuss 
with Mr. O’Malley. He noted that any relief actions taken by Council would likely require some 
supplemental budgets in order to allocate funds appropriately. He would communicate any 
scheduling requirements needed to comply with public hearing notice laws. He confirmed 
Wilsonville and other cities have requested some relaxing on the noticing laws to allow cities to 
be more nimble, but had received no response from the State. He confirmed Representative 
Neron made inquiries on the City’s behalf. 
 
LEGAL BUSINESS 
 
No report. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Knapp adjourned the meeting at 10:52 p.m. 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Tim Knapp, Mayor 
 

Page 101 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES PAGE 1 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

A regular meeting of the Wilsonville City Council was held at the Wilsonville City Hall 
beginning at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, October 5, 2020. Mayor Knapp called the meeting to order at 
7:02 p.m., followed by roll call and the Pledge of Allegiance.  

The following City Council members were present: 
Mayor Knapp  
Council President Akervall  
Councilor Lehan 
Councilor West 
Councilor Linville 

Staff present included: 
Bryan Cosgrove, City Manager 
Jeanna Troha, Assistant City Manager 
Barbara Jacobson, City Attorney 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
Chris Neamtzu, Community Development Director 
Dan Pauly, Planning Manager 
Kimberly Rybold, Senior Planner 
Beth Wolf, Senior Systems Analyst  
Zach Weigel, Capital Projects Engineering Manager 

Motion to approve the order of the agenda. 

Motion: Councilor Akervall moved to approve the order of the agenda. Councilor Lehan 
seconded the motion. 

Vote: Motion carried 5-0. 

SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp  Yes 
Council President Akervall Yes 
Councilor Lehan Yes 
Councilor West Yes 
Councilor Linville Yes 

MAYOR’S BUSINESS 

A. Upcoming Meetings

Upcoming meetings were announced by the Mayor as well as the regional meetings he attended 
on behalf of the City.   

Page 102 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 2 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

B. Tourism Promotion Committee Appointment 
 
Appointment of Brian Everest to the Tourism Promotion Committee, Position 6 for a term 
beginning 10/5/2020 to 6/30/2021. 
 
Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to ratify the appointment of Brian Everest to the Tourism 

Promotion Committee, Position 6 for a term beginning 10/5/2020 to 6/30/2021. 
Councilor West seconded the motion. 

 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes  
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 

A. None. 
 
CITIZEN INPUT & COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
This is an opportunity for visitors to address the City Council on items not on the agenda. It is 
also the time to address items that are on the agenda but not scheduled for a public hearing. Staff 
and the City Council will make every effort to respond to questions raised during citizens input 
before tonight's meeting ends or as quickly as possible thereafter. Please limit your comments to 
three minutes. 
 
Attorney Michael Robinson spoke in support of Resolution No. 2842. The resolution revises the 
template for development and annexation agreement for the Frog Pond West Development. 
 
COUNCILOR COMMENTS  
 

A. Council President Akervall 
 
Council President Akervall listed the following upcoming community events: 

• Harvest Festival  
• Find the Pumpkin Activity 
• Chalk the Park 
• Virtual Costume Contest 
• Kinder Carnival 
• Friends of the Library collecting book donations 

 
Ms. Akervall reported she would be attending the League of Oregon Cities annual conference. 

Page 103 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 3 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
B. Councilor Lehan  

 
Announced a KGW news segment was played this evening for which she was interviewed about 
Pleasant View Cemetery. The news station highlighted various cemeteries, as October is historic 
cemetery appreciation month. Ms. Lehan encouraged the audience to visit local cemeteries. 
 

C. Councilor West  
 

Councilor West reported on his participation with Wilsonville Wednesdays, which highlights 
local small businesses, nonprofits, and organizations. He noted there are now 20-plus episodes, 
which can be viewed on YouTube. 
 
Mr. West mentioned he has had conversations with the community about the Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention guidelines for holiday celebrations. Furthermore, encouraged others to 
view the guidelines on cdc.gov and find creative and innovative ways to celebrate the holidays. 
 
He then announced the following activities: 

• Bulky Waste Day returns on Saturday, October 10, 2020 9:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. on Ridder 
Road in Wilsonville. 

• Deadline to apply for the Wilsonville Citizens Academy is Saturday, October 31, 2020. 
 

D. Councilor Linville 
 
Councilor Linville reported she worked with the Wilsonville Community Sharing to help them 
gear up to use the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention process for moratoriums. 
Furthermore, the governor extended the renters moratorium in Oregon until the end of 
December. Ms. Linville shared there will be futures issues because those that have been involved 
in a moratorium are still accruing debt.  
 
Informed the City is accepting public comment on the draft Arts, Culture and Heritage Strategy 
through October 20, 2020. Moreover, the draft Arts, Culture and Heritage Strategy is scheduled 
for Work Session on October 19, 2020. Council is scheduled to vote on adoption of the strategy 
on November 16, 2020. 
 
Recalled the Friends of the Library are collecting donations on Wednesday, October 7, 2020. 
 
Charbonneau’s Farmers Market is happening on Fridays from 3:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. until 
October 16, 2020 and the event is undercover. 
 
Briefed the Willamette Falls Locks Commission is not optimistic there is going to be money 
forthcoming through the legislature any time soon for the project. The commission plans to 
monitor the situation in hopes of moving forward. However, the staff that was being hired by the 
funding is gone.  
  

Page 104 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 4 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Ms. Jacobson read the titles of the Consent Agenda items into the record. 
 

A. Resolution No. 2852 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing South Metro Area Regional 
Transit (SMART) To Purchase One CNG Fueled Trolley From Creative Bus Sales.  

 
B. Minutes of the September 16, 2019; October 21, 2019; December 16, 2019 and 

September 10, 2020 City Council Meetings. 
 
Motion: Councilor Akervall moved to approve the Consent Agenda. Councilor Linville 

seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of the Resolution No. 2842 into the record. 
 

A. Resolution No. 2842 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Revising The Template For A Development 
And Annexation Agreement For Frog Pond West Development And Amending 
Resolution No. 2649.  

 
Chris Neamtzu, Community Development Director provided the staff report and the PowerPoint. 
The PowerPoint has been made a part of the record. 
 
Council questions and comments followed. 
 
Motion: Councilor Akervall moved to approve Resolution No. 2842. Councilor Linville 

seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
  

Page 105 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 5 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 

SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of the Resolution No. 2853 into the record. 
 

B. Resolution No. 2853 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville To Select The Preferred Bridge Alternative For 
The I-5 Pedestrian Bridge Project (CIP #4202). 

 
City staff Zach Weigel, Capital Projects Engineering Manager, and Kim Rybold, Senior Planner 
provided the PowerPoint, which has been made a part of the record. Consultants Bob Goodrich 
of DOWL and MIG staff Alex Dupey, Casey Howard, and Melissa Erikson joined the duo. 
 
Staffed shared the following three bridge options: 

• Cable-Stayed 
• Tied-Arch 
• Modern Artistic 

 
Staff explained the Planning Commission identified the tied-arch bridge design alternative as 
best meeting the Project’s themes and priorities.  
 
Council discussion about their bridge preferences and design elements ensued.  
 
Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to affirm the recommendation of the Planning 

Commission submission of all three elements of their recommendation and 
approval Resolution No. 2853. Councilor Akervall seconded the motion. 

 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
  

Page 106 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 6 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

CONTINUING BUSINESS 
 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of the Ordinance No. 842 into the record on second reading. 
 
Ms. Jacobson reported that planning staff advised that there has been no additional comment or 
information on Ordinance No. 842. 
 

A. Ordinance No. 842 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Annexing Approximately 17.57 Acres Of 
Property Located On The West Side Of SW Stafford Road South Of SW Frog Pond Lane 
Into The City Limits Of The City Of Wilsonville, Oregon; The Land Is More Particularly 
Described As Tax Lots 1500 And 1700, A Portion Of SW Frog Pond Lane Right-Of-
Way, And A Portion Of SW Stafford Road Right-Of-Way, Section 12D, Township 3 
South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, Clackamas County, Oregon. Walter 
Remmers, William Ray Morgan, And Janice Ellen Morgan, Petitioners.  
 

Motion: Councilor West moved to adopt Ordinance No. 842 on seconding reading. 
Councilor Linville seconded the motion. 

 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of the Ordinance No. 843 into the record on second reading. 
 
Ms. Jacobson reported that planning staff advised that there has been no additional comment or 
information on Ordinance No. 843. 
 

B. Ordinance No. 843 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Approving A Zone Map Amendment From 
The Clackamas County Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-Acre (RRFF-5) Zone To The 
Residential Neighborhood (RN) Zone On Approximately 15.93 Acres On The West Side 
Of SW Stafford Road South Of SW Frog Pond Lane; The Land Is More Particularly 
Described As Tax Lots 1500 And 1700, Section 12D, Township 3 South, Range 1 West, 
Willamette Meridian, Clackamas County, Oregon. West Hills Land Development LLC, 
Applicant.  

 
Motion: Councilor West moved to adopt Ordinance No. 843 on second reading. Councilor 

Linville seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0.  

Page 107 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 7 OF 7 
OCTOBER 5, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\12. 10.5.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. None.  
 
CITY MANAGER’S BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Cosgrove cleared up misinformation about the delayed opening of the dog park. He 
informed the dog park had been behind schedule due to the wildfires and supply chain 
interruptions due to COVID-19. Furthermore, he shared there is no truth to the rumor that the 
City is turning the new dog park into a BMX track. He then announced the new dog park would 
open to the public Friday, October 16, 2020. Council was invited to a soft opening of the dog 
park on Wednesday, October 14, 2020 at 11:00 a.m. 
 
Mr. Cosgroe addressed another rumor on social media that the City's gives the Friends of French 
Prairie $60,000 a year. Mr. Cosgrove shared this is untrue and the only relationship the City has 
with the organization is that a City Councilor regularly attends those meetings along with a 
group of local elected officials from Marion and Clackamas counties and cities. 
 
LEGAL BUSINESS 
 
No Report. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Knapp adjourned the meeting at 8:48 p.m. 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Tim Knapp, Mayor 
 

Page 108 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES PAGE 1 OF 6 
OCTOBER 19, 2020 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\13.10.19.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

A regular meeting of the Wilsonville City Council was held at the Wilsonville City Hall 
beginning at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, October 19, 2020. Mayor Knapp called the meeting to order 
at 7:09 p.m., followed by roll call and the Pledge of Allegiance.  

The following City Council members were present: 
Mayor Knapp  
Council President Akervall  
Councilor Lehan 
Councilor West 
Councilor Linville 

Staff present included: 
Bryan Cosgrove, City Manager 
Jeanna Troha, Assistant City Manager 
Barbara Jacobson, City Attorney 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
Jordan Vance, Economic Develop. Manager 
Beth Wolf, Systems Analyst 
Andy Stone, IT Director 

Motion to approve the order of the agenda. 

Motion: Councilor Linville moved to approve the order of the agenda. Councilor Lehan 
seconded the motion. 

Vote: Motion carried 5-0. 

SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp  Yes 
Council President Akervall Yes 
Councilor Lehan Yes 
Councilor West Yes 
Councilor Linville Yes 

MAYOR’S BUSINESS 

A. Upcoming Meetings

Upcoming meetings were announced by the Mayor as well as the regional meetings he attended 
on behalf of the City.   

COMMUNICATIONS 

A. None.

Page 109 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 2 OF 6 
OCTOBER 19, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\13.10.19.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

CITIZEN INPUT & COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
This is an opportunity for visitors to address the City Council on items not on the agenda. It is 
also the time to address items that are on the agenda but not scheduled for a public hearing. Staff 
and the City Council will make every effort to respond to questions raised during citizens input 
before tonight's meeting ends or as quickly as possible thereafter. Please limit your comments to 
three minutes. 
 
Kevin Ferrasci O'Malley, CEO of Wilsonville Area Chamber of Commerce spoke in support of 
Resolution No. 2856, which establishes the Wilsonville Investment Now (WIN) Program 
Administrative Rules. 
 
COUNCILOR COMMENTS  
 

A. Council President Akervall 
 
Reported she attended the virtual League of Oregon Cities annual conference. In addition, Ms. 
Akervall announced her plans to attend the following future meetings: 

• Home Builders Association presentation on the book Color of Law.  
• Willamette Intake Facilities meeting. 

 
B. Councilor Lehan  

 
Ms. Lehan reminded the audience to vote in the upcoming election. 
 

C. Councilor West  
 
Announced the new dog park at Memorial Park opened on October 16, 2020. Mr. West also 
mentioned construction is underway for a dog park in Villebois. 
 
Mr. West encouraged the audience to enroll in the Citizens Academy. Deadline for applications 
is October 31, 2020. 
 
Also, reminded everyone to vote and shared there is a ballot drop box at City Hall.  
 

D. Councilor Linville 
 
Ms. Linville shared she attended the virtual League of Oregon Cities annual conference and 
plans to attend the French Prairie Forum. 
 
Ms. Linville mentioned the below highlights from City Manager reports: 

• Opening of the new dog park. 
• Reported that Building Inspection staff performed remote inspections via FaceTime when 

City Hall was closed due to the wildfires and poor air quality. 
• Parks playgrounds opened up this month. 

Page 110 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 3 OF 6 
OCTOBER 19, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\13.10.19.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

• SMART staff provided outreach in English and Spanish for residents at Autumn Park 
apartments. 

 
In closing, Councilor Linville wondered if the City could collaborate with restaurants that are 
going to lose the extra outdoor capacity due to the change in seasons. 
 
Staff updated the City of Wilsonville has partnered with neighboring cities to offer a webinar 
series over the next six months and the first topic of discussion is how to prepare businesses for 
winter sales, specifically restaurants. During the webinar, an architecture firm is going to talk 
about site plans, signage, and outdoor dining environments and how to extend outdoor dining 
into the rainy season. Moreover, these webinars have been promoted to all of the restaurants in 
Wilsonville. In addition, the City is extending the Dine Out Wilsonville program, which 
expedites requests for outdoor dining and waives any associated fees with those requests. 
 
Staff plans to bring back to Council other ideas to initiate. including possible grant programs. In 
addition, staff will work with the Wilsonville Chamber of Commerce on the plans. Moving 
forward staff will meet with local restaurants and dining establishments to figure out their 
specific needs. Staff reminded a first step for these plans is for Council to approve Resolution 
No. 2858, which as removes much of the bureaucracy possible by waiving fees and allowing 
planning staff to turn site plans around as quickly as possible. 
 
Council provided staff with additional ideas to assist businesses affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Ms. Jacobson read the titles of the Consent Agenda items into the record. 
 

A. Resolution No. 2841 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing The City Manager To Execute A 
Professional Services Agreement With Murraysmith To Provide Engineering Consulting 
Services For The Corral Creek And Rivergreen Lift Stations Rehabilitation Project 
(Capital Improvement Project #2105).  

 
B. Resolution No. 2854 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing The City Manager To Execute A 
Construction Contract With Schneider Equipment, Inc. Dba Schneider Water Services 
For Construction Of The Elligsen Well Upgrades And Maintenance Project (Capital 
Improvement Project 1128).  

 
C. Resolution No. 2855 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing The City Manager To Execute A 
Professional Services Agreement Contract With Otak, Inc. For Construction Engineering 
Services For The 5th Street / Kinsman Road Extension Project (Capital Improvement 
Project #1139, 2099, 4196).  

  

Page 111 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 4 OF 6 
OCTOBER 19, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\13.10.19.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
D. Minutes of the April 15, 2019; September 21, 2020; and October 12, 2020 City Council 

Meetings. 
 
Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to approve the Consent Agenda as read. Councilor 

Akervall seconded the motion. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 

A. Resolution No. 2856 
A Resolution Of The Wilsonville City Council Establishing The Wilsonville Investment 
Now (WIN) Program Administrative Rules. 

 
Ms. Jacobson read the title of Resolution No. 2856 into the record. 
 
Jordan Vance, Economic Development Manager along with Nick Popenuk of Tiberius Solutions 
presented the staff report and PowerPoint. Both of which has been entered into the record. 
 
Council discussion ensued. 
 
Motion: Councilor Akervall moved to approve Resolution No. 2856. Councilor Lehan 

seconded the motion. 
 
Additional Council comments were made. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
  

Page 112 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 5 OF 6 
OCTOBER 19, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\13.10.19.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

B. Resolution No. 2858 
A Resolution And Order Amending Resolution No. 2844 To Further Extend The Local 
State Of Emergency And Emergency Measures, As Authorized By Resolution No. 2803. 
 

Ms. Jacobson read the title of Resolution No. 2858 into the record. 
 
Ms. Jacobson then explained the City of Wilsonville has been following along with the 
governor’s orders and extending the City’s order when the governor extends the order for the 
state. Doing so allows the City the opportunity to tap into funding and provides flexibility with 
the Wilsonville Code. This resolution extends the emergency declaration to December 31, 2020.  
 
Furthermore, this amended order is unique because it allows the City under the emergency 
declaration to give the Planning Director authority to authorize some temporary use permits 
longer than would normally be allowed. It also provides the ability to waive fees in order to help 
businesses in commercial and industrial areas that are in need of a temporary structure. For 
example, perhaps a covered area is needed at vet clinics so people can drop off their pets or a 
covered area to allow for additional outdoor seating or other amenities to accommodate for more 
dining outside. 
 
Motion: Councilor Lehan moved to approve Resolution No. 2858. Councilor Linville 

seconded the motion. 
 
Council comments followed. 
 
Vote:  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES 
Mayor Knapp   Yes   
Council President Akervall Yes   
Councilor Lehan  Yes  
Councilor West  Yes  
Councilor Linville  Yes  
 
CONTINUING BUSINESS 
 

A. None.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. None.  
 
CITY MANAGER’S BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Cosgrove mentioned the soft grand opening of the new dog park and listed its amenities. 
Furthermore, Mr. Cosgrove appreciated and acknowledged the staff members who completed the 
project. 

Page 113 of 169



CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  PAGE 6 OF 6 
OCTOBER 19, 2020   
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\13.10.19.2020 City Council Minutes.docx 

 
Mr. Cosgrove announced the City is hosting a virtual listening session on December 8, 2020 
from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m., to hear community perspectives on issues related to diversity, 
equity, and inclusion (DEI). He then informed Council of next steps in the process of forming a 
DEI taskforce. The taskforces would meet January through September 2021 and then return the 
fall of 2021 with a recommendation to Council on the formation of a DEI committee. 
 
In addition, staff has been working with a small group of individuals, and the Clackamas County 
Sheriff's office regarding policing concerns. Question and answer sessions are being planned 
with experts and the Clackamas County Sheriff's office to provide education on topics and to set 
a good foundation with the community. From the dialogue received in these sessions staff will 
figure out the process needed going forward.  
 
LEGAL BUSINESS 
 
Reminded Council she had sent them a proposed ordinance that the Marion County Board of 
Commissioners is planning to adopt on the application of TLM Holding, LLC. It was further 
shared that a representative from Marion County would like to speak to Council directly before 
deciding to appeal. 
 
Council agreed to place Marion County on the November 2, 2020 agenda under the 
communications portions of the meeting. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Knapp adjourned the meeting at 8:19 p.m. 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Tim Knapp, Mayor 
 

Page 114 of 169



City Council Review of Development Review Board Resolution No. 382 Staff Report Page 1 of 5 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: November 2, 2020 Subject: City Council Review of Development 
Review Board Resolution No. 382  
Review of the Record for the SW Magnolia 
Townhomes Project in Wilsonville’s Old Town 
Neighborhood 

Staff Member: Cindy Luxhoj AICP, Associate 
Planner 

Department: Community Development

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

☒ Motion ☒ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☐ Not Applicable
☐ Resolution Comments: At the September 28, 2020 meeting, the 

Development Review Board Panel B adopted 
Resolution 382 with a 3-1 vote, approving with 
conditions a Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review, 
and Type C Tree Removal Plan for a 6-unit townhome 
development at 30535 SW Magnolia Avenue. 

☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda

Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council affirm DRB Resolution 
382 approving the proposed development.

Recommended Language for Motion: I move to affirm DRB Resolution 382.

Project / Issue Relates To: 

☐Council Goals/Priorities: ☐Adopted Master Plan(s): ☒Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL:  
Review of the record for the approval of a Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review, and Type C 
Tree Removal Plan for the SW Magnolia Townhomes Project. 

Page 115 of 169



City Council Review of Development Review Board Resolution No. 382 Staff Report  Page 2 of 5 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
On December 23, 2019, the City received an application for Stage II Final Plan, Site Design 
Review, and Type C Tree Removal Plan review for the SW Magnolia Avenue Townhomes, a 6-
unit proposed development at 30535 SW Magnolia Avenue (see location map on page 5 of 61 of 
the Staff Report in Exhibit D). The project site is the last vacant, undeveloped lot in the Wilsonville 
Square 76 Master Plan and located at the north end of SW Magnolia Avenue in Wilsonville’s Old 
Town Neighborhood.  
 
Prior to the application submittal, the City held a Pre-Application meeting with the applicant on 
August 29, 2019, at which time staff suggested the applicant hold a neighborhood meeting, even 
though it is not required by the Development Code, to give Old Town residents an opportunity to 
discuss the proposed project with the developer. The Applicant held a Neighborhood Meeting on 
October 29, 2019. The Applicant noted that three key issues were identified at the meeting: off-
street parking and density, building height and privacy, and architecture. The Applicant’s materials 
state that certain design changes were made to respond to these key issues prior to submittal of 
their final design on December 23, 2019. After two incompleteness reviews, staff deemed the 
application complete on June 25, 2020, and scheduled a public hearing on the matter for August 
24, 2020.  
 
On August 4, 2020, staff sent the required public notices, and all proper notification procedures 
were satisfied. Development Review Board (DRB) Panel B considered the matter at a public 
hearing on August 24, 2020, and due to substantial public testimony received, continued the 
hearing to a date certain of September 28, 2020 (see Exhibit F for transcript). The purpose of the 
continuation, as captured in the approved motion, was to encourage the Applicant to reach out to 
neighbors to address issues voiced by the neighbors regarding height, design, parking, and traffic. 
The motion to continue held the record open for Resolution No. 382.  
 
A response from the Applicant and the Applicant’s attorney was submitted to the DRB between 
the August 24 and September 28 public hearings (see Exhibit E). The Applicant noted the key 
areas of concern raised during the public testimony at the August 24, 2020 DRB Hearing were the 
same as those presented during the Neighborhood Meeting they previously held on October 29, 
2019, and therefore, chose not to hold a neighborhood meeting between the two hearings. The 
Applicant provided a summary of how the design submitted in the final application was previously 
modified to respond to neighborhood concerns regarding those issues of height, design, parking, 
and density/traffic, while still meeting the requirements of the Wilsonville Development Code (see 
Exhibit E for full response). In summary, the applicant’s response states: 

• They integrated a gable roof at a height that is within the allowed height by the 
Development Code for a single-family residence, and prior to the September 28 hearing 
agreed to reduce the height by another 1.5 feet; 

• They proposed a traditional main street orientation of townhomes rather than a single 
apartment building / block massing, broken up among two buildings and vertically by unit, 
to provide traditional architectural forms and better integrated outdoor common space, 
making the project more pedestrian-oriented;  

  

Page 116 of 169



City Council Review of Development Review Board Resolution No. 382 Staff Report  Page 3 of 5 

• The design doubled the on-site parking to 12 spaces from the initial design (and 
Development Code requirement) of 6; and 

• They could not reduce the density of the project, by even 1 unit, because it would result in 
non-compliance with the minimum density shown on the Comprehensive Plan Map. 
 

The Applicant’s supplemental materials also note that the applications must be reviewed based on 
the applicable standards and criteria set forth in the Wilsonville Development Code, and that none 
of the opponents at the public hearing challenged the applicant’s compliance with these clear and 
objective standards. The Applicant’s team further highlighted that while they are not required to, 
they also integrated design elements that would be complimentary/consistent with the Wilsonville 
Old Town Single-Family Design Standards: “The team landed on a blended aesthetic styling of 
Western Farmhouse and Ranch architectural elements as described within those standards. 
Elements such as gabled roofs and their associated slopes, the expressing of that gabled profile, 
covered entries, large forward-facing picture windows, shingle siding, minimal eaves, and attached 
garages are all elements of these styles denoted in those standards and present in the proposed 
design.” 
 
In an attempt to assist the DRB in both preparing for the September 28 public hearing and also in 
determining whether the application met the various requirements of the Wilsonville Development 
Code as it related to concerns raised by neighbors, staff published a revised staff report on 
September 21 (Exhibit D). Staff summarized public comment by key concern area and listed the 
relevant code sections for clarity (see page 63-65 of 66, Exhibit D). Staff re-formatted the findings 
for the Old Town Overlay Zone requirements to clarify how the various standards were met by the 
application (see page 51-53 of 66, Exhibit D). Staff also corrected Finding A29 to respond to an 
inaccuracy articulated through citizen comment.  
 
Findings for all review criteria applicable to the applications were presented in the staff report. 
Findings relevant to the key areas of concern raised by citizens can be found on the following 
pages of the Staff Report in Exhibit D:  

• Findings related to height guidelines are provided on page 28 of 66. The standard is met. 
• A summary related to site design is presented on pages 7-10 of 66. Findings related to site 

design review begin on page 45 of 66, with Findings B34 through B54 related to the Old 
Town Overlay Zone provided on pages 50-53 of 66. Subjective design criteria cannot be 
grounds for denial of a housing project. All standards are met.  

• Finding A28 related to allowed uses and density is presented on page 29 of 66. The standard 
is met. 

• Findings related to parking are provided on pages 33-36 of 66 and discussion provided on 
page 9 of 66. All standards are met.  

• Findings related to traffic are provided on pages 26-27 and 30-31 of 66 and discussion 
provided on page 6 of 66. All standards are met.  

The staff report also included a recommendation to the DRB to approve with conditions the 
requested Stage II Final Plan Revision, Site Design Review, and Type C Tree Removal Plan 
(DB19-0047 through DB19-0049). 
  

Page 117 of 169



City Council Review of Development Review Board Resolution No. 382 Staff Report  Page 4 of 5 

 
At the continued hearing, the DRB took additional testimony from the public and the applicant 
(see Exhibit C for transcript). After closing the public hearing, the DRB moved to approve the 
applications. Discussion highlighted their understanding of citizen concerns and also the need to 
rule based on the Development Code. DRB members determined the applications met existing 
City Code. Following their deliberation, the DRB approved with conditions the development 
application in DRB Resolution 382.  
 
During the appeal period, the City Council held a special meeting on October 12, 2020, to discuss 
DRB Resolution 382 as members of the public had reached out to members of the City Council. 
The Council unanimously voted to call-up DRB Resolution 382 for review on the record only by 
the full Council in order to gain an understanding of the case file and decision. The approval 
granted by DRB Resolution 382 is suspended until the City Council acts on the call-up. The full 
record associated with DRB Resolution 382 is attached to this staff report.  
 
Staff will also be available at the City Council meeting to answer any clarifying questions the 
Council may have regarding the information in the record. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS:  
Reviewing the record and affirming DRB Resolution 382, which in effect will allow the proposed 
development to move forward.  
 
TIMELINE:  
The City Council’s decision will become effective immediately. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
No impacts on the current year budget have been identified. 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 10/22/2020 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 10/23/2020 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS: The applicant voluntarily held a neighborhood 
meeting on October 29, 2019, to provide opportunity for Old Town Neighborhood residents to 
comment on the proposed project. Following receipt of the development application and deeming 
it complete, staff scheduled the date for DRB review and sent the required public hearing notices. 
Substantial public testimony was received in writing in advance of and at the DRB public hearing 
on August 24, 2020, as well as at the continued public hearing on September 28, 2020. All public 
testimony was considered and entered into the record as required. 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:  
Development of the subject land will provide additional housing choices. 
  

Page 118 of 169



City Council Review of Development Review Board Resolution No. 382 Staff Report  Page 5 of 5 

 
ALTERNATIVES:  
The alternatives are to affirm, reverse, modify in whole or part, or remand with or without 
instruction DRB Resolution 382. Reversing or modifying the decision could result in appeal by 
the Applicant to the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals. Remanding the DRB’s decision will 
delay the development as proposed and could result in additional conditions of the project that may 
or may not be amenable to the Applicant. The Applicant has extended the 120-day decision 
timeline until November 30, 2020, and a remand could be accommodated at the DRB Panel B 
meeting on November 23, 2020. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
1. Full Record for DRB Resolution 382 can be found at the following links: 

A. Applicant’s Waiver of 120-day Rule 
B. Notice of Decision including Amended & Adopted DRB Staff Report and Applicant’s 

Acknowledgement Accepting Conditions of Approval 
C. Full Transcript of September 28, 2020 DRB Hearing 
D. DRB Packet, September 28, 2020 Hearing, including Staff Report and Exhibits (A3, D7) 
E. New Exhibits Presented, September 28, 2020 Hearing, (Exhibits B4-B5 and D8-D10)  
F. Full Transcript, August 24, 2020 Hearing 
G. DRB Packet, August 24, 2020 Hearing, including Staff Report and Exhibits (C1, D1-D6) 
H. Exhibit A2, DRB Staff Report, August 24, 2020 Hearing, Staff’s Presentation Slides 
I. Exhibit B1, DRB Staff Report, August 24, 2020 Hearing, Applicant Submittal Materials 
J. Exhibit B2, DRB Staff Report, August 24, 2020 Hearing, Applicant Submittal Materials 
K. Exhibit B3, DRB Staff Report, August 24, 2020 Hearing, Applicant Submittal Materials 
L. Public Hearing Notice 

Page 119 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_a_applicant_waiver.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_a_applicant_waiver.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_b_drb_decision_aasr.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_b_drb_decision_aasr.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_b_drb_decision_aasr.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_b_drb_decision_aasr.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_c_09.28.2020_hearing_transcript.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_c_09.28.2020_hearing_transcript.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_d_09.28.2020_hearing_packet.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_d_09.28.2020_hearing_packet.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_e_new_exhibits_presented_09.28.2020.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_e_new_exhibits_presented_09.28.2020.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_f_08.24.2020_hearing_transcript.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_f_08.24.2020_hearing_transcript.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_g_08.24.2020_hearing_packet.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_g_08.24.2020_hearing_packet.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_h_ex._a2_staff_pp_pres._08.24.2020.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_h_ex._a2_staff_pp_pres._08.24.2020.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_i_ex._b1_applicant_submittal.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_i_ex._b1_applicant_submittal.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_j_ex._b2_applicant_plan_set.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_j_ex._b2_applicant_plan_set.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_k_ex._b3_applicant_supplemental_drawing_package.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_k_ex._b3_applicant_supplemental_drawing_package.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_l_public_hearing_notice.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/engineering/project/101831/council_exhibit_l_public_hearing_notice.pdf


Resolution No. 2859 Staff Report Page 1 of 2 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: November 2, 2020 Subject: Resolution No. 2859 
Discontinuation of South Metro Area Regional 
Transit’s (SMART) Charbonneau Shuttle 

Staff Member: Dwight Brashear, Transit Director 
Eric Loomis, Operations Manager 

Department: Transit 
Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 

Recommendation  
☒ Motion ☒ Approval
☒ Public Hearing Date:

November 2, 2020
☐ Denial

☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☐ Not Applicable
☒ Resolution Comments: N/A 
☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that Council adopt Resolution No. 2859. 

Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve Resolution No. 2859 

Project / Issue Relates To: 
☐Council Goals/Priorities: ☐Adopted Master Plan(s): ☒Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
South Metro Area Regional Transit (SMART) has been monitoring the Charbonneau Shuttle Pilot 
program since its inception in June 2018. The route has not performed to staffs expectations and 
therefore should be replaced with comparable Dial-a-Ride service to the Charbonneau 
Neighborhood. 

Page 120 of 169



Resolution No. 2859 Staff Report       Page 2 of 2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
South Metro Area Regional Transit (SMART) completed a Transit Master Plan (TMP) in June 
2017. The TMP gave a strong response for a shuttle to serve the Charbonneau Neighborhood. 
SMART began the Charbonneau Shuttle as a pilot service in June 2018 as a deviated fixed route.  

Since the route’s inception SMART has been monitoring ridership and performance as compared 
to similar shuttle services. Staff attempted to find ways to make the Charbonneau Shuttle more 
efficient to increase performance. After operating as a two-year pilot program, staff has determined 
the route to be ineffective and recommends discontinuing the pilot program. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS:  
If Resolution No. 2859 is passed, the Charbonneau Shuttle will permanently discontinue service. 
SMART will continue to serve the Charbonneau Neighborhood through Dial-a-Ride and other 
transportation options. Staff will ensure that residents encounter the same level of high quality 
service that the rest of the city receives in terms of convenience, reliability, and safe travels. 
 
TIMELINE:  
If Resolution No. 2859 is passed, SMART staff will issue a public notice giving residents 30 days’ 
notice of the route being officially ended. The route will officially end on December 3, 2020. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
SMART will see some savings from ending the Charbonneau Shuttle. Providing the same level of 
service through Dial-a-Ride programs, SMART will see an estimated savings of about $30,000 in 
the current budget year.  
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 10/27/2020 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 10/29/2020 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:   
N/A 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
N/A 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
N/A 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Resolution No. 2859 
A. Charbonneau Shuttle Discontinuation Plan 

Page 121 of 169



RESOLUTION NO. 2859  Page 1 of 2 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\15. Resolution No. 2859 Packet\b. Resolution No. 2859.docx 

RESOLUTION NO. 2859 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WILSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING 

THE DISCONTINUATION OF SOUTH METRO AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT’S 

(SMART) CHARBONNEAU SHUTTLE ROUTE. 

 

WHEREAS, South Metro Area Regional Transit’s (SMART) Charbonneau Shuttle was a 

pilot project that was requested through the Transit Master Plan; and  

WHEREAS, SMART staff worked with residents and living facilities to optimize routing 

and grow ridership; and  

WHEREAS, staff monitored the efficiency of the route for a duration of two years; and 

WHEREAS, ridership continued to underperform during the two years of operation; and 

WHEREAS, SMART’s Dial-a-Ride can perform the same level of service at a lower cost. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

Section 1.  Based on the above Recitals, which are incorporated herein, the City 

Council does hereby approve and authorize SMART to discontinue the 

Charbonneau Shuttle while continuing to serve the Charbonneau 

Neighborhood through other transportation programs. 

Section 2. This resolution is effective upon adoption. 

 

 ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting there of this 2nd day of 

November 2020, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date. 

 

       _________________________________ 

       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 

Page 122 of 169



RESOLUTION NO. 2859  Page 2 of 2 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\15. Resolution No. 2859 Packet\b. Resolution No. 2859.docx 

 

SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

 

EXHIBIT:  

A. Charbonneau Shuttle Discontinuation Plan 

Page 123 of 169



Res No. 2859 Exhibit A 

1 | P a g e  
 

Charbonneau Shuttle Discontinuation Plan 
Introduction 
South Metro Area Regional Transit (SMART) completed a Transit Master Plan (TMP) in June 
2017. The TMP gave a strong response for a shuttle to serve the Charbonneau Neighborhood. 
SMART staff conducted numerous outreach events to determine what the desired route and 
schedule would be for residents and to understand the nature for resident trips.  

SMART began the Charbonneau Shuttle as a pilot service in June 2018 as a deviated fixed route. 
A deviated fixed route means the bus will deviate from timed stops for pick-ups and drop-offs, 
making it more convenient for passengers. The route took neighborhood residents to shopping 
centers in Wilsonville.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Performance 
SMART staff monitored the performance of the shuttle for the duration of the two-year pilot 
program. Early on, ridership numbers were low, as may be the case for any new route. Staff 
attended events within the neighborhood to market the shuttle, set up training classes at living 
facilities, and performed travel training to teach residents how to utilize the shuttle.  

Staff expanded the designated pick-up and drop-off areas to include the whole Charbonneau 
neighborhood, Town Center Shopping Center, Lowries Marketplace, and Old Town Square. Staff 

Map 1: Original Map of Charbonneau Shuttle beginning June 2018 

Page 124 of 169



Res No. 2859 Exhibit A 

2 | P a g e  
 

also place any Dial-a-Ride customers within these zones onto the Charbonneau Shuttle to 
increase ridership and efficiency for both systems. 

With all of the changes, ridership only improved modestly and as graph 1 shows below, the 
Charbonneau continued to underperform throughout the pilot. 

 

 

Consistent with low boarding’s per vehicle hour, Table 1 expresses the cost per passenger trip 
for the Charbonneau Shuttle as compared to Dial-a-Ride programs. Fixed shuttles operate for a 
planned set of hours where the cost remains relatively fixed whereas Dial-a-Ride acts a more 
on-demand service and will not travel a route unless a customer request is made. Therefore, 
the higher ridership is on a fixed route, the cost per passenger will lower, where the cost per 
passenger for Dial-a-Ride will only lower by “bunching” rides, which is much more complex 
(however it can by optimized with scheduling/dispatching software). 

 

Route Cost/Passenger 
Dial-a-Ride  $ 24.02  
Charbonneau Shuttle  $ 52.50  

Conclusion 
SMART staff has attempted to find ways to make the Charbonneau Shuttle more efficient to 
increase performance. After operating as a two-year pilot program, staff has determined the 
route to be ineffective and recommend discontinuing the pilot. SMART will continue to serve 
the Charbonneau Neighborhood through Dial-a-Ride and other transportation options. Staff will 
ensure that residents encounter the same level of high quality service that the rest of the city 
receives in terms of convenience, reliability, and safe travels.   

Graph 1: Service Productivities Relative to Investment 

Table 1: Cost per passenger (FY19-20) 

Page 125 of 169



Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report Page 1 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\a. Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report.docx 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: November 2, 2020 Subject: Ordinance No. 846 – 1st Reading 
Town Center TSP Amendments 

Staff Member: Khoi Le, PE, Development 
Engineering Manager; Kimberly Rybold, AICP, 
Senior Planner 

Department: Community Development 
Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 

Recommendation  
☒ Motion ☒ Approval
☒ Public Hearing Date:

November 2,2020
☐ Denial

☒ Ordinance 1st Reading Date:
November 2,2020

☐ None Forwarded

☒ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date:
November 16,2020

☐ Not Applicable

☐ Resolution Comments: At their October 14, 2020 meeting, the 
Planning Commission unanimously approved a 
recommendation to City Council to adopt the proposed 
amendments. 

☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that Council adopt Ordinance No. 846 on first 
reading. 
Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve Ordinance No. 846 on first 
reading. 
Project / Issue Relates To: 
☒Council Goals/Priorities:
Town Center

☒Adopted Master Plan(s):
Transportation System Plan (TSP), 
Town Center Plan 

☐Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Hold a public hearing and consider adoption of the proposed amendments to the Wilsonville 
Transportation System Plan (TSP) to incorporate transportation-related infrastructure investments 
adopted in the Town Center Plan.  

Page 126 of 169



Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report       Page 2 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\a. Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report.docx 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
In 2019, the Wilsonville City Council adopted the Wilsonville Town Center Plan, establishing a 
vision for a vibrant, walkable community hub that inspires people to come together and socialize, 
shop, live, and work. The Plan envisions a mixed-use development pattern to create a walkable 
and vibrant Town Center, home to active parks, civic spaces, and amenities that provide year-
round, compelling experiences.  
 
The Town Center Plan contains several goals and implementation strategies to guide future 
development. Goal 4 of the Town Center Plan is Safe Access and Connectivity, which aims to 
provide transportation infrastructure designed to create a safe, accessible environment for all 
modes of travel in Town Center, creating enhanced connectivity throughout Town Center and to 
surrounding areas. In order to achieve this goal and the broader vision for Town Center, the 
implementation chapter of the plan calls for updating the City’s TSP to incorporate the Plan’s 
transportation-related infrastructure improvement projects into the Higher Priority Projects list. 
 
The proposed TSP Amendments (Attachment 1, Exhibit A) include the addition of the following 
infrastructure investment projects from the Town Center Plan to the Higher Priority Projects list: 

• IN.1 - I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge Gateway  
• IN.2 - Park Place Redesign from Town Center Loop to the Northern Edge of Town Center Park  
• IN.3 - Park Place Redesign from Town Center Park to Courtside Drive 
• IN.4 - Park Place Extension from Courtside Drive to Wilsonville Road  
• IN.5 - Courtside Drive Street Improvements from Park Place to Town Center Loop East 
• IN.6 - Courtside Drive Extension from Park Place to Town Center Loop West  
• IN.7 - Wilsonville Road Intersection Modifications 
• IN.8 - Town Center Loop West Modifications  
• IN.10 - Park Place Promenade from Town Center Loop West to Courtside Drive  
• IN.11 - Cycle Tracks within Town Center  
• IN.12 - West Promenade 

 
Cost estimates, as noted in the Town Center Plan, are included with these projects, along with 
associated changes to maps within the TSP. Cross sections developed and adopted as part of the 
Town Center Plan are included in the TSP update.  
 
As part of the TSP update process, the project team completed additional analysis requested by 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to ensure that the proposed TSP amendments 
would not result in vehicle queuing issues at the Interstate 5 interchange ramps. The analysis 
confirmed that vehicle queuing on Wilsonville Road is not expected to impact the interchange 
ramp terminals (Attachment 1, Exhibit B). Staff determined that the Town Center infrastructure 
projects are consistent with the Wilsonville Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) and no 
amendments are needed. The project team made minor modifications to two of the Wilsonville 
Road TSP projects to include an additional lane at the Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop West 
intersection, signal coordination, or other alternative measures as needed to address any potential 
queuing that may occur in the future. A letter of support from ODOT was provided and is included 
within the project record (Attachment 1, Exhibit B). 
  

Page 127 of 169



Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report       Page 3 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\a. Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report.docx 

On October 14, 2020, the Planning Commission held a public hearing and following the hearing 
unanimously recommended adoption of the proposed amendments to City Council. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS:  
Adoption of the Town Center TSP Updates will integrate the transportation-related infrastructure 
investments from the Town Center Plan into the TSP’s Higher Priority Projects list, setting the 
stage for the City to pursue financing strategies to construct these improvements. 
  
TIMELINE: 
The public hearing and first reading is scheduled for November 2, 2020, with a second reading of 
the Ordinance on November 16, 2020. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
The adopted budget for FY2020-21 includes $185,000 for Town Center Implementation Activities 
in CIP project #3004. The TSP updates, including additional analysis needed per ODOT to 
determine impacts to the Interstate 5 interchange are estimated to cost $34,000. Approximately 
$18,000 of these funds will be spent in the FY2020-21 budget year. 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by:  CAR Date: 10/20/2020 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by:  BAJ Date: 10/29/2020 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:   
The Town Center Plan included a robust and inclusive public outreach process where the 
multimodal transportation investments to be included in the TSP update were identified as 
transformational elements for becoming a more walkable and accessible district. Staff sent notice 
of the amendments to the property owners and affected agencies via U.S. postal mail. 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
As a result of undertaking the Town Center Plan’s implementation activities, including the TSP 
update, the City will begin to realize the community’s vision for a more commercially vibrant, 
walkable, mixed-use Town Center.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
The City Council may provide recommendations and modifications to the TSP Amendments.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENT:  

1. Ordinance No. 846  
Ordinance No. 846 attachments can be found at the following links: 

A. Transportation System Plan Amendments  
B. Planning Commission Record 

2. TSP Amendment Summary Memo 
3. Presentation 

Page 128 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/c._ordinance_no._846_exhibit_a_kr_rev.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/c._ordinance_no._846_exhibit_a_kr_rev.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/d._ord._no._846_exhibit_b.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/d._ord._no._846_exhibit_b.pdf


ORDINANCE NO. 846  Page 1 of 4 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\b. Ordinance No. 846.docx 

ORDINANCE NO. 846 
 
 
 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE APPROVING 
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PLAN AMENDMENTS RELATED TO THE TOWN 
CENTER PLAN. 
 

WHEREAS, the 2040 Growth Concept Map of Metro’s Regional Framework Plan shows 

the Wilsonville Town Center as a town center and defines a town center as a focal area for growth 

that provides services to tens of thousands within a two- to three-mile radius and typically includes 

one- to three-story buildings for employment and housing; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council established starting the Town Center Plan as a 2015-2017 

Council Priority Goal; and 

WHEREAS, extensive community involvement shaped the Town Center Plan and over the 

course of the project, public input was gathered at over one-hundred public meetings and events; 

and  

 WHEREAS, in 2019 the City of Wilsonville approved Ordinance No. 835 adopting the 

Town Center Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Center Plan contains a list of transportation-related infrastructure 

investments, cost estimates, and cross sections intended to support future development in Town 

Center; and 

WHEREAS, on July 8, 2020 the Wilsonville Planning Commission held a work session to 

discuss and take public testimony on the proposed Town Center Transportation System Plan 

amendments; and 

 WHEREAS, following the timely mailing and publication of the required notice, the 

Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on October 14, 2020, wherein the Commission 

received written public testimony, staff reports and input, and Attachments and Exhibits, and 

thereafter deliberated and voted unanimously to approve Planning Commission Resolution No. 

LP20-0003 recommending approval of the Transportation System Plan amendment, attached as 

Exhibit A to the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, a copy of the record of the aforementioned Planning Commission action and 

recommendation (“Record”) is marked Exhibit B, attached and incorporated herein; and 

Page 129 of 169



ORDINANCE NO. 846  Page 2 of 4 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\b. Ordinance No. 846.docx 

WHEREAS, following the Planning Commission public hearing, the Wilsonville Planning 

Director forwarded the recommended Transportation System Plan amendments to the City 

Council, along with a staff report and attachments, in accordance with the public hearing and notice 

procedures that are set forth in Sections 4.008, 4.011, 4.012, and 4.198 of the Wilsonville Code; 

and 

WHEREAS, on November 2, 2020 the Wilsonville City Council held a work session to 

discuss the Town Center Transportation System Plan amendments; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council, after Public Hearing Notices were provided to a list of 

interested parties, property owners, and affected agencies, and posted in three locations throughout 

the City and on the City website, held a public hearing on November 2, 2020 to review the 

proposed Town Center Transportation System Plan amendments, and to gather additional 

testimony and evidence regarding the proposal; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has afforded all interested parties an opportunity to be heard 

on this subject and has entered all available evidence and testimony into the public record of their 

proceeding; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has duly considered the subject, including the Planning 

Commission recommendations and all the exhibits and testimony introduced and offered by all 

interested parties. 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. FINDINGS. 

The above-recited findings are adopted and incorporated by reference herein as 

findings and conclusions of Resolution No. LP20-0003, which includes the staff report 

and attachments (Exhibit B). The City Council further finds and concludes that the 

adoption of the proposed Town Center Transportation System Plan amendments are 

necessary to help protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the municipality by 

planning that will support the development of a vibrant town center within the City 

limits. 

  

Page 130 of 169



ORDINANCE NO. 846  Page 3 of 4 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\b. Ordinance No. 846.docx 

 

2. DETERMINATION. 

Based on such findings, the City Council hereby adopts Transportation System Plan 

amendments, attached hereto and marked as Exhibit A, and incorporated by reference 

as if fully set forth herein. 

 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE OF ORDINANCE. 

This Ordinance shall be declared to be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from the 

date of final passage and approval. 

 
 SUBMITTED to the Wilsonville City Council and read for the first time at a regular 

meeting thereof on the 2nd day of November, 2020, and scheduled for a second reading at a regular 

meeting of the Council on the 16th day of November, 2020, commencing at the hour of 7:00 P.M. 

at the Wilsonville City Hall.  

 

      _________________________________  
      Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
 
 ENACTED by the City Council on the 16th day of November, 2020 by the following votes:
   
Yes:___ No: ___ 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
 
 DATED and signed by the Mayor this 16th day of November, 2020. 
 
 
             
      TIM KNAPP, Mayor 
 
  

Page 131 of 169



ORDINANCE NO. 846  Page 4 of 4 
N:\City Recorder\Council Packets\2020 Council Packets\11.02.2020\16. Ordinance No. 846 Packet\b. Ordinance No. 846.docx 

 
SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp  

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan  

Councilor West 

Councilor Linville 

 

EXHIBITS:  

A. Transportation System Plan Amendments  
B. Planning Commission Record 

Page 132 of 169

https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/c._ordinance_no._846_exhibit_a_kr_rev.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/c._ordinance_no._846_exhibit_a_kr_rev.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/c._ordinance_no._846_exhibit_a_kr_rev.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/c._ordinance_no._846_exhibit_a_kr_rev.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/d._ord._no._846_exhibit_b.pdf
https://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/city_council/meeting/28481/d._ord._no._846_exhibit_b.pdf


MEMORANDUM 

DATE: October 6, 2020 

TO: Khoi Le, P.E. | City of Wilsonville 

FROM: Scott Mansur, P.E., PTOE | DKS Associates 
Jenna Bogert, E.I.T. | DKS Associates 

SUBJECT:  Wilsonville Transportation System Plan (TSP) Amendment 
Summary 

 P18197-007 

INTRODUCTION 

The Town Center Plan was formally adopted by the City of Wilsonville on May 6, 2019.  An excerpt 
from the Town Center Plan listing the transportation infrastructure projects is attached to this 
memorandum for reference. This memorandum discusses necessary amendments to the City of 
Wilsonville’s Transportation System Plan (TSP) based on transportation requirements and projects 
identified in the Town Center Plan. The TSP changes include the addition of the following projects 
to the Higher Priority project list: 

 Infrastructure Project #1 - Show I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge Gateway Improvements
project which will include landscaping and wayfinding signage and provides an established
gateway to the Town Center.

 Infrastructure Project #2 - Show the addition of buffered bike lanes and wider sidewalks on
Park Place from Town Center Loop to the north edge of Town Center Park.

 Infrastructure Project #3 - Show the Park Place Redesign from Town Center Park to
Courtside Drive. This project includes construction this segment of roadway as a festival
street. The cross section includes two travel lanes, on-street parking, and a protected two-
way cycle track.

 Infrastructure Project #4 - Show the Park Place Extension (Courtside Drive to Wilsonville
Road).

 Infrastructure Project #5 - Show the Courtside Drive street improvements (Park Place to
Town Center Loop E). The improvements include a two-way cycle track and the addition of
on-street parking on the south side.

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 133 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 2  

 

 Infrastructure Project #6 - Show the roadway extension of Courtside Drive (Park Place East 
to Town Center Loop West).  

 Infrastructure Project #7 – Wilsonville Road Intersection Modifications 

o Show the elimination of eastbound and westbound left turns on Wilsonville Road at 
the Town Center Loop West intersection. Additionally, a landscaped median and 
crosswalk will be added to the west leg to improve pedestrian and bicycle safety. 
This traffic signal will require modification. 

o Show the new signalized intersection on Wilsonville Road where the extension of 
Park Place would create a new four-leg intersection at Wilsonville Road, which 
includes eastbound and westbound left turns and the removal of existing median 
landscaping. 

o Show the replacement of the existing traffic signal at Rebekah Street with an 
enhanced pedestrian crossing (pedestrian activated flashing beacon) with medians. 
Minor street access at this intersection will be restricted to right-in/right-out only 
movements. 

o Show the addition of dual eastbound left turns with dual northbound receiving lanes 
at the Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop East intersection. This traffic signal will 
require modification. 

 Infrastructure Project #8 - Show the Town Center Loop West modifications, which include 
reducing the travel lanes from 5 lanes to 3 lanes and restriping the outside lanes as 
buffered bike lanes.  

 Infrastructure Project #10 - Show the conversion of Park Place (Town Center Loop West to 
Courtside Drive) to a promenade for bicycle and pedestrian activity.  

 Infrastructure Project #11 – Show the location of multiple proposed cycle tracks within the 
Town Center.  

 Infrastructure Project #12 – Show the proposed West Promenade located just north of the 
existing Fry’s Electronics store. 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS FOR TSP COMPLIANCE 

The discussion of recommended revisions is generally organized by reference to the applicable 
chapter(s) of the TSP. In all chapters, revisions to existing TSP language are presented with 
deletions shown in strikethrough and additions shown as underlined. The revised TSP figures and 
text are attached to this memorandum. The revisions identified in this memorandum will also be 
addressed in a final amended TSP document once the revisions are approved by the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 134 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 3  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The following changes are recommended to the Executive Summary of the City of Wilsonville’s TSP. 

HIGHER PRIORITY PROJECTS FIGURE (PAGE IV) 

See the recommended changes to this figure in Figure 5-2: Higher Priority Projects. 

HIGHER PRIORITY PROJECTS TABLE (PAGE V) 

Add or Remove the following projects to this table: 

 RE – 15: Park Place Extension 

 RE - 16: Courtside Drive Extension 

 UU – 11: Park Place Redesign 

 UU – 12: Park Place at Town Center Park Redesign 

 UU – 13: Courtside Drive Upgrades 

 SI – 04: Wilsonville Rd/Town Center Loop West Intersection Improvements 

 SI – 09: Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop West Turn Lane Removal 

 SI – 10: Wilsonville Road/Park Place New Traffic Signal 

 SI – 11: Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop East Dual Left Turn Lanes 

 BW - 09a: I-5 Bike/Pedestrian Bridge 

 BW – 09b: I-5 Bike/Pedestrian Bridge Gateway Treatments 

 BW - 16: Town Center Loop West Bicycle Lanes 

 BW – 17: Wilsonville Road/Rebekah Street Enhanced Pedestrian Crossing 

 BW – 18: Park Place Promenade 

 BW – 19a: Cycle Track: I-5 Ped/Bike Bridge to Town Center Park 

 BW – 19b: Cycle Track: Town Center Loop E 

 BW – 20: West Promenade  

CHAPTER 3: THE STANDARDS 

The following changes are recommended to Chapter 3 of the City of Wilsonville’s TSP. 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 135 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 4  

 

FIGURE 3-4: FREIGHT ROUTES (PAGE 3-9) 

Summary of changes: 

 Show Wilsonville Road (from Town Center Loop West to Town Center Loop East) as a future 
truck route. 

 Show Town Center Loop East (from Wilsonville Road to Parkway Avenue) as a future truck 
route. 

FIGURE 3-5: BICYCLE ROUTES (PAGE 3-11) 

Summary of changes: 

 Relocate the I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge north of Town Center Loop to the south so it 
aligns with the proposed location in the Town Center Plan. 

 Add blue highlight to Town Center Loop West from Wilsonville Road to Parkway Avenue to 
indicate a future bike lane (BW-16). 

 Add a dashed blue line to indicate future bike lanes on the Courtside Drive extension (RE-
16). 

 Add a red dashed line to indicate future cycle tracks along the segments listed in projects 
BW-19a, BW-19b, UU-12 and UU – 13.  

 Add a red dashed line to the legend that represents future cycle tracks. 

 Remove blue highlight, add solid blue line to Town Center Loop East from Parkway Avenue 
to Wilsonville Road. 

 Remove blue highlight, add solid blue line to Boeckman Road from Parkway Avenue to 
Canyon Creek Road. 

 Remove blue highlight, add solid blue line to Canyon Creek Road between Town Center Loop 
and Boeckman Road. 

PAGE 3-12: FACILITY TYPES TEXTBOX 

Town Center Area  

FIGURE 3-11: SHARED USE PATHS AND TRAIL CROSS SECTIONS 

Add in one new cross section from the Town Center Plan: 

 Promenade 

PAGE 3-13: TOWN CENTER AREA CROSS SECTIONS  
(INSERT NEW PAGES AFTER PAGE 3-19) 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 136 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 5  

 

The Town Center Plan includes some unique cross section standards for some of the new roadway 
extensions and upgrades to existing roadways. These cross sections include wider sidewalks and 
bicycle facilities to accommodate safer and increased multimodal access and connectivity within the 
Town Center. For any development in the Town Center Area, please reference the Town Center 
Plan (2019) for additional cross sections. 

 Park Place Extension Cross Section1 (RE – 15) 

 Courtside Drive Extension Cross Section (RE - 16) 

 Park Place Redesign Cross Section (UU - 11) 

 Park Place Redesign at Town Center Park Cross Section (UU – 12) 

 Courtside Drive Upgrade Cross Section (UU - 13) 

 

1. Install a 12-foot wide left turn pocket at major intersections (e.g. Wilsonville Road) 

CHAPTER 5: THE PROJECTS 

The following changes are recommended to Chapter 5 of the City of Wilsonville’s TSP. 

FIGURE 5-2: HIGHER PRIORITY PROJECTS (PAGE 5-5) 

Added the following projects to the figure: 

 Add the Park Place Extension project (RE – 15) as a main street roadway extension between 
Courtside Drive and Wilsonville Road. 
Add main street roadway extension to the legend as a purple line. 

 Add the Courtside Drive Extension project (RE-16) as a main street roadway extension 
between Park Place and Town Center Loop East. 

 Add the Park Place Redesign project (UU – 11) as a main street urban upgrade between 
Town Center Loop to just north of the Town Center Park. 
Add main street urban upgrade to the legend as a purple highlight. 

 Add the Park Place at Town Center Park Redesign project (UU – 12) as a main street urban 
upgrade between just north of Town Center Park to Courtside Drive. 

 Add the Courtside Drive Upgrades project (UU – 13) as a Collector street urban upgrade 
from Park Place to Town Center Loop East. 

 Add the Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop West Turn Lane Removal project (SI - 09) to 
the figure. 

 Add the Wilsonville Road/Park Place New Traffic Signal project (SI – 10) to the figure. 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 137 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 6  

 

 Add the Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop East Dual Turn Lanes (SI-11) to the figure. 

 Renumber the I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge project, BW-09, to BW-09a. 

 Add the I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge Gateway Improvements project (BW-09b) to the 
pedestrian bridge near Town Center Loop West. 

 Add the Town Center Loop West Bicycle Lanes project (BW-16) from Parkway Avenue to 
Wilsonville Road to the figure.  

 Add the Wilsonville Road/Rebekah Street Enhanced Pedestrian Crossing (BW–17) project to 
the figure.  

 Add the Park Place Promenade project (BW-18) as a bikeway/walkway on Park Place 
between Courtside Drive and Town Center Loop West. 

 Add the Cycle Track: From the I-5 Ped/Bike Bridge to Town Center Park project (BW-19a) 
as a bikeway to the figure. 

 Add the Cycle Track: Town Center Loop E project (BW-19a) as a bikeway to the figure from 
Courtside Drive to Wilsonville Road. 

 Add the West Promenade (BW-20) along the proposed cycle track that connects the I-5 
Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge to Park Place. 

 Remove the Wilsonville Rd/Town Center Loop West Intersection Improvements (SI – 04) 
project from the map. 

TABLE 5-5: HIGHER PRIORITY PROJECTS (SOUTHEAST QUADRANT) (PAGE 5-12 
AND INSERT NEW PAGE AFTER 5-12) 

Add the following text to the table: 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION COST 

RE – 15: Park Place Extension 

Construct an extension of Park Place from 
Courtside Drive to Wilsonville Road as a new main 
street with two travel lanes, parking, and 
sidewalks on both sides. This extension will create 
a new signalized intersection at Wilsonville Road 
(see SI-10).  

$6,300,000 

RE - 16: Courtside Drive 
Extension 

Construct an extension of Courtside Drive from 
Park Place to Town Center Loop West as a new 
main street with two travel lanes, buffered bike 
lanes, and sidewalks.  

$6,600,000 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 138 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 7  

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION COST 

UU – 11: Park Place Redesign 

Upgrade Park Place between Town Center Loop 
and northern edge of Town Center Park to meet 
the cross-section standard shown in Figure 3-13, 
which includes two-travel lanes with buffered bike 
lanes and sidewalks. 

$4,400,000 

UU – 12: Park Place at Town 
Center Park Redesign 

Upgrade Park Place between the northern edge of 
Town Center Park to Courtside Drive to meet the 
cross-section standard shown in Figure 3-13, 
which includes the installation of a two-lane, curb-
less street with on street parking, a buffered two-
way cycle track, and sidewalks.  

$3,700,000 

UU – 13: Courtside Drive 
Upgrades 

Upgrade Courtside Drive between Town Center 
Loop East and Park Place to meet the cross-
section standard shown in Figure 3-13, which 
includes the addition of a buffered two-way cycle 
track and parking on the south side of Courtside 
Drive. 

$7,900,00 

SI -04: Wilsonville Rd/Town 
Center Loop West Intersection 
Improvements 

Widen the north leg of the intersection and install 
a second southbound right turn lane (dual lanes) 

$500,000 

SI – 09: Wilsonville Road/Town 
Center Loop West Turn Lane 
Removal 

Modify the existing signal to eliminate eastbound 
and westbound left turns, add a landscaped 
median to the west leg, and add a crosswalk to 
the west side of the intersection with a median 
refuge island. This project should include a “trap 
lane” to mitigate queuing into the ramp terminal 
intersection unless at the time of construction a 
20-year analysis demonstrates that it is not 
needed or if alternative mitigation is identified 
that that has similar or better results. 

$750,000 

SI – 10: Wilsonville Road/Park 
Place New Traffic Signal 

Modify the intersection to add left turn lanes on 
Wilsonville Road and install a traffic signal that 
allows all turning movements. To be installed in 
conjunction with SI-09 and RE-15. The project 
should include signal coordination with dump loop 
sensors unless at the time of construction a 20-
year analysis demonstrates that the sensors and 
signal coordination in the corridor is not needed 

$1,500,000 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 139 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 8  

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION COST 

or if alternative mitigation is identified that that 
has similar or better results. Both projects SI-09 
and SI-10 should be implemented simultaneously. 

SI – 11: Wilsonville Road/Town 
Center Loop East Dual Left Turn 
Lanes 

Modify the existing traffic signal to include dual 
eastbound left turn lanes and modify the north leg 
to have dual receiving lanes. Remove eastbound 
and southbound dedicated right turn lanes to 
accommodate added lanes.  

$1,500,000 

BW -09a: I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle 
Bridge 

No change No change 

BW – 09b: I-5 
Pedestrian/Bicycle Bridge 
Gateway Treatments 

Install architectural elements, seating, 
landscaping, and wayfinding/directional signage 
at the gateway of the I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle 
Bridge.  

$1,500,000 

BW - 16: Town Center Loop 
Bike Lanes 

Reduce the number of travel lanes on Town 
Center Loop West between Parkway Avenue and 
Wilsonville Road to three lanes and restripe the 
outside lanes for bicycle lanes.  

$207,000 

BW – 17: Wilsonville 
Road/Rebekah Street Enhanced 
Pedestrian Crossing 

Modify the intersection by removing the existing 
traffic signal, extending the landscaped median, 
and restricting minor street turning movements to 
right-in, right-out only. Install activated flashers 
for pedestrian and bicycle crossings of Wilsonville 
Road. 

$500,000 

BW – 18: Park Place Promenade 

Convert the existing segment of Park Place 
between Courtside Drive and Town Center Loop 
West from a motor vehicle route to 
pedestrian/bicycle facilities only. Construct a 
promenade that includes a cycle track and wide 
walkway for pedestrians.  

$2,400,000 

BW – 19a: Cycle Track: I-5 
Ped/Bike Bridge to Town Center 
Park 

Install a two-way cycle track connecting the I-5 
ped/bike bridgehead to Park Place near Town 
Center Park. This segment would likely require 
purchasing right-of-way or could be combined 
with future redevelopment of the Fry’s site. 

$75,000 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 140 of 169



 WILSONVILLE TSP AMENDMENT TOWN CENTER PLAN • AMENDMENT SUMMARY •  OCTOBER 6,  2020 9  

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION COST 

BW – 19b: Cycle Track: Town 
Center Loop E 

Install a two-way cycle track on the east side of 
Town Center Loop East from Courtside Drive to 
Wilsonville Road. This project would not likely be 
implemented until after SI-11 has been 
completed.  

$51,000 

BW - 20: West Promenade 

Install a promenade along the proposed cycle 
track that connects the I-5 Pedestrian/Bicycle 
Bridge to Park Place. 

$1,800,000 

 

FIGURE 5-6: HIGHER PRIORITY PROJECTS (SOUTHEAST QUADRANT) (PAGE 5-13) 

Summary of changes: 

Same changes as Figure 5-2: Higher Priority Projects (page 5-5) 

 

Please contact Scott Mansur if you have any questions. Thank you! 

ATTACHMENTS 

  TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS EXCERPT FROM TOWN 
CENTER PLAN (MAY 6TH, 2019) 

  REVISED TSP FIGURES AND TEXT 

 

 

 

 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 141 of 169



Implementing the Town Center Plan

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 142 of 169



Implementing the Town Center Plan

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 143 of 169



Implementing the Town Center Plan

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 144 of 169



Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 145 of 169



Implementing the Town Center Plan

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 146 of 169



Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 147 of 169



Implementing the Town Center Plan

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 148 of 169



  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

H  P  P  

This figure shows the “Higher 
Priority” projects throughout the 
city. “Addi onal Planned” projects 
have also been iden fied by the 
TSP and are provided in Chapter 5. 
Project numbering is alphabe cal 
and does not denote priority. 

iv   Wilsonville Transportation System Plan 2013 

 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 149 of 169



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   v 

No.  Higher Priority Project 

Bikeways and Walkways (Standalone Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Improvements) . . . Con nued 

BW‐08  Town Center Loop Pedestrian, Bicycle, and Transit Improvements 

BW‐09a  I‐5 Bike/Pedestrian Bridge 

BW‐10  French Prairie Drive Pathway 

BW‐12  Parkway Center Trail Connector 

BW‐13  Villebois Loop Trail 

BW‐14  Wayfinding Signage 

BW‐15  Property Acquisi ons for Bike/Ped Connec vity 

Safe Routes to School  
(Standalone Pedestrian and Bicycle Improvements) 

SR‐01  Boeckman Creek Primary Safe Routes to School Improvements 

SR‐02  Boones Ferry Primary Safe Routes to School Improvements 

SR‐03  Lowrie Primary Safe Routes to School Improvements 

SR‐04  Wood Middle School Safe Routes to School Improvements 

Local Trails  
(Standalone Pedestrian and Bicycle Improvements) 

LT‐01  Memorial Park Trail Improvements 

LT‐02  Basalt Creek Canyon Ridge Trail  

LT‐03  I‐5 Easement Trail 

Regional Trails  
(Standalone Pedestrian and Bicycle ImprovementsSafety) 

RT‐01A  Boeckman Creek Trail (North) 

RT‐01B  Boeckman Creek Trail (South) 

RT‐03A  Tonquin Trail (North) 

RT‐03B/C  Tonquin Trail (Villebois) 

RT‐04  Waterfront Trail Improvements 

RT‐05  Wiedemann Road Trail 

RT‐06  Willame e River Bike/Pedestrian/Emergency Bridge Project Dev. 

Transit Improvements 

TI‐01  Pedestrian Access to Transit 

TI‐02  Transit Street Improvements 

RT‐07  Revised Frog Pond Regional Trail 

BW‐07  Boones Ferry Road Sharrows 

BW‐06  Willame e Way West Sidewalk Infill  

BW‐05  Willame e Way East Sidewalk Infill  

BW‐04  Boeckman Road Bike Lanes and Sidewalk Infill 

BW‐03  Boberg Road Sidewalk Infill 

BW‐09b  I‐5 Bike/Pedestrian Bridge Gateway Treatments 

BW‐16  Town Center Loop West Bicycle Lanes 

BW‐18  Park Place Promenade 

BW‐19a  Cycle Track: Ped/Bike Bridge to Town Center Park 

BW‐19b  Cycle Track: Town Center Loop East 

BW‐20  West Promenade 

BW‐17  Wilsonville Road/Rebekah Street Enhanced Pedestrian Crossing 

No.  Higher Priority Project 

Roadway Extensions (Mul modal Connec vity) 

RE‐04A  Corridor Study for Brown Road Extension 

RE‐04B  Brown Road Extension (5th Street Connec on) 

RE‐13  Java Road Connec on and Signal 

RE‐11  Meridian Creek Middle School Site Improvements 

RE‐12A  Frog Pond West Neighborhood Collector Roads 

RE‐12B  Frog Pond South Neighborhood Collector Roads 

RE‐14  Basalt Creek Parkway Connec on 

RE‐15  Park Place Extension 

RE‐16  Courtside Drive Extension 

Roadway Widening (Capacity) 

RW‐01  Boeckman Road Bridge and Corridor Improvements 

RW‐02  Day Road Widening 

RW‐03  Widen Wilsonville Road East of Boones Ferry Road 

RW‐04  Boones Ferry Road Widening 

RW‐05  Grahams Ferry Road Widening 

Urban Upgrades (Mul modal Connec vity and Safety) 

UU‐01  Boeckman Road Dip Improvements 
UU‐02  Boeckman Road Urban Upgrade 
UU‐03  Brown Road Upgrades 
UU‐04  Grahams Ferry Urban Upgrade 
UU‐05  Parkway Avenue Urban Upgrade 
UU‐06  Stafford Road Urban Upgrade 
UU‐07  Tooze Road Urban Upgrade 
UU‐08  Garden Acres Road Urban Upgrade 
UU‐09  Printer Parkway Urban Upgrade 
UU‐10  Advance Road Urban Upgrade 
UU‐11  Park Place Redesign 
UU‐12  Park Place at Town Center Redesign 
UU‐13  Courtside Drive Upgrades 

Spot Improvements  
(Transporta on System Management/Opera ons) 

SI‐02  Grahams Ferry Railroad Undercrossing Project Development 

SI‐03  Stafford Road/65th Avenue Intersec on Improvements 

SI‐05  Curb Extension Removal on Boones Ferry Road  

SI‐06  Truck Turning Improvements SW Kinsman Road  

SI‐07  Dual Southbound Right Turn Lanes on I‐5 Off‐Ramp at Boones 
Ferry Road 

SI‐08  Boones Ferry Road/95th Avenue Access Management 

SI‐09  Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop West Turn Lane Removal 

SI‐10  Wilsonville Road/Park Place Traffic Signal 

SI‐11  Wilsonville Road/Town Center Loop East Dual Turn Lanes 

Bikeways and Walkways  
(Standalone Pedestrian and Bicycle Improvements) 
BW‐01 A/B  Canyon Creek Road Enhanced Pedestrian Crossings 

BW‐02  95th Avenue Sidewalk Infill 

H  P  P  (L  A  B  I  

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 150 of 169



 

CHAPTER 3: The Standards   3-9 

F  3-4. F  R  

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 151 of 169



 

CHAPTER 3: The Standards   3-11 

F  3-5. B  R  

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 152 of 169



3-12   Wilsonville Transportation System Plan 2013 

  CHAPTER 3: The Standards 

S  C -S  D  
Since different streets serve different purposes, a 
func onal classifica on system—which is a hierarchy 
of street designa ons—provides a framework for 
iden fying the size and type of various street 
elements to consider including in a street's design.  
Not all elements are included on all streets and so 
they must be carefully selected based on mul modal 
needs.  

While a street's func onal classifica on does not 
dictate which street elements to include, it does 
facilitate the selec on of mul modal facili es and 
widths that will help ensure the roadway can meet 
its intended mul modal func on. Adjacent land uses 
and available right‐of‐way width also influence 
which elements are included in a specific segment. 

Roadway cross‐sec on design elements include 
travel lanes, curbs, planter strips, sidewalks on both 
sides of the road, and bicycle facili es consistent 
with designated bikeways, walkways, and shared‐
use trails. Low impact development (LID) standards 
may also be used throughout the City at the City’s 
discre on. 

F  T  
Cross‐sec on standards are provided for the 
following facili es: 

 Major Arterials 

 Minor Arterials 

 Collectors 

 Local Streets 

 Low Impact Development (LID) Local Streets 
(similar modifica ons may be made to other 
streets regardless of classifica on) 

 Shared‐Use Paths and Trails 

 Bicycle Facility Design Op ons 

 Town Center Area 

Example of a Major Arterial ‐ Boeckman Road looking 
west towards Boberg Road and 95th Avenue 

Example of a Collector ‐ Barber Street looking east near 
SMART Central at Wilsonville Sta on transit center 

Example of a Local Street ‐ Rogue Lane looking east 
near Memorial Park 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 153 of 169



3-18   Wilsonville Transportation System Plan 2013 

  CHAPTER 3: The Standards 

F  3-11. S -U  P   T  C -S  

P  

N  T  S -U  P  

Notes: 

1.  Trail types and widths as approved by Community Development Director. 

2.  Typical cross sec on of shared‐use path is 12 feet wide with 2‐foot‐wide compacted crushed 
stone shoulders. 

3.  Ver cal separa on between shared‐use path and roadway may be used instead of 5’ buffer as 
approved by Community Development Director. 

4.  Cross‐sec on standards iden fied in the Ice Age Tonquin Trail Master Plan are required along 
the Ice Age Tonquin Trail. 

5.  Addi onal design standards are available in the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan. 

S -U  P  

A   R  

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 154 of 169



3-20   Wilsonville Transportation System Plan 2013 

  CHAPTER 3: The Standards 

F  3-13. T  C  P  C -S  

C  D  E  (RE-16) 

Notes: 

1.  Install a 12‐foot wide le  turn pocket at major intersec ons (e.g. Wilsonville Road) 

T  C  P  
The Town Center Plan includes some unique cross sec on standards for some of the new 
roadway extensions and upgrades to exis ng roadways. These cross sec ons include wider 
sidewalks and bicycle facili es to accommodate safer and increased mul modal access and 
connec vity within the Town Center. For any development in the Town Center Area, please 
reference the Town Center Plan (2019) for addi onal cross sec ons.  

P  P  E  (RE-15) 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 155 of 169



 

CHAPTER 3: The Standards   3-21 

F  3-13. T  C  P  C -S  (C .) 

C  D  U  (UU-13) 

P  P  R   (UU-11) 

P  P   T  C  R  (UU-12) 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 156 of 169



 

&+$37(5����7KH�3URMHFWV����-� 

)එඏඝකඍ��-���+එඏඐඍක�3කඑකඑගඡ�3කඒඍඋගඛ 
dŚŝƐ�ĮŐƵƌĞ�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƐ�ĂŶ�ŽǀĞƌĂůů�ƉĞƌƐƉĞĐƟǀĞ�
ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�,ŝŐŚĞƌ�WƌŝŽƌŝƚǇ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ�
ƚŚĞ�ĐŝƚǇ͘��ĚĚŝƟŽŶĂů�ĚĞƚĂŝůƐ�ĂƌĞ�ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ�ŽŶ�
ƚŚĞ�ƉĂŐĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ĨŽůůŽǁ�ĨŽƌ�ĞĂĐŚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ��ŝƚǇ͛Ɛ�
ĨŽƵƌ�ƋƵĂĚƌĂŶƚƐ�;EŽƌƚŚǁĞƐƚ͕�EŽƌƚŚĞĂƐƚ͕�
^ŽƵƚŚǁĞƐƚ͕�^ŽƵƚŚĞĂƐƚͿ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ƵƐĞ�/-ϱ�ĂŶĚ�
�ŽĞĐŬŵĂŶ�ZŽĂĚ�ĂƐ�ĚŝǀŝĚŝŶŐ�ůŝŶĞƐ͘ 

 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 157 of 169



�-�����:LOVRQYLOOH�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�6\VWHP�3ODQ����� 

 &+$37(5����7KH�3URMHFWV 

dĂďůĞ�ϱ-ϱ͘�,ŝŐŚĞƌ�WƌŝŽƌŝƚǇ�WƌŽũĞĐƚƐ�;^ŽƵƚŚĞĂƐƚ�YƵĂĚƌĂŶƚͿ 

3URMHFW� 'HVFULSWLRQ &RVW 

ZŽĂĚǁĂǇ��ǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶƐ�� 

Z�-ϭϱ WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ��ǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶ 
�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�ĂŶ�ĞǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶ�ŽĨ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ĨƌŽŵ��ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�ƚŽ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ�ĂƐ�Ă�ŶĞǁ�
ŵĂŝŶ�ƐƚƌĞĞƚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚǁŽ�ƚƌĂǀĞů�ůĂŶĞƐ͕�ƉĂƌŬŝŶŐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ƐŝĚĞǁĂůŬƐ�ŽŶ�ďŽƚŚ�ƐŝĚĞƐ�;ƐĞĞ�&ŝŐƵƌĞ�ϯ-
ϭϯͿ͘�dŚŝƐ�ĞǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶ�ǁŝůů�ĐƌĞĂƚĞ�Ă�ŶĞǁ�ƐŝŐŶĂůŝǌĞĚ�ŝŶƚĞƌƐĞĐƟŽŶ�Ăƚ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ�;^/-ϭϬͿ 

Ψϲ͕ϯϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

Z�-ϭϲ 
�ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�
�ǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�ĂŶ�ĞǆƚĞŶƐŝŽŶ�ŽĨ��ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�ĨƌŽŵ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ƚŽ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�tĞƐƚ�
ĂƐ�Ă�ŶĞǁ�ŵĂŝŶ�ƐƚƌĞĞƚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƚǁŽ�ƚƌĂǀĞů�ůĂŶĞƐ͕�ďƵīĞƌĞĚ�ďŝŬĞ�ůĂŶĞƐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ƐŝĚĞǁĂůŬƐ�;ƐĞĞ�
&ŝŐƵƌĞ�ϯ-ϭϯͿ͘ 

Ψϲ͕ϲϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

hƌďĂŶ�hƉŐƌĂĚĞƐ� 

hh-ϭϭ WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ZĞĚĞƐŝŐŶ 
hƉŐƌĂĚĞ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�ĂŶĚ�ŶŽƌƚŚĞƌŶ�ĞĚŐĞ�ŽĨ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�
WĂƌŬ�ƚŽ�ŵĞĞƚ�ƚŚĞ�ĐƌŽƐƐ-ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚ�ŝŶ�&ŝŐƵƌĞ�ϯ-ϭϯ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ�ƚǁŽ-ƚƌĂǀĞů�ůĂŶĞƐ�
ǁŝƚŚ�ďƵīĞƌĞĚ�ďŝŬĞ�ůĂŶĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŝĚĞǁĂůŬƐ 

Ψϰ͕ϰϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

hh-ϭϮ 
WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�Ăƚ�dŽǁŶ�
�ĞŶƚĞƌ�WĂƌŬ�ZĞĚĞƐŝŐŶ 

hƉŐƌĂĚĞ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�ƚŚĞ�ŶŽƌƚŚĞƌŶ�ĞĚŐĞ�ŽĨ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�WĂƌŬ�ƚŽ��ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ�
�ƌŝǀĞ�ƚŽ�ŵĞĞƚ�ƚŚĞ�ĐƌŽƐƐ-ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚ�ŝŶ�&ŝŐƵƌĞ�ϯ-ϭϯ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�ŝŶƐƚĂůůĂƟŽŶ�
ŽĨ�ƚǁŽ-ůĂŶĞ�ĐƵƌď-ůĞƐƐ�ƐƚƌĞĞƚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ŽŶ�ƐƚƌĞĞƚ�ƉĂƌŬŝŶŐ͕�Ă�ƚǁŽ-ǁĂǇ�ďƵīĞƌĞĚ�ĐǇĐůĞ�ƚƌĂĐŬ͕�ĂŶĚ�
ƐŝĚĞǁĂůŬƐ͘ 

Ψϯ͕ϳϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

hh-ϭϯ 
�ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�
hƉŐƌĂĚĞƐ 

hƉŐƌĂĚĞ��ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ��ĂƐƚ�ĂŶĚ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ƚŽ�ŵĞĞƚ�ƚŚĞ�
ĐƌŽƐƐ-ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚ�ŝŶ�&ŝŐƵƌĞ�ϯ-ϭϯ͕�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�Ă�ďƵīĞƌĞĚ�ƚǁŽ-
ǁĂǇ�ĐǇĐůĞ�ƚƌĂĐŬ�ĂŶĚ�ƉĂƌŬŝŶŐ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŽƵƚŚ�ƐŝĚĞ�ŽĨ��ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ͘ 

Ψϳ͕ϵϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

^ƉŽƚ�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ 

^/-Ϭϵ 

tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚͬ
dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�
tĞƐƚ�dƵƌŶ�>ĂŶĞ�
ZĞŵŽǀĂů 

DŽĚŝĨǇ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ƐŝŐŶĂů�ƚŽ�ĞůŝŵŝŶĂƚĞ�ĞĂƐƚďŽƵŶĚ�ĂŶĚ�ǁĞƐƚďŽƵŶĚ�ůĞŌ�ƚƵƌŶƐ͕�ĂĚĚ�Ă�
ůĂŶĚƐĐĂƉĞĚ�ŵĞĚŝĂŶ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ǁĞƐƚ�ůĞŐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ĂĚĚ�Ă�ĐƌŽƐƐǁĂůŬ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ǁĞƐƚ�ƐŝĚĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�
ŝŶƚĞƌƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ǁŝƚŚ�Ă�ŵĞĚŝĂŶ�ƌĞĨƵŐĞ�ŝƐůĂŶĚ͘�dŚŝƐ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚ�ƐŚŽƵůĚ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�Ă�͞ƚƌĂƉ�ůĂŶĞ͟�ƚŽ�
ŵŝƟŐĂƚĞ�ƋƵĞƵŝŶŐ�ŝŶƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ƌĂŵƉ�ƚĞƌŵŝŶĂů�ŝŶƚĞƌƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ƵŶůĞƐƐ�Ăƚ�ƚŚĞ�ƟŵĞ�ŽĨ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƟŽŶ�
Ă�ϮϬ-ǇĞĂƌ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ĚĞŵŽŶƐƚƌĂƚĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŝƚ�ŝƐ�ŶŽƚ�ŶĞĞĚĞĚ�Žƌ�ŝĨ�ĂůƚĞƌŶĂƟǀĞ�ŵŝƟŐĂƟŽŶ�ŝƐ�
ŝĚĞŶƟĮĞĚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŚĂƐ�ƐŝŵŝůĂƌ�Žƌ�ďĞƩĞƌ�ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ͘ 

ΨϳϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

^/-ϭϬ 
tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚͬWĂƌŬ�
WůĂĐĞ�EĞǁ�dƌĂĸĐ�
^ŝŐŶĂů 

DŽĚŝĨǇ�ƚŚĞ�ŝŶƚĞƌƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ƚŽ�ĂĚĚ�ůĞŌ�ƚƵƌŶ�ůĂŶĞƐ�ŽŶ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ�ĂŶĚ�ŝŶƐƚĂůů�Ă�ƚƌĂĸĐ�
ƐŝŐŶĂů�ƚŚĂƚ�ĂůůŽǁƐ�Ăůů�ƚƵƌŶŝŶŐ�ŵŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ͘�dŽ�ďĞ�ŝŶƐƚĂůůĞĚ�ŝŶ�ĐŽŶũƵŶĐƟŽŶ�ǁŝƚŚ�^/-Ϭϵ�ĂŶĚ�
Z�-ϭϱ͘�dŚĞ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚ�ƐŚŽƵůĚ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�ƐŝŐŶĂů�ĐŽŽƌĚŝŶĂƟŽŶ�ǁŝƚŚ�ĚƵŵƉ�ůŽŽƉ�ƐĞŶƐŽƌƐ�ƵŶůĞƐƐ�Ăƚ�
ƚŚĞ�ƟŵĞ�ŽĨ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƟŽŶ�Ă�ϮϬ-ǇĞĂƌ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ�ĚĞŵŽŶƐƚƌĂƚĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ƚŚĞ�ƐĞŶƐŽƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŝŐŶĂů�
ĐŽŽƌĚŝŶĂƟŽŶ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽƌƌŝĚŽƌ�ŝƐ�ŶŽƚ�ŶĞĞĚĞĚ�Žƌ�ŝĨ�ĂůƚĞƌŶĂƟǀĞ�ŵŝƟŐĂƟŽŶ�ŝƐ�ŝĚĞŶƟĮĞĚ�ƚŚĂƚ�
ƚŚĂƚ�ŚĂƐ�ƐŝŵŝůĂƌ�Žƌ�ďĞƩĞƌ�ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ͘��ŽƚŚ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ�^/-Ϭϵ�ĂŶĚ�^/-ϭϬ�ƐŚŽƵůĚ�ďĞ�ŝŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚĞĚ�
ƐŝŵƵůƚĂŶĞŽƵƐůǇ͘ 

Ψϭ͕ϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

^/-ϭϭ 

tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚͬ
dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�
�ĂƐƚ��ƵĂů�>ĞŌ�dƵƌŶ�
>ĂŶĞƐ 

DŽĚŝĨǇ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ƚƌĂĸĐ�ƐŝŐŶĂů�ƚŽ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�ĚƵĂů�ĞĂƐƚďŽƵŶĚ�ůĞŌ�ƚƵƌŶ�ůĂŶĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŵŽĚŝĨǇ�
ƚŚĞ�ŶŽƌƚŚ�ůĞŐ�ƚŽ�ŚĂǀĞ�ĚƵĂů�ƌĞĐĞŝǀŝŶŐ�ůĂŶĞƐ͘�ZĞŵŽǀĞĚ�ĞĂƐƚďŽƵŶĚ�ĂŶĚ�ƐŽƵƚŚďŽƵŶĚ�
ĚĞĚŝĐĂƚĞĚ�ƌŝŐŚƚ�ƚƵƌŶ�ůĂŶĞƐ�ƚŽ�ĂĐĐŽŵŵŽĚĂƚĞ�ĂĚĚĞĚ�ůĂŶĞƐ 

Ψϭ͕ϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

^ƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞ�WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĂŶĚ��ŝĐǇĐůĞ�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ�;�ŝŬĞǁĂǇƐ�ĂŶĚ�tĂůŬǁĂǇƐͿ� 

�t-Ϭϴ 

dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�
WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ͕��ŝĐǇĐůĞ͕�
ĂŶĚ�dƌĂŶƐŝƚ�
/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ 

�ƌĞĂƚĞ�ŵŽƌĞ�ĚŝƌĞĐƚ�ĐŽŶŶĞĐƟŽŶƐ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�ĚĞƐƟŶĂƟŽŶƐ�ǁŝƚŚŝŶ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�ĂƌĞĂ͕�
ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ�ĂĐĐĞƐƐŝďŝůŝƚǇ�ƚŽ�ĐŝǀŝĐ�ƵƐĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƚƌĂŶƐŝƚ�ƐƚŽƉƐ͕�ƌĞƚƌŽĮƚ�ƐŝĚĞǁĂůŬƐ�ǁŝƚŚ�ĐƵƌď�ƌĂŵƉƐ͕�
ŚŝŐŚůŝŐŚƚ�ĐƌŽƐƐǁĂůŬƐ�ǁŝƚŚ�ĐŽůŽƌĞĚ�ƉĂǀĞŵĞŶƚ͕�ĂŶĚ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�ŽƚŚĞƌ�ƐŝŵŝůĂƌ�ƚƌĞĂƚŵĞŶƚƐ�
ƚŚĂƚ�ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ�ƉĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ͕�ďŝĐǇĐůĞ͕�ĂŶĚ�ƚƌĂŶƐŝƚ�ĂĐĐĞƐƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĐŝƌĐƵůĂƟŽŶ͖�ĂůƐŽ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�
ƐŚĂƌĞĚ-ƵƐĞ�ƉĂƚŚ�ĂůŽŶŐ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�tĞƐƚ�ĨƌŽŵ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ�ƚŽ�WĂƌŬǁĂǇ�
�ǀĞŶƵĞ͘ 

ΨϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 158 of 169



 

&+$37(5����7KH�3URMHFWV����-�� 

3URMHFW�� 'HVFULSWLRQ &RVW 

�t-Ϭϵď 
/-ϱ��ŝŬĞͬWĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�
�ƌŝĚŐĞ�'ĂƚĞǁĂǇ�
dƌĞĂƚŵĞŶƚƐ 

/ŶƐƚĂůů�ĂƌĐŚŝƚĞĐƚƵƌĂů�ĞůĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ƐĞĂƟŶŐ͕�ůĂŶĚƐĐĂƉŝŶŐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ǁĂǇĮŶĚŝŶŐͬĚŝƌĞĐƟŽŶĂů�
ƐŝŐŶĂŐĞ�Ăƚ�ƚŚĞ�ŐĂƚĞǁĂǇ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�/-ϱ�WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶͬ�ŝĐǇĐůĞ�ďƌŝĚŐĞ͘ 

Ψϭ͕ϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϭϬ 
&ƌĞŶĐŚ�WƌĂŝƌŝĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�
WĂƚŚǁĂǇ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�ϭϬ-ĨŽŽƚ�ǁŝĚĞ�ƐŚĂƌĞĚ-ƵƐĞ�ƉĂƚŚ�ĂůŽŶŐ�&ƌĞŶĐŚ�WƌĂŝƌŝĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�ĨƌŽŵ��ŽƵŶƚƌǇ�
sŝĞǁ�>ĂŶĞ�ƚŽ�DŝůĞǇ�ZŽĂĚ�Žƌ�ƌĞĐŽŶĮŐƵƌĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ƌŽĂĚǁĂǇ�ƚŽ�ƌĞŵŽǀĞ�Ă�ƚƌĂǀĞů�ůĂŶĞ�ŝŶ�
ĞĂĐŚ�ĚŝƌĞĐƟŽŶ�ĂŶĚ�ĂĚĚ�ďŝĐǇĐůĞ�ĂŶĚ�ƉĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĨĂĐŝůŝƟĞƐ͘ 

Ψϭ͕ϭϰϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϭϲ 
dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ��ŝŬĞ�
>ĂŶĞƐ 

ZĞĚƵĐĞ�ƚŚĞ�ŶƵŵďĞƌ�ŽĨ�ƚƌĂǀĞů�ůĂŶĞƐ�ŽŶ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�tĞƐƚ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ�WĂƌŬǁĂǇ�
�ǀĞŶƵĞ�ĂŶĚ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ�ƚŽ�ƚŚƌĞĞ�ůĂŶĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƐƚƌŝƉĞ�ƚŚĞ�ŽƵƚƐŝĚĞ�ůĂŶĞƐ�ĨŽƌ�
ďŝĐǇĐůĞ�ůĂŶĞƐ͘� 

ΨϮϬϳ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϭϳ 
tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞͬZĞďĞŬĂŚ�
�ŶŚĂŶĐĞĚ�WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�
�ƌŽƐƐŝŶŐ 

ZĞŵŽǀĞ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ƚƌĂĸĐ�ƐŝŐŶĂů�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƐƚƌŝĐƚ�ŵŝŶŽƌ�ƐƚƌĞĞƚ�ƚƵƌŶŝŶŐ�ŵŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ�ƚŽ�
ƌŝŐŚƚ-ŝŶ͕�ƌŝŐŚƚ-ŽƵƚ�ŽŶůǇ͘�/ŶƐƚĂůů�ĂĐƟǀĂƚĞĚ�ŇĂƐŚĞƌƐ�ĨŽƌ�ƉĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĂŶĚ�ďŝĐǇĐůĞ�
ĐƌŽƐƐŝŶŐƐ�ŽĨ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ͘ 

ΨϱϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϭϴ WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�WƌŽŵĞŶĂĚĞ 

�ŽŶǀĞƌƚ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ƐĞŐŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�ďĞƚǁĞĞŶ��ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�ĂŶĚ�dŽǁŶ�
�ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ�tĞƐƚ�ĨƌŽŵ�Ă�ŵŽƚŽƌ�ǀĞŚŝĐůĞ�ƌŽƵƚĞ�ƚŽ�ƉĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶͬďŝĐǇĐůĞ�ĨĂĐŝůŝƟĞƐ�ŽŶůǇ͘�
�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�Ă�ƉƌŽŵĞŶĂĚĞ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ�Ă�ĐǇĐůĞ�ƚƌĂĐŬ�ĂŶĚ�ǁŝĚĞ�ǁĂůŬǁĂǇ�ĨŽƌ�
ƉĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶƐ͘ 

ΨϮ͕ϰϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϭϵĂ 
�ǇĐůĞ�dƌĂĐŬ͗�WĞĚͬ�ŝŬĞ�
ďƌŝĚŐĞ�ƚŽ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�
WĂƌŬ 

/ŶƐƚĂůů�Ă�ƚǁŽ-ǁĂǇ�ĐǇĐůĞ�ƚƌĂĐŬ�ĐŽŶŶĞĐƟŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�/-ϱ�ƉĞĚͬďŝŬĞ�ďƌŝĚŐĞŚĞĂĚ�ƚŽ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ�
ŶĞĂƌ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�WĂƌŬ͘�dŚŝƐ�ƐĞŐŵĞŶƚ�ǁŽƵůĚ�ůŝŬĞůǇ�ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞ�ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐŝŶŐ�ƌŝŐŚƚ-ŽĨ-ǁĂǇ�
Žƌ�ĐŽƵůĚ�ďĞ�ĐŽŵďŝŶĞĚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ĨƵƚƵƌĞ�ƌĞĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�&ƌǇ͛Ɛ�ƐŝƚĞ͘ 

Ψϳϱ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϭϵď 
�ǇĐůĞ�dƌĂĐŬ͗�dŽǁŶ�
�ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ��ĂƐƚ 

/ŶƐƚĂůů�Ă�ƚǁŽ-ǁĂǇ�ĐǇĐůĞ�ƚƌĂĐŬ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĞĂƐƚ�ƐŝĚĞ�ŽĨ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�>ŽŽƉ��ĂƐƚ�ĨƌŽŵ�
�ŽƵƌƚƐŝĚĞ��ƌŝǀĞ�ƚŽ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ZŽĂĚ͘�dŚŝƐ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚ�ǁŽƵůĚ�ŶŽƚ�ůŝŬĞůǇ�ďĞ�ŝŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚĞĚ�
ƵŶƟů�ĂŌĞƌ�^/-ϭϭ�ŚĂƐ�ďĞĞŶ�ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ͘ 

Ψϱϭ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϮϬ 
WƌŽŵĞŶĂĚĞ�&ƌĂŵĞǁŽƌŬ�
/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ 

/ŶƐƚĂůů�Ă�ƉƌŽŵĞŶĂĚĞ�ĂůŽŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�ĐǇĐůĞ�ƚƌĂĐŬ�ƚŚĂƚ�ĐŽŶŶĞĐƚƐ�ƚŚĞ�/-ϱ�
WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶͬ�ŝĐǇĐůĞ��ƌŝĚŐĞ�ƚŽ�WĂƌŬ�WůĂĐĞ͘ 

Ψϭ͕ϴϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

^ƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞ�WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĂŶĚ��ŝĐǇĐůĞ�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ�;^ĂĨĞ�ZŽƵƚĞƐ�ƚŽ�^ĐŚŽŽůͿ� 

^Z-Ϭϭ 
�ŽĞĐŬŵĂŶ��ƌĞĞŬ�
WƌŝŵĂƌǇ�^ĂĨĞ�ZŽƵƚĞƐ�ƚŽ�
^ĐŚŽŽů�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�Ă�ďŝĐǇĐůĞ�ƉĂƌŬŝŶŐ�ƐŚĞůƚĞƌ�ŶĞĂƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƐĐŚŽŽů�ĂŶĚ�Ă�ŶĞǁ�ϭϬ�ƚŽ�ϭϮ-ĨŽŽƚ�ďŝŬĞ�
ƉĂƚŚ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŽƵƚŚ�ƐŝĚĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ƐŝĚĞǁĂůŬ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŵĞĂŶĚĞƌƐ�ƐŽƵƚŚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƚƌĞĞ�ůŝŶĞ�
ĂŶĚ�ĐŽŶŶĞĐƚƐ�ƚŽ�ƚŚĞ�ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ�ŵĂƌŬĞĚ�ĐƌŽƐƐǁĂůŬ�ŶĞĂƌ�ƚŚĞ�ƐĐŚŽŽů�ƉĂƌŬŝŶŐ�ůŽƚ 

Ψϲϱ͕ϬϬϬ 

^ƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞ�WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĂŶĚ��ŝĐǇĐůĞ�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ�;>ŽĐĂů�dƌĂŝůƐͿ�� 

>d-Ϭϭ 
DĞŵŽƌŝĂů�WĂƌŬ�dƌĂŝů�
/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�ƚƌĂŝůƐ�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ�DĞŵŽƌŝĂů�WĂƌŬ͕�ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�DĞŵŽƌŝĂů�WĂƌŬ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�
>ŽŽƉ�dƌĂŝů͕�ƚŚĞ�ZŝǀĞƌ�dƌĂŝů͕�<ŽůďĞ�,ŽŵĞƐƚĞĂĚ�dƌĂŝů͕�ĂŶĚ�<ůĞŝŶ�,ŽŵĞƐƚĞĂĚ�dƌĂŝů 

Ψϱϵϱ͕ϬϬϬ 

^ƚĂŶĚĂůŽŶĞ�WĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĂŶĚ��ŝĐǇĐůĞ�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ�;ZĞŐŝŽŶĂů�dƌĂŝůƐͿ�� 

Zd-Ϭϭ� 
�ŽĞĐŬŵĂŶ��ƌĞĞŬ�dƌĂŝů�
;^ŽƵƚŚͿ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ�ŶŽƌƚŚ-ƐŽƵƚŚ�ƚƌĂŝů�ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ�ĞĂƐƚ�tŝůƐŽŶǀŝůůĞ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ��ŽĞĐŬŵĂŶ��ƌĞĞŬ͕�
ǁŝƚŚ�ĐŽŶŶĞĐƟŽŶƐ�ƚŽ�ŶĞŝŐŚďŽƌŚŽŽĚƐ͕�ƉĂƌŬƐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ŝŶƚĞƌƐĞĐƟŶŐ�ƌŽĂĚƐ�;ŵĂǇ�ŶĞĞĚ�Ă�
ďŽĂƌĚǁĂůŬ�ĨŽƌ�ǀĂƌŝŽƵƐ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶƐ�ĂŶĚ�ǁŽƵůĚ�ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞ�Ă�ĐŽŵƉƌĞŚĞŶƐŝǀĞ�ƉƵďůŝĐ�ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐͿ 

Ψϭ͕ϭϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ 
;WĂƌƟĂů�

ZĞŐŝŽŶĂů�
ĨƵŶĚŝŶŐͿ 

Zd-Ϭϰ 
tĂƚĞƌĨƌŽŶƚ�dƌĂŝů�
/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ 

/ŵƉƌŽǀĞ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŚĂƌĞĚ-ƵƐĞ�ƉĂƚŚ�ĂƐ�ŝƚ�ƉĂƐƐĞƐ�ƵŶĚĞƌŶĞĂƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�/-ϱ�
�ŽŽŶĞ��ƌŝĚŐĞ�ďǇ�ƌĞŵŽǀŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�:ĞƌƐĞǇ�ďĂƌƌŝĞƌƐ͕�ŝŶƐƚĂůůŝŶŐ�ďŽůůĂƌĚƐ͕�ǁŝĚĞŶŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ƚƌĂŝů͕�
ĂĚĚŝŶŐ�ĂƉƉƌŽƉƌŝĂƚĞ�ƉĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�ĨĞĂƚƵƌĞƐ�ƐƵĐŚ�ĂƐ�ďĞŶĐŚĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ůŝŐŚƟŶŐ͕�ĂŶĚ�ĂůƚĞƌŝŶŐ�
ƚŚĞ�ŐƌĂĚĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƉĂƚŚ�ƵŶĚĞƌŶĞĂƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�ƵŶĚĞƌƉĂƐƐ�ƚŽ�ŵĂŬĞ�ŝƚ�ŵŽƌĞ�ĞĂƐŝůǇ�ĂĐĐĞƐƐŝďůĞ 

ΨϭϮϱ͕ϬϬϬ 

�t-ϬϵĂ 
/-ϱ��ŝŬĞͬWĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ�
�ƌŝĚŐĞ 

�ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƚ��ŝŬĞͬWĞĚĞƐƚƌŝĂŶ��ƌŝĚŐĞ�ŽǀĞƌ�/-ϱ�ĂƉƉƌŽǆŝŵĂƚĞůǇ�ĂůŝŐŶĞĚ�ǁŝƚŚ��ĂƌďĞƌ�^ƚƌĞĞƚ�
ƚŽ�ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ�ĐŽŶŶĞĐƟǀŝƚǇ�ŽĨ�dŽǁŶ��ĞŶƚĞƌ�ĂƌĞĂ�ǁŝƚŚ�ďƵƐŝŶĞƐƐĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�ŶĞŝŐŚďŽƌŚŽŽĚƐ�
ŽŶ�ǁĞƐƚ�ƐŝĚĞ�ŽĨ�/-ϱ͖�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ�ĂĞƐƚŚĞƟĐ�ĚĞƐŝŐŶ�ƚƌĞĂƚŵĞŶƚƐ͘ 

Ψϰ͕ϬϬϬ͕ϬϬϬ 

dĂďůĞ�ϱ-ϱ͘�,ŝŐŚĞƌ�WƌŝŽƌŝƚǇ�WƌŽũĞĐƚƐ�;^ŽƵƚŚĞĂƐƚ�YƵĂĚƌĂŶƚͿ�-��ŽŶƚ͘ 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2

Page 159 of 169



�-�����:LOVRQYLOOH�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�6\VWHP�3ODQ����� 

 &+$37(5����7KH�3URMHFWV 

)එඏඝකඍ��-���+එඏඐඍක�3කඑකඑගඡ�3කඒඍඋගඛ��6ඝගඐඍඉඛග�4ඝඉඌකඉඖග� 

Ord. No. 846 Attachment 2
Page 160 of 169



COUNCIL HEARING

NOVEMBER 2, 2020

WILSONVILLE TRANSPORTATION 
SYSTEM PLAN (TSP) AMENDMENT

Page 161 of 169



WHAT IS A TSP AND WHY DOES IT NEED AN 
AMENDMENT?

• The Transportation System Plan (TSP) is the City’s long-
term policy and planning document for transportation 
improvements 

• Having a TSP in place is essential for the City to compete 
for federal, state, and regional funding for transportation 
projects

• Need to keep current with changes in state and regional 
transportation policy as well as to address rapidly 
changing local conditions

• This TSP amendment is required as part of the Town 
Center Plan.

2

Page 162 of 169



Revised Figure 5-2: Higher Priority Projects 

TOWN CENTER PLAN – PROJECTS

3

RE-15: Park Place Extension 

RE-16: Courtside Drive Extension

UU-11: Park Place Redesign

UU-12: Park Place at Town Center Park Redesign

UU-13: Courtside Drive Upgrades

Page 163 of 169



BW-09a: I-5 Ped/Bike Bridge (RENUMBERED ONLY) 

BW-09b: I-5 Ped/Bike Bridge Gateway Treatments

BW-16: Town Center Loop West Bike Lanes

BW-17: Wilsonville Rd/Rebekah St Enhanced Ped Crossing

BW-18: Park Place Promenade

BW-19a: Cycle Track  Ped/Bike Bridge to Town Center Park

BW-19b: Cycle Track Town Center Loop East

BW-20: West Promenade

TOWN CENTER PLAN – PROJECTS

4

Revised Figure 5-2: Higher Priority Projects 

Page 164 of 169



SI-09: Wilsonville Rd/Town Center Loop W Turn Lane Removal

SI-10: Wilsonville Rd/Park Place New Traffic Signal

SI-11: Wilsonville Rd/Town Center Loop E Dual Left Turn Lanes

TOWN CENTER PLAN – PROJECTS

5

Revised Figure 5-2: Higher Priority Projects 

Page 165 of 169



• Park Place Extension Cross Section (RE – 15)

• Courtside Drive Extension Cross Section (RE - 16)

• Park Place Redesign Cross Section (UU - 11)

• Park Place Redesign at Town Center Park Cross 
Section (UU – 12)

• Courtside Drive Upgrade Cross Section (UU - 13)

• Promenade

TOWN CENTER PLAN – CROSS SECTIONS

6

Cross Section: Courtside Drive Extension 

Cross Section: Promenade

Page 166 of 169



MILESTONES

7

Planning
Commission

Hearing

City 
Council
Hearing

ODOT 
Coordination

Page 167 of 169



RECOMMENDATION

8

The City Staff recommends that the City 
Council vote to adopt the TSP 

amendments as presented in the packet

Page 168 of 169



SCOTT MANSUR, P.E., PTOE
TRANSPORTATION ENGINEER
smm@dksassociates.com
503.391.8773

QUESTIONS?

Page 169 of 169


	Sign
	Cover
	Agenda
	Town Center TSP Amendment Presentation
	Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas Packet
	Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas Staff Report
	Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas - Attachment A
	Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas - Attachment B
	Covid-19 Economic Recovery Strategy Ideas - Attachment C

	Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Packet
	Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Staff Report
	Employment Site Readiness Report for the Coffee Creek Industrial Area Presentation
	Employment Lands�Site Readiness Toolkit�Roadmap �
	Project Purpose
	Project Advisory Team
	Consultant Team
	Toolkit Project
	Consultant Recommendations to City
	City Staff Action �
	Council Action 
	Questions?


	Veterans Day Proclamation
	Rolling Schedule
	Republic Services’ City of Wilsonville 2019 Annual Report 
	4.6.2020 City Council Minutes
	10.5.2020 City Council Minutes
	10.19.2020 City Council Minutes
	City Council Review of DRB Resolution No. 382 Staff Report
	Resolution No. 2859 Packet
	Resolution No. 2859 Staff Report
	Resolution No. 2859
	Resolution No. 2859 Exhibit A

	Ordinance No. 846 Packet
	Ordinance No. 846 Staff Report
	Ordinance No. 846
	Ordinance No. 846 Attachment 2
	Ordinance No. 846 Presentation




